Human Rights Law

Teaching Material

Prepared by:

Demelash Shiferaw, & Yonas Tesfa

Prepared under the Sponsorship of the Justice and Legal System Research Institute

2009

Table of Contents

Chapter One Introduction to human Right Law1 1.1 Nature and Definition of Human Rights1 1.2 Historical Development......2 1.2.1 Pre World War II Developments2 1.3.1 Classification of Human Rights6

Chapter Two

Human Rights Systems: (Substantive Rights, Institutions and Procedures)	21
2.1 The Universal System: The UN System	21
2.1.1 The Legal Framework	21
2.1.2 Reservations and Declarations	42
2.1.2.1 Reservation	43
2.1.2.2 Declarations	44
2.1.3 Restrictions and Derogations	46
2.1.3.1 Restrictions	46
2.1.3.2 Derogations	
2.1.4 Institutions and Procedures	50

Title

2.1.4.1 Treaty Based Mechanisms	51
2.1.4.2 Non-treaty Based (Charter Based) Mechanisms	55
2.2 Regional Human Rights systems	60
2.2.1 The European Human Rights System	60
2.2.2 The Inter-American Human Rights System	
2.2.3 The African Human Rights System	62
2.2.4 The Arab and Asian Human Rights Systems	63

Chapter three

Systems	of Protection for Vulnerable Groups66
3.1 Wo	omen's rights66
3.2 Th	e rights of the child70
3.3	Minority protection regime75
3.4	The rights of indigenous people75
3.5	Protection of disabled persons,79
3.6	Elderly Persons
3.7	Refugees
3.8	Stateless person94
3.9	Migrant workers98
3.10	HIV Positive Persons and AIDS Victims102

Chapter Four

Culture, Globalization and Human Rights	104
Introduction	104
Section one: Culture and Human Rights	

	Section T	vo: Globalization and H	uman Rights		2
--	-----------	-------------------------	-------------	--	---

Chapter five

RESPONSES TO GRAVE VIOLATION OF HUMAN RIGHTS	124
Introduction	124
Section One: National responses -Transitional Justice	125
Section Two: International Responses	132
Reference Materials	138

Chapter One: Introduction to Human Rights Law

1.1 Nature and Definition of Human Rights

Human rights are a special sort of inalienable moral entitlement. They attach to all persons equally, by virtue of their humanity, irrespective of race, nationality, or membership of any particular social group. Human rights belong to an individual as a consequence of being human. The term came into wide use after World War II, replacing the earlier phrase "natural rights," which had been associated with the Greco-Roman concept of <u>natural law</u> since the end of the Middle Ages. As understood today, human rights refer to a wide variety of values and capabilities reflecting the diversity of human circumstances and history. They are conceived of as universal Universality of human rights is controutrsial, applying to all human beings everywhere, and as fundamental, referring to essential or basic human needs.

The concept of human rights is based on the belief that every human being is entitled to enjoy her/his rights without discrimination. Human rights differ from other rights in two respects. Firstly, they are characterised by being:

- Inherent in all human beings by virtue of their humanity alone (they do not have, *e.g.*, to be purchased or to be granted);
- Inalienable (within qualified legal boundaries); and
- Equally applicable to all.

Secondly, the main duties deriving from human rights fall on states and their authorities or agents, not on individuals.

One important implication of these characteristics is that human rights must themselves be protected by law ('the rule of law'). Furthermore, any disputes about these rights should be submitted for adjudication through a competent, impartial and independent tribunal, applying procedures which ensure full equality and fairness to all the parties, and determining the question in accordance with clear, specific and pre-existing laws, known to the public and openly declared.

The idea of basic rights originated from the need to protect the individual against the (arbitrary) use of state power. Attention was therefore initially focused on those rights which oblige governments to refrain from certain actions. Human rights in this category are generally referred to as 'fundamental freedoms'. As human rights are viewed as a precondition for leading a dignified human existence, they serve as a guide and touchstone for legislation.

The specific nature of human rights, as an essential precondition for human development, implies that they can have a bearing on relations both between the individual and the state, and between individuals themselves. The individual-state relationship is known as the 'vertical effect' of human rights vertical location has not elaborated to be clear for the students. While the primary purpose of human rights is to establish rules for relations between the individual and the state, several of these rights can also have implications for relations among individuals. This socalled 'horizontal effect' implies, among other things, that a government not only has an obligation to refrain from violating human rights, but also has a duty to protect the individual from infringements by other individuals. The right to life thus means that the government must strive to protect people against homicide by their fellow human beings.

1.2 Historical Development

1.2.1 Pre World War II Developments

The origins of human rights may be found both in Greek philosophy and the various world religions. In the Age of Enlightenment (18th century) the concept of human rights emerged as an explicit category. Man/woman came to be seen as an autonomous individual, endowed by nature with certain inalienable fundamental rights that could be invoked against a government and should be safeguarded by it. Human rights were henceforth seen as elementary preconditions for an existence worthy of human dignity.

Before this period, several charters codifying rights and freedoms had been drawn up constituting important steps towards the idea of human rights. The first -were the *Magna Charta Libertatum* of 1215, *the Golden Bull* of Hungary (1222), the Danish *Erik Klippings Håndfaestning* of 1282, the *Joyeuse Entrée* of 1356 in Brabant (Brussels), the *Union of Utrecht* of 1579 (The Netherlands) and the English *Bill of Rights* of 1689. These documents specified rights, which could be claimed in the light of particular circumstances (*e.g.* threats to the freedom of religion), but they did not yet contain an all-embracing philosophical concept of individual liberty. Freedoms were often seen as rights conferred upon individuals or groups by virtue of their rank or status.

In the centuries after the Middle Ages, the concept of liberty became gradually separated from status and came to be seen not as a privilege but as a right of all human beings. Spanish theologists and jurists played a prominent role in this context. Among the former, the work of Francisco de Vitoria (1486-1546) and Bartolomé de las Casas (1474-1566) should be highlighted. These two men laid the (doctrinal) foundation for the recognition of freedom and dignity of all humans by defending the personal rights of the indigenous peoples inhabiting the territories colonised by the Spanish Crown.

The Enlightenment was decisive in the development of human rights concepts. The ideas of Hugo Grotius (1583-1645), one of the fathers of modern international law, of Samuel von Pufendorf (1632-1694), and of John Locke (1632-1704) attracted much interest in Europe in the 18th century. Locke, for instance, developed a comprehensive concept of natural rights; his list of rights consisting of life, liberty and property. Jean-Jacques Rousseau (1712-1778) elaborated the concept under which the sovereign derived his powers and the citizens their rights from a social contract. The term human rights appeared for the first time in the French *Déclaration des Droits de l'Homme et du Citoyen* (1789).

The people of the British colonies in North America took the human rights theories to heart. The American Declaration of Independence of 4 July 1776 was based on the assumption that all human beings are equal. It also referred to certain inalienable rights, such as the right to life, liberty and the pursuit of happiness. These ideas were also reflected in the Bill of Rights which

was promulgated by the State of Virginia in the same year. The provisions of the Declaration of Independence were adopted by other American states, but they also found their way into the Bill of Rights of the American Constitution. The French *Déclaration des Droits de l'Homme et du Citoyen* of 1789, as well as the French Declaration of 1793, reflected the emerging international theory of universal rights. Both the American and French Declarations were intended as systematic enumerations of these rights.

The classic rights of the 18th and 19th centuries related to the freedom of the individual. Even at that time, however, some people believed that citizens had a right to demand that the government endeavour to improve their living conditions. Taking into account the principle of equality as contained in the French Declaration of 1789, several constitutions drafted in Europe around 1800 not only contained classic rights, but also included articles which assigned responsibilities to the government in the fields of employment, welfare, public health, and education. Social rights of this kind were also expressly included in the Mexican Constitution of 1917, the Constitution of the Soviet Union of 1918, and the German Constitution of 1919.

In the 19th century, there were frequent inter-state disputes in connection with the protection of the rights of minorities in Europe. These conflicts led to several humanitarian interventions and called for international protection arrangements. One of the first such arrangements was the Treaty of Berlin of 1878.

The need for international standards on human rights was first felt at the end of the 19th century, when the industrial countries began to introduce labour legislation. This legislation, which raised the cost of labour, had the effect of worsening their competitive position in relation to countries that had no labour laws. Economic necessity forced the states to consult each other. It was as a result of this that the first conventions were formulated in which states committed themselves *vis-à-vis* other states in regard to their own citizens. The Bernlin Convention of 1906, which prohibited night-shift work by women can be seen as the first multilateral convention meant to safeguard social rights. Many more labour conventions were later drawn up by the International Labour Organisation (ILO), which as founded in 1919. Remarkable as it may seem, therefore,

while the classic human rights had been acknowledged long before social rights, the latter were first embodied in international regulations.

1.2.3 Post World War II Developments

The atrocities of World War II put an end to the traditional view that states have full liberty to decide the treatment of their own citizens. The signing of the Charter of the United Nations (UN) on 26 June 1945 brought human rights within the sphere of international law. In particular, all UN members agreed to take measures are there really such large number of articles in UN Charter which deals will human rights protection? to protect human rights. The Charter contains a number of articles specifically referring to human rights. Less than two years later, the UN Commission on Human Rights (UNCHR), which was established early in 1946, submitted a draft Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR). The UN General Assembly (UNGA) adopted the Declaration in Paris on 10 December 1948. This day was later designated Human Rights Day.

During the 1950s and 1960s, more and more countries joined the UN. Upon joining the UN, they formally accepted the obligations contained in the UN Charter, and in doing so subscribed to the principles and ideals laid down in the UDHR. This commitment was made explicit in the Proclamation of Teheran (1968), which was adopted during the first World Conference on Human Rights, and repeated in the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action, which was adopted during the Second World Conference on Human Rights (1993).

Since the 1950s, the UDHR has been backed up by a large number of international conventions. The most significant of these conventions are the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR) and the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (ICESCR). These two Covenants, together with the UDHR, form the International Bill of Human Rights. At the same time, many supervisory mechanisms have been created, including those responsible for monitoring compliance with the two Covenants.

Human rights have also been receiving more and more attention at the regional level. For example, in the European, the Inter-American and the African context, standards and supervisory mechanisms have been developed have already had a significant impact on human rights compliance in the respective continents, and promise to contribute to compliance in the future.

1.3 Theories of Human Rights: Justification

The "justification" of a right refers to how we argue for its existence, what philosophical assumptions and theories we use to defend and define the right.

Politicians, states and people do not necessarily use any explicit philosophical theory to support their views, or to explain why they believe in certain laws or basic rights, but they inevitably have some type of theory.

Also, the nature of public policy is compromise and mish-mash. Usually, no one philosophical theory wins out. Instead, policies reflect compromises between different theories.

1.3.2 Classification of Human Rights

The term 'human rights', is used to denote a broad spectrum of rights ranging from the right to life to the right to a cultural identity. They involve all elementary preconditions for a dignified human existence. These rights can be ordered and specified in different ways. At the international level, a distinction has sometimes been made between civil and political rights, on the one hand, and economic, social and cultural rights on the other. This section clarifies this distinction. Since other classifications are also used, these will likewise be reviewed, without claiming, however, that these categorisations reflect an international consensus. It is also clear that the various categorisations overlap to a considerable extent.

Although human rights have been classified in a number of different manners it is important to note that international human rights law stresses that all human rights are universal, indivisible and interrelated (*e.g.* Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action (1993), para. 5). The indivisibility of human rights implies that no right is more important than any other.

i. CLASSIC AND SOCIAL RIGHTS

One classification used is the division between 'classic' and 'social' rights. 'Classic' rights are often seen to require the non-intervention of the state (negative obligation), and 'social rights' as requiring active intervention on the part of the state, Classfying human rights in terms of negative and positive ovligations may have its own defects for a certain right may involve both negative and positive obligations for its effective realization. In other words, classic rights entail an obligation for the state to refrain from certain actions, while social rights oblige it to provide certain guarantees. Lawyers often describe classic rights in terms of a duty to achieve a given result ('obligation of result') and social rights in terms of a duty to provide the means ('obligations of conduct'). The evolution of international law, however, has led to this distinction between 'classic' and 'social' rights has become increasingly awkward. Classic rights, such as civil and political rights, often require considerable investment by the state. The state does not merely have the obligation to respect these rights, but must also guarantee that people can effectively enjoy them. Hence, the right to a fair trial, for instance, requires well-trained judges, prosecutors, lawyers and police officers, as well as administrative support. Another example is the organisation of elections, which also entails high costs.

On the other hand, most 'social' rights contain elements that require the state to abstain from interfering with the individual's exercise of the right. As several commentators note, the right to food includes the right for everyone to procure their own food supply without interference; the right to housing implies the right not to be a victim of forced eviction; the right to work

encompasses the individual's right to choose his/her own work and also requires the state not to hinder a person from working and to abstain from measures that would increase unemployment; the right to education implies the freedom to establish and direct educational establishments; and the right to the highest attainable standard of health implies the obligation not to interfere with the provision of health care.

In sum, the differentiation of 'classic' rights from 'social' rights does not reflect the nature of the obligations under each set of rights.

ii. CIVIL, POLITICAL, ECONOMIC, SOCIAL AND CULTURAL RIGHTS *Civil rights*

The term 'civil rights' is often used with reference to the rights set out in the first eighteen articles of the UDHR, almost all of which are also set out as binding treaty norms in the ICCPR. From this group, a further set of 'physical integrity rights' has been identified, which concern the right to life, liberty and security of the person, and which offer protection from physical violence against the person, torture and inhuman treatment, arbitrary arrest, detention, exile, slavery and servitude, interference with one's privacy and right of ownership, restriction of one's freedom of movement, and the freedom of thought, conscience and religion.

The difference between 'basic rights' (see below) and 'physical integrity rights' lies in the fact that the former include economic and social rights, but do not include rights such as protection of privacy and ownership.

Although not strictly an integrity right, the right to equal treatment and protection in law certainly qualifies as a civil right. Moreover, this right plays an essential role in the realisation of economic, social and cultural rights.

Another group of civil rights is referred to under the collective term 'due process rights'. These pertain, among other things, to the right to a public hearing by an independent and impartial

tribunal, the 'presumption of innocence', the *ne bis in idem* principle and legal assistance (see, *e.g.*, Articles 9, 10, 14 and 15 of the ICCPR).

Political rights

In general, political rights are those set out in Articles 19 to 21 of the UDHR and also codified in the ICCPR. They include freedom of expression, freedom of association and assembly, the right to take part in the government of one's country, and the right to vote and stand for election at genuine periodic elections held by secret ballot (see Articles 18, 19, 21, 22 and 25 of the ICCPR).

Economic and social rights

The economic and social rights are listed in Articles 22 to 26 of the UDHR, and further developed and set out as binding treaty norms in the ICESCR. These rights provide the conditions necessary for prosperity and wellbeing. Economic rights refer, for example, to the right to property, the right to work, which one freely chooses or accepts, the right to a fair wage, a reasonable limitation of working hours, and trade union rights. Social rights are those rights necessary for an adequate standard of living, including rights to health, shelter, food, social care, and the right to education (Articles 6 to 14 of the ICESCR).

Cultural rights

The UDHR lists cultural rights in Articles 27 and 28. These include the right to participate freely in the cultural life of the community, to share in scientific advancement, and the right to the protection of the moral and material interests resulting from any scientific, literary or artistic production of which one is the author (see also Article 15 of the ICESCR and Article 27 of the ICCPR).

• The alleged dichotomy between civil and political rights, and economic, social and cultural rights

Traditionally, it has been argued that there are fundamental differences between economic, social and cultural rights, and civil and political rights. These two categories of rights have been seen as two different concepts and their differences have been characterised as a dichotomy. According

to this view, civil and political rights are considered to be expressed in a very precise language, imposing merely negative obligations which do not require resources for their implementation, and which, therefore, can be applied immediately. On the other hand, economic, social and cultural rights are considered to be expressed in vague terms, imposing only positive obligations conditional on the existence of resources and therefore involving a progressive realisation.

As a consequence of these alleged differences, it has been argued that civil and political rights are justiciable whereas economic, social and cultural rights are not. In other words, this view holds that only violations of civil and political rights can be adjudicated by judicial or similar bodies, while, economic, social and cultural rights are 'by their nature' non-justiciable.

Over the years, economic, social and cultural rights have been re-examined and their juridical validity and applicability have been increasingly stressed. During the last decade, we have witnessed the development of a large and growing body of case-law of domestic courts concerning economic, social and cultural rights. This case-law, at the national and international level, suggests a potential role for creative and sensitive decisions of judicial and quasi-judicial bodies with respect to these rights.

iii. FUNDAMENTAL AND BASIC RIGHTS

Fundamental rights are taken to mean such rights as the right to life and the inviolability of the person. Within the UN, extensive standards have been developed which, particularly since the 1960s, have been laid down in numerous conventions, declarations and resolutions, and which bring already recognised rights and matters of policy which affect human development into the sphere of human rights. Due to the concern that a broad definition of human rights may lead to the notion of 'violation of human rights' losing some of its significance has generated a need to distinguish a separate group within the broad category of human rights. Increasingly, the terms 'elementary', 'essential', 'core' and 'fundamental' human rights are being used.

Another approach is to distinguish a number of 'basic rights', which should be given absolute priority in national and international policy. These include all the rights which concern people's primary material and non-material needs. If these are not provided, no human being can lead a dignified existence. Basic rights include the right to life, the right to a minimum level of security, the inviolability of the person, freedom from slavery and servitude, and freedom from torture,

unlawful deprivation of liberty, discrimination and other acts which impinge on human dignity. They also include freedom of thought, conscience and religion, as well as the right to suitable nutrition, clothing, shelter and medical care, and other essentials crucial to physical and mental health.

Mention should also be made of so-called 'participation rights'. For instance, the right to participate in public life through elections (which is also a political right; see above) or to take part in cultural life. These participation rights are generally considered to belong to the category of fundamental rights, being essential preconditions for the protection of all kinds of basic human rights.

iv. OTHER CLASSIFICATIONS

Freedoms

Preconditions for a dignified human existence have often been described in terms of freedoms (*e.g.*, freedom of movement, freedom from torture, and freedom from arbitrary arrest). United States President, Franklin D. Roosevelt, summarised these preconditions in his famous 'Four Freedoms Speech' to the United States Congress on 26 January 1941:

- Freedom of speech and expression;
- Freedom of belief (the right of every person to worship God in his own way);
- Freedom from want (economic understandings which will secure to every nation a healthy peace-time life for its inhabitants); and
- Freedom from fear (world-wide reduction of armaments to such a point and in such a thorough fashion that no nation would be able to commit an act of physical aggression against any neighbour). Roosevelt implied that a dignified human existence requires not only protection from oppression and arbitrariness, but also access to the primary necessities of life.

Civil liberties

The concept of 'civil liberties' is commonly known, particularly in the United States, where the American Civil Liberties Union (a non-governmental organisation) has been active since the

1920s. Civil liberties refer primarily to those human rights which are laid down in the United States Constitution: freedom of religion, freedom of the press, freedom of expression, freedom of association and assembly, protection against interference with one's privacy, protection against torture, the right to a fair trial, All the rights of workers. This classification does not correspond to the distinction between civil and political rights.

Individual and collective rights

Although the fundamental purpose of human rights is the protection and development of the individual (individual rights), some of these rights are exercised by people in groups (collective rights). Freedom of association and assembly, freedom of religion and, more especially, the freedom to form or join a trade union, fall into this category. The collective element is even more evident when human rights are linked specifically to a membership of a certain group, such as the right of members of ethnic and cultural minorities to preserve their own language and culture. One must make a distinction between two types of rights, which are usually called collective rights: individual rights enjoyed in association with others, and the rights of a collective.

The most notable example of a collective human right is the right to selfdetermination, which is regarded as being vested in peoples rather than in individuals (see Articles 1 of the ICCPR and ICESCR). The recognition of the right to self-determination as a human right is grounded in the fact that it is seen as a necessary precondition for the development of the individual. It is generally accepted that collective rights may not infringe an universally accepted individual rights, such as the right to life and freedom from torture.

First, second and third generation rights

The division of human rights into three generations was first proposed by Karel Vasak at the International Institute of Human Rights in Strasbourg. His division follows the principles of *Liberté*, *Égalité* and *Fraternité* of the French Revolution.

First generation rights are related to liberty and refer fundamentally to civil and political rights. The second generation rights are related to equality, including economic, social and cultural rights. Third generation or 'solidarity rights' cover group and collective rights, which include, *inter alia*, the right to development, the right to peace and the right to a clean environment. The only third generation right which so far has been given an official human rights status - apart from the right to self-determination, which is of longer standing - is the right to development (see the Declaration on the Right to Development, adopted by the UNGA on 4 December 1986, and the 1993 Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action (Paragraph I, 10)). The Vienna Declaration confirms the right to development as a collective as well as an individual right, individuals being regarded as the primary subjects of development. Recently, the right to development has been given considerable attention in the activities of the High Commissioner for Human Rights. The EU and its member states also explicitly accept the right to development as part of the human rights concept.

While the classification of rights into 'generations' has the virtue of incorporating communal and collective rights, thereby overcoming the individualist moral theory in which human rights are grounded, it has been criticised for not being historically accurate and for establishing a sharp distinction between all human rights. It would be more interesting if how hte concepts of generations of tights is at adds with the Tehran Proclummation or the UDPA was described or explained.

1.4 Sources of Human Rights Law

Since time immemorial, states and peoples have entered into formal relationships with each other. Over the ages, traditions have developed on how such relationships are conducted. These are the traditions that make up modern 'international law'. Like domestic law, international law covers a wide range of subjects such as security, diplomatic relations, trade, culture and human rights, but it differs from domestic legal systems in a number of important ways. In international law there is no single legislature, nor is there a single enforcing institution. Consequently, international law can only be established with the consent of states and is primarily dependent on self-enforcement by the same states. In cases of non-compliance there is no supra-national

institution; enforcement can only take place by means of individual or collective actions of other states.

This consent, from which the rules of international law are derived, may be expressed in various ways. The obvious mode is an explicit treaty, imposing obligations on the states parties. Such 'treaty law' constitutes a dominant part of modern international law. Besides treaties, other documents and agreements serve as guidelines for the behaviour of states, although they may not be legally binding. Consent may also be inferred from established and consistent practice of states in conducting their relationships with each other. The sources of international law are many and states commit to them to different degrees. The internationally accepted classification of sources of international law is formulated in Article 38 of the Statute of the International Court of Justice. Forming one of the regimes of international law, human rights law has the same source with the former.

a) International conventions, whether general or particular;b) International custom, as evidence of general practice accepted as law;c) The general principles of law recognised by civilised nations;d) Subsidiary means for the determination of rules of law such as judicial decisions and teachings of the most highly qualified publicists.These sources will be analysed below.

A. International Conventions

International treaties are contracts signed between states. They are legally binding and impose mutual obligations on the states that are party to any particular treaty (states parties). The main particularity of human rights treaties is that they impose obligations on states about the manner in which they treat all individuals within their jurisdiction.

Even though the sources of international law are not hierarchical, treaties have some degree of primacy. Nowadays, more than forty major international conventions for the protection of human rights have been adopted. International human rights treaties bear various titles, including

'covenant', 'convention' and 'protocol'; but what they have in commone are the explicit indication of states parties to be bound by their terms.

Human rights treaties have been adopted at the universal level (within the framework of the United Nations and its specialised agencies, for instance, the ILO and UNESCO) as well as under the auspices of regional organisations, such as the Council of Europe (CoE), the Organisation of American States (OAS) and the African Union (AU) (formerly the Organisation of African Unity (OAU)). These organisations have greatly contributed to the codification of a comprehensive and consistent body of human rights law.

i. UNIVERSAL CONVENTIONS FOR THE PROTECTION OF HUMAN RIGHTS

Human rights had already found expression in the Covenant of the League of Nations, which led, *inter alia*, to the creation of the International Labour Organisation. At the San Francisco Conference in 1945, held to draft the Charter of the United Nations, a proposal to adopt a 'Declaration on the Essential Rights of Man' was put forward but was not examined because it required more detailed consideration than was possible at the time. Nonetheless, the UN Charter clearly speaks of 'promoting and encouraging respect for human rights and for fundamental freedoms for all without distinction as to race, sex, language or religion' (Article 1, para. 3). The idea of promulgating an 'international bill of rights' was developed immediately afterwards and led to the adoption in 1948 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR).

The UDHR, adopted by a resolution of the United Nations General Assembly (UNGA), although not a treaty, is the earliest comprehensive human rights instrument adopted by the international community. On the same may that it adopted the Universal Declaration, the UNGA requested the UN Commission on Human Rights to prepare, as a matter of priority, a legally binding human rights convention. Wide differences in economic and social philosophies hampered efforts to achieve agreement on a single instrument, but in 1954 two draft conventions were completed and submitted to the UNGA for consideration. Twelve years later, in 1966, the International Covenant on Economic, Social 21 and Cultural Rights (ICESCR) and the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR) were adopted, as well as the First Optional Protocol to the ICCPR, which established an individual complaints procedure. Both Covenants and the Optional Protocol entered into force in 1976. A Second Optional Protocol to the ICCPR, on the abolition of the death penalty, was adopted in 1989 and entered into force in 1991.

The 'International Bill of Human Rights' consists of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the ICESCR, and the ICCPR and its two Optional Protocols. The International Bill of Rights is the basis for numerous conventions and national constitutions.

Besides the International Bill of Human Rights, a number of other instruments have been adopted under the auspices of the UN and other international agencies. They may be divided into three groups:

a) Conventions elaborating on certain rights, *inter alia*:

- The Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide (1948)
- ILO 98 concerning the Right to Organise and to Bargain Collectively (1949)
- The Convention Against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment (1984)

b) Conventions dealing with certain categories of persons who may need special protection, *inter alia:*

- The Convention relating to the Status of Refugees (1951), and the 1967 Protocol thereto
- The Convention on the Rights of the Child (1989)
- Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Rights of the Child on the involvement of children in armed conflicts (2000)
- Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Rights of the Child on the sale of children, child prostitution and child pornography (2000)
- ILO 169 concerning Indigenous and Tribal Peoples in Independent Countries (1989)
- The International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families (2000)

c) Conventions seeking to eliminate discrimination

- ILO 111 concerning Discrimination in respect of Employment and Occupation (1958)
- UNESCO Convention against Discrimination in Education (1960)

- The International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination (1965)
- International Convention on the Suppression and Punishment of the Crime of Apartheid (1973)
- The Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women (1979) and its Optional Protocol (2000)

ii. REGIONAL CONVENTIONS FOR THE PROTECTION OF HUMAN RIGHTS

The UN Charter encourages the adoption of regional instruments for the establishment of human rights obligations, many of which have been of crucial importance for the development of international human rights law. The Council of Europe adopted in 1950 the European Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms, supplemented by the European Social Charter in 1961, the European Convention for the Prevention of Torture and Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment in 1987, and the Framework Convention on National Minorities in 1994.

The American Convention on Human Rights was adopted in 1969, under the auspices of the Organisation of American States. This Convention has been complemented by two protocols, the 1988 Protocol of San Salvador on Economic, Social, and Cultural Rights and the 1990 Protocol to Abolish the Death Penalty. Other Inter-American Conventions include the Convention to Prevent and Punish Torture (1985), the Convention on the Forced Disappearances of Persons (1994), and the Convention on the Prevention, Punishment and Eradication of Violence against Women (1995).

In 1981, the Organisation of African Unity, now the African Union, adopted the African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights. Two protocols to the Charter have been adopted: the Additional Protocol on the Establishment of the African Court on Human and Peoples' Rights (1998), and the Protocol on the Rights of Women in Africa (2003). Other African instruments include the

Convention Governing the Specific Aspects of Refugee Problems in Africa (1969), and the African Charter on the Rights and Welfare of the Child (1990).

B. International custom

Customary international law plays a crucial role in international human rights law. The Statute of the International Court of Justice refers to 'general practice accepted as law'. In order to become international customary law, the 'general practice' needs to represent a broad consensus in terms of content and applicability, deriving from a sense that the practice is obligatory (*opinio juris et necessitatis*). Customary law is binding on all states (except those that may have objected to it during its formation), whether or not they have ratified any relevant treaty.

One of the important features of customary international law is that customary law may, under certain circumstances, lead to universal jurisdiction or application, so that any national court may hear extra-territorial claims brought under international law. In addition, there also exists a class of customary international law, *jus cogens*, or peremptory norms of general international law, which are norms accepted and recognised by the international community of states as a whole as norms from which no derogation is permitted. Under the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties (VCLT) any treaty which conflicts with a peremptory norm is void.

Many scholars argue that some standards laid down in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights (which in formal terms is only a resolution of the UNGA and as such not legally binding) have become part of customary international law as a result of subsequent practice; therefore they would be binding upon all states. Within the realm of human rights law the distinction between concepts of customary law, treaty law, and general principles of law are often unclear.

The Human Rights Committee in its General Comment 24 (1994) has summed up the rights which can be assumed to belong to this part of international law which is binding on all states, irrespective of whether they have ratified relevant conventions, and to which no reservations are allowed:

[A] State may not reserve the right to engage in slavery, to torture, to subject persons to cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment, to arbitrarily deprive persons of their lives, to arbitrarily arrest and detain persons, to deny freedom of thought, conscience and religion, to presume a person guilty unless he proves his innocence, to execute pregnant women and children, to permit the advocacy of national, racial or religious hatred, to deny to persons of marriageable age the right to marry, or to deny to minorities the right to enjoy their own culture, profess their own religion, or use their own language. And [...] the right to a fair trial [...].

Although this list is subject to debate and could possibly be extended with other rights not in the field of civil and political rights (for instance, genocide and large parts of the Four Geneva Conventions on International Humanitarian Law), the Committee underlines that there is a set of human rights which *de jure* are beyond the (politically oriented) debate on the universality of human rights.

C. General principles of law

In the application of both national and international law, general or guiding principles are used. In international law, they have been defined as 'logical propositions resulting from judicial reasoning on the basis of existing pieces of international law'. At the international level, general principles of law occupy an important place in case-law regarding human rights. A clear example is the principle of proportionality, which is important for human rights supervisory mechanisms in assessing whether interference with a human right may be justified. Why are general principles used? No legislation is able to provide answers to every question and to every possible situation that arises. Therefore, rules of law or principles that enable decision-makers and members of the executive and judicial branches to decide on the issues before them are needed.

General principles of law play two important roles: on the one hand, they provide guidelines for judges, in particular, in deciding in individual cases; on the other hand, they limit the discretionary power of judges and of members of the executive in their decisions in individual cases.

D. Subsidiary means for the determination of rules of law

According to Article 38 of the Statute of the International Court of Justice, *judicial decisions and the teachings of the most qualified publicists* are 'subsidiary means for the determination of rules of law'. Therefore, they are not, strictly speaking, formal sources, but they are regarded as evidence of the state of the law. As for the judicial decisions, Article 38 of the Statute of the International Court is not confined to international decisions (such as the judgements of the International Court of Justice, the Inter-American Court, the European Court and the future African Court on Human Rights); decisions of national tribunals relating to human rights are also subsidiary sources of law. The writings of scholars contribute to the development and analysis of human rights law. Compared to the formal standard setting of international organs the impact is indirect. Nevertheless, influential contributions have been made by scholars and experts working in human rights, as well as by highly regarded NGOs, such as Amnesty International and the International Commission of Jurists.

Chapter Two: Human Rights Systems : (Substantive Rights, Institutions and Procedures)

2.1 The Universal System: The UN System

2.1.1 The Legal Framework

A. The UN Charter

Adopted on 26 June 1945, the United Nations Charter was designed to establish the foundations of a new peaceful world order. Drawing lessons from the appalling atrocities of the Second World War, the Charter's primary aim was thus to save succeeding generation from the scourge of war (preamble, paragraph 2) and to ensure the maintenance of international peace and security. Within such broad and ambitious objectives, a respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms found its significant though ambivalent reflection. The Charter has demonstrated not only a move towards the lasting and stable internationalization of human rights but it has also implied their contribution to ensuring the establishment of the peaceful, post-war world order.

Under the Dumbarton Oaks proposals for the United Nations of 1944, the four powers intended to have rather a general reference to human rights. Finally, during the San Francisco Conference, more extensive references to human rights were included in the Charter, albeit this compromise was achieved at the expense of less imperative formulations. Finally, the Charter refers to human rights in altogether seven provisions of diversified content and character (Paragraph 3 of the preamble, Article 1(3), Articles 55 and 56, Article 76(C), Article 13(1)(b), Article 62(2) and (3), and Article 68).

As reflected in the preamble to the Charter, the United Nations were guided, among others, by the motive to reaffirm faith in fundamental human rights, in the dignity and worth of the human person, in the equal rights of men and women and of nations large and small (preambular paragraph 3). Having declared their lofty motives, the United Nations granted respect for human rights the status of one of the fundamental purposes of the organization. The Charter sets out that the purpose of the United Nations will be, inter alia, to achieve international cooperation also in promoting and encouraging respect for human rights and for fundamental freedoms for all with out distinction as to race, sex, language, or religion (Article 1(3)).

More specific rules of conduct aimed at the accomplishment of these tasks are contained in three sets of provisions of the Charter: on international economic and social cooperation (Articles 55 and 56), on the international trusteeship system (Article 76(c) and on the functions and powers of the UN organs in this sphere (Article 13(1)(b), Article 62(2) and (3), and Article 68).

Of particular consequence is the first set of human rights provisions which relates to international economic and social cooperation laid down in Chapter IX of the Charter. Its Article 55 sets forth that with a view to the creation of conditions of stability and well-being which are necessary for peaceful and friendly relations among nations based on respect for the principle of equal rights and self-determination of peoples, the United Nations shall promote, inter alia, universal respect for, and observance of human rights and fundamental freedoms for all without distinction as to race, sex, language, or religion (Article 55(c)). As a direct extension these provisions, Article 56 provides that all

Members pledge themselves to take joint and separate action in cooperation with the Organization for the achievement of the proposes set fourth in Article 55.

As far as the second set of provisions is concerned, it was provided that one of the basic objectives of the international trusteeship system (Chapter of the Charter) will also be to encourage respect for human rights and for fundamental freedoms for all without distinction as to race, sex, language, or religion, and to encourage recognition of the interdependence of the people of the world (Article 76 (c))

With in the third set of provisions, the Charter translated its objectives and role in the field of human rights into the functions and powers of number of UN organs. Thus, the General Assembly was assigned the tasks of initiating studies and making recommendations for the purpose, inter alia, of promoting international cooperation in the economic, social, cultural, educational, and health fields, and assisting in the realization of human rights and fundamental freedoms for all without distinction as to race, sex, language, or religion (Article 13(b).

Another principal organ of the United Nations, the Economic and Social Council, was entrusted in Article 62 with a function to make recommendations for the purposes of promoting respect for, and observance of, human rights and fundamental freedoms for all (paragraph 2) and to prepare draft conventions for submission to the General Assembly, with respect to matters falling within its competence) paragraph 3). For organizational purposes, Article 68 provides that [T]he Economic and Social Council shall set up commissions in economic and social fields and for the promotion of human rights, and such other commissions as may be required for the performance of its functions.

It may be concluded that both the number and the scope of human rights provisions in the UN Charter is prima facie quite impressive in itself. This becomes particularly evident when the UN Charters is contrasted with its predecessor, the Covenant of the League of Nations, which was entirely silent on human rights issues. However, as a reflection of the compromise reached at the San Francisco Conference in 1945, the human rights clauses of the Charter show signs of ambivalence and vagueness. In order to properly appreciate the legal character and significance of the UN Charter Human Rights Provisions please read the following extract from.

Although both in the Preamble and in Article 1(3) the Charter sets out nothing but the pious intentions and purposes of the United Nations in the field of human rights, it nevertheless translated these general statements of a common intention into several specific obligations set forth in its operative part. Thus there is nothing in these provisions, particularly in the Preamble, that would add to or subtract from the operative provisions of the main text of the Charter.

It is significant in itself, however, that the Charter conferred on human rights the rank of not an ad hoc, but of a long-term and constant objective of the United Nations. Thus the Charter assumes in essence a permanent and dynamic attitude on the part of the United Nations, both the organization and its members, towards respect for human rights. This conclusion may directly be inferred from the content and nature of all seven human rights provisions. In particular, it is confirmed by the mandatory wording of Article 13(1) (initiating studies and making recommendations by the General Assembly), Article 55 in conjunction with Article 56 (action for international cooperation) and Article 68 (explicit mention of setting up a commission) in the field of human rights.

One of the innovative approaches reflected in the human rights provisions of the Charter is their formulation in an interdependent context as one prerequisite for ensuring international peace and security, friendly relations among nations, welfare of peoples and other socioeconomic objectives. Human rights were thus placed against a broader background of political, economic and social aspects. This linkage is most clearly envisaged in Articles 55 and 56. Although the very relationship between peace, development and human rights is not entirely a new concept, it lifts this interdependence to the level of the organization's primary purposes. In other words, obligations of international cooperation for the achievement of these values and purposes created a normative framework and potentials for further joint and separate actions by the United Nations and their Members. Human rights clauses in the Carter exhibit also clear signs of weakness and vagueness both politically and legally. Irrespective of its lofty statements, the Charter has not adequately addressed the problem of colonialism. The whole arrangement concerning a trusteeship system and human rights (Article 76) was nothing but a reflection of the then colonial powers double standards. The international community learned much about the inhumanity of Nazism and Communism, but at the same time accepted colonialism as another malaise and enemy of human rights based on a respect for inalienable and inherent human dignity.

In assessing the seven human rights provisions of the Charter one should also point to certain weaknesses in their legal character. While the Charter refers throughout its text to the concept of human rights and fundamental freedoms, their definition is missing, nor does the Charter make any mention of the machinery to be used to secure their observance. This weakness appears, however, to be of significance since the drafters of the Charter were well aware from their domestic constitutional and political background what the terms human rights and fundamental freedoms had meant in at least their commonsensical meanings. In addition, one may reasonably question the very indispensability of elaborating such a definition. The real problem that remains is thus not the general and descriptive definition of human rights and fundamental freedoms as such, but rather defining their extent, the identification of their precise content and their defining their extent, the identification of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the International Covenants and other instruments, including the establishment of conventional and extra-conventional monitoring procedures.

Furthermore, while there should be no doubt that all these provisions of the Charter, whatever their wording, are legally binding treaty provisions, their imperative and binding force is diverse in nature. In the human rights clauses of the UN Charter there is a somewhat general, cautious and open-ended manner in the way they were drafted. It is no coincidence that one encounters referenced in the Charter to such terms as promoting, encouraging and assisting in the realization of, instead of tougher terms like protecting, maintaining, safeguarding or guaranteeing human rights and fundamental freedoms.

Furthermore, a deliberate resort to these open-ended terms was coupled with attributing no power functions to such organs as the General Assembly or the Economic and Social Council, which shall initiate studies and may make recommendations (see Articles 13 and 62). During the San Francisco Conference proposals that the Charter should assure not only promotion and observance, but also protection of human rights, was defeated because some delegations believed that such language would have inappropriately raised expectations in relation to the United Nations action on specific human rights problems.

There is actually no doubt that the factor which mostly determined the open-ended formulation of human rights clauses was the prohibition, contained in Article 2(7), of intervention by the United Nations in matters which are essentially within the domestic jurisdiction of States. On the other hand, however, already in 1945 this principle was construed in terms of a prohibition against exerting direct pressure through force or the threat of force. Thus the very discussion, study, enquiry or making recommendations on human rights problems does not constitute an intervention in the sense of Article 2(7). Although this interpretation was challenged for decades by predominantly autocratic regimes, it finally gained ground and is virtually universally recognized nowadays. (But its legal basis is still controversial)

All in all, these developments help to explain and clarify why among the seven principles enshrined in Article 2 it is not possible to identify an explicit formulation of the principle of international respect for human rights, while the principle of the prohibition of interference in the internal affairs of States eventually prevailed. It is nevertheless possible to submit that a series of detailed provisions in the Charter argues for the recognition of the international respect for human rights as a key principle of the United Nations. The experience of the United Nations has shown that harmonization of Article 2(7) and the human rights clauses of the Charter have proved to be feasible.

Notwithstanding the apparent weaknesses of human rights clauses in the UN Charter and their largely 'lex imperfecta' character, one should not overlook the fact that they remain binding international legal obligations for all the member of the international community.

B. The UDHR

The adoption of declaration of the human rights was envisaged as the very first item on the United Nations agenda within the proramme of the International Bill of Human Rights. The task of preparing a declaration was given to the Commission on Human Rights which started its work in 1947 and established for that purpose a drafting committee of eight members chaired by Mrs. Eleanor Roosevelt. In 1948 the Commission adopted the draft Declaration and submitted it through the Economic and Social Council to the General Assembly. After lengthy discussions at the General Assembly and its Third Committee, the Declaration was adopted on 10 December 1948 during the third session of the Assembly at the Chaillot Palace in Paris. The Declaration was adopted by forty-eight votes in favor, none against and eight abstentions (Byelorussia, Czechoslovakia, Poland, Saudi Arabia, South Africa, Ukraine, USSR and Yugoslavia). Altogether the Declaration was drafted and eventually adopted within two years. This unquestionable success might not have been achieved in subsequent years due to increasing Cold War tensions between East and West which detrimentally affected the work of the United Nations in human rights and other fields.

The Universal Declaration was adopted through Resolution 217(III) which contained five parts: Part A, the text of the Declaration as such; Part B, Right of Petition; Part C, Fate of Minorities; Part D, Publicity to be Given to the Universal Declaration of Human Rights; and Part E, preparation of a Draft Covenant on Human Rights and Draft Measures of Implementation. Contained in part A of Resolution 217(III), the Universal Declaration is made up of the Preamble and 30 articles which comprise its operative part. Typically for international instruments, the Preamble spells out the philosophy, motives and purposes which guided the drafters of the Universal Declaration.

The Preamble to the Declaration is significant for several reasons. Its fundamental message lies in the statement that recognition of the inherent dignity and of the equal and inalienable rights of all members of the human family is the foundation of freedom, justice and peace in the world (Paragraph 1). The Preamble thus refers to the concepts of inherent human dignity and the inalienable nature of human rights as the philosophical sources of the Declaration and inspirations for further development of human rights. Although such a formulation is often characterized as reflection of Western liberalism, nonetheless these concepts are discernible in all human cultures of the world. It is thus particularly

significant that the Preamble calls for inter-cultural consensus by indicating that a common understanding of these rights and freedoms is of the greatest importance for the full realization of the pledge of Members of the United Nations to achieve the promotion of universal respect for and observance of human rights and fundamental freedoms (paragraphs 6 and 7).

The Preamble also reflects its pre-1945 roots by pointing out that disregard and contempt for human rights have resulted in barbarous acts which have outraged the conscience of mankind. Against this background the Universal Declaration announces the advent of a world in which human beings shall enjoy freedom of speech belief and freedom from fear and want has been proclaimed as the highest aspiration of the common people (paragraph 2). The latter provisions reflect explicitly the Four Freedoms Message to the US Congress by Franklin D. Roosevelt in January 1941.

These significant statements are further accompanied by a unique formulation that it is essential, if man is not to be compelled to have recourse, as a last resort, to rebellion against tyranny and oppression, that human rights should be protected by the rule of law. It is not so much the functional link between rights and the rule of law that is innovative here, but rather the confirmation by the Declaration of the customary right of people to resist oppressive governance (paragraph 3).

Another important element of the Preamble is the recognition, in its final paragraph, of the rights and freedoms contained in the Declaration as a common standard of achievement for all peoples and nations. This common standard (in French, L'Oreal common) seems to presuppose both a common ideal and a normative reference system for the new international order.

The operative part of the Declaration can be divided into three groups of provisions. The first group (Article 1) contains an affirmation of the philosophical foundations of human rights by saying that [A] 11 human beings are born free and equal in dignity and rights. They are endowed with reason and conscience and should act towards one another in a spirit of brotherhood. Although the significance of this provision cannot be underestimated, it is not formulated in classic legal language. In spite of

proposals to have it transferred to the Preamble, it was retained as the opening of the operative part of the Declaration.

The second group of provisions proclaims a number of general principles. One is the principle of equality and non-discrimination (Article 2), the principle that plays a fundamental role in the whole of human rights law. The second principle relates to the concept of the duties of States in the form of the right of everyone to a social and international order in which the rights and freedoms set forth in the Declaration can be fully realized (Article 28).

The third principle spells out a concept of the duties of everyone to the community (Article 29(1)) and permissible limitations in the exercise of the human rights and freedoms (Article 29(2)). And the fourth principle provides for the prohibition of activates by any State, group or person aimed at the destruction of the rights and freedoms set fourth in the Declaration (Article 30).

As far as substantive rights are concerned, the Declaration contains in Articles 3 to 27 the fundamental civil and political rights and freedoms, as well as economic, social and cultural rights. The catalogue of rights and freedoms of the first generation includes virtually all the fundamental civil and political rights and freedoms (Articles 3 to 21). Among these the following were included: the right to life, liberty and security, freedom from slavery and servitude, freedom from torture and inhuman treatment or punishment, the right to recognition as a person before the law; freedom from arbitrary arrest, detention or exile, the right to equal protection of the law, the right to an effective remedy; the right to a fair trial, the right to privacy, freedom of movement and residence, the right to nationality, freedom of thought, conscience and religion, freedom of opinion and expression, freedom of assembly and association, the right to property, the right to participate in the government of one's country, and others.

Less extensive is the catalogue of economic, social and cultural rights (Articles 22 to 27). This contains the right to social security, the right to work, the right to rest and leisure, the right to an adequate standard of living, the right to education, and the right to participate in the cultural life.

This very modest list of socioeconomic rights was a consequence of strong controversies about their legal character. Nonetheless, the very incorporation of economic, social and cultural rights to the Universal Declaration has been a substantial innovation in modern international law of human rights.

All in all, the adoption and content of the Universal Declaration has been a great success. The Celebration constitutes the first internationally adopted catalogue, and in this sense, definition of human rights. From the perspective of the normative maturity of formulations of human rights, it may be submitted that the Universal Declaration is one of the best legal instruments on human rights ever adopted.

The reading of the following extract will be of a great help in understaning the legal and poitical status and significance of the UDHR.

The Universal Declaration of Human Rights was deliberately adopted under guise of a resolution of the UN General Assembly and not that of an international treaty subject to a formal ratification procedure in Member States. There are, however, ongoing discussions among legal scholars as to whether the Declaration has, over the years, become a legally binding instrument. Proponents of the binding character of the Declaration argue for its status as a customary law. Opponents of such a view submit that the establishment of a customary international legal rule requires the existence of general, uniform and consistent practice by States followed by the mergence of an opino iuris that is of a conviction or belief by States in the obligatory character of such a practice.

With these requires in mind it may be claimed that the practice of world-wide violations of human rights before and after 1948 fails to satisfy the condition on general, uniform and consistent practice by States. Some scholars submit that the binding customary nature of the Declaration stems from the absence of opposition to its principles by States as reflected in their constitutions and official government statements. There is some logic in this argument but for a formation of a custom the decisive factor is the actual practice and not lofty statements by governments, often colored with hypocrisy. Thus what matters is the deeds, and not the words of governments? It may cautiously be concluded that these endless disputes are, to a large extent, futile scholarly exercises since the Declaration itself has proved its fundamental importance without necessarily being recognized as a part of customary international law.

By the adoption of the Universal Declaration, Members of the United Nations have made a political commitment to implement the rights contained therein. The legal and political significance of the Universal Declaration may be illustrated by several development and tangible achievements. As a universally accepted normative reference system, the Declaration permeated domestic legal systems of numerous States by the incorporation of its provisions into national constitutions and other legislative instruments. In several newly independent States (e.g. In Africa), the Universal Declaration was included as a whole or in extensive parts in their constitutions. In the constituents of several new European democracies (e.g. Spain and Romania), there are explicit references to the Declaration as a reference system. It has similarly become a reference for domestic courts in developing their case law on human rights issues. No less significant is the resort to the content of the Declaration by non-governmental actors. The domestic impact of the Declaration has thus been much wider than might have been expected of a non –binding instrument.

On the international level, the Declaration has established the very first international catalogue of human rights as a common standard of achievement for all peoples and all nations. This model catalogue may thus be said to play also the role of the first definition of human rights, the definition which is missing from the UN Charter. The legal and political significance of such a function of the Declaration has further been strengthened by its adoption by the General Assembly of the United Nations. Consequently, the definition and catalog of human rights in the Declaration may safely be regarded as a quasi-authentic interpretation of the human rights provisions of the UN Charter. The universal message reflected in the Declaration is further strengthened by the fact that some of its provisions constitute general principles of law or represent elementary considerations of humanity.

Another important aspect in the adoption of the Universal Declaration has been the establishment of the basis for further international law-making in the field of human rights. This contribution has gone well beyond the program of the International Bill of Human Rights. In addition to the adoption of both the International Covenants on Human Rights in 1966, the Universal Declaration exerted a profound impact on the content and scope of other human rights instruments organizations. This impact may be identified not only in explicit references to the Declaration, contained usually in preambles, but above all in the very formulation of specific rights and freedoms. Altogether, the Universal Declaration opened the way for what may be regarded as the codification and progressive development of human rights in ternational law.

The significance of the Universal Declaration has not been confined solely to influencing international standard-setting in the field of human rights. It has also created opportunities for developing international procedures and mechanisms for the implementation of human right's In the United Nations, the Declaration has become the main basis and references sources for establishing the communications and investigative procedures (e.g. under Resolutions 1235 and 1503 of the Economic and Social Council). As a resolution, and not a treaty, adopted by the General Assembly, the Declaration has become applicable to all the UN Members. If the text of the Declaration had been adopted as a treaty, its binding force and palpability would have become very much more limited.

Similarly, the significance of the implementation of the Declaration has been explicitly emphasized in the Preamble to the European Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms, whose signatory governments declared their resolve to take the first steps for the collective enforcement of certain of the rights stated in the Universal Declarations. Another example of a direct reference to commitments contained in the Declaration may be found in the documents of the (former) Conferences on security and Cooperation in Europe (CSCE), most notably in the Final Act of Helsinki (1975) and other documents. Importantly, these provisions of the CSCE documents have not solely been escape clauses

used to reach a compromise in diplomatic negotiations, but they have equally served as a means of establishing monitoring procedures for preventive diplomacy.

The Universal Declaration of Human Rights should, therefore, be seen above all as a document that has exerted a profound and comprehensive impact internationally and domestically in furthering the promotion and protection of human rights. Its inspirational role has not yet been exhausted.

C The Covenants on Civil a political and Economic, social and Cultural Rights

After the adoption of the Universal Declaration, the Commission on Human Rights embased on the second part of "the Bill of Human Rights" namely the development of norm that were undisputedly binding on those states that choose to adhere to them. The General Assembly at its first session in 1946 assigned the commission the task of preparing an "international bill of rights." Today, the International Bill of Rights is regarded as consisting of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, and the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights and its two optional protocols. The commission proposed in 1950 to keep all rights in one convention. However, USA and some other western countries argued against this proposal and in 1951 they succeeded in persuading the General Assembly not to follow the recommendations of the Commission on Human Rights but instead decided in favor of two separate conventions, on civil and political rights and the other on economic, social and cultural rights. The arguments put forward by USA and others were centered around asserted differences in regard to the possibility for the individual to legally enforce his rights and the different kind of monitoring mechanisms the two sets of rights would require.

In hindsight one can question whether this decision has well served the cause of human rights. Today, most proponents of human rights instead find it essential to emphasize the interrelationship and mutually reinforcing nature of the various human rights. The tendency in the subsequent development of standards, starting already in the sixties with the Convention on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination and on wards, has been to either bring up a particular subject and regulate it in greater depth or to take up the protection needs of individuals or groups that are especially prone to

discrimination or in need of particular protection. In regard to the substantive rights dealt with in treaties or instruments of the latter kind e.g. on refuges, against racial discrimination, against discrimination of women, on children, on minorities this holistic approach has been followed. Accordingly, civil, cultural, economic, political and social rights are all dealt within those instruments.

It should also be noted that although the rights dealt with in the covenants are contained in two different documents, it has been emphasized in UN resolutions and documents that the covenants belong together and should be seen as a whole. In only a few instances, a state has decided to adhere only to one of the two. As of January 2001, 146 states are parties to the Covenant on Civil and Political rights and 142 states to the covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights.

The two covenants contain some identical or similar provisions, such as the right to self-determination (Article 17 both covenants) and the principle of non-discrimination (Article 2 of both covenants). Also the safeguard clauses that the rights should not be used as a pretext for the destruction of other rights, are the same (Article 5 of both covenants).

The International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights

The International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights contains 53 articles, of which 27 are of a normative character. It also consists of a first optional protocol adopted at the same time as the Covenant in 1906, establishing a procedure for individual complaints, and a second optional protocol, adopted in 1989 aiming at the abolition of the death penalty. As of January 2001, 98 states are parties to the first protocol and 45 states to the second.

Pursuant to Article 28 of the Covenant, a Human Rights Committee is established, consisting of 18 members, who are nominated and elected by states but who serve in their individual capacity. Its

mandate is to consider the reports that all states parties are under a duty to submit regularly to the committee, to consider interstate complaint and to deal with the individual complaints that may come before it under the first optional protocol

• The International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights

The International Covenant on Economic, Social, and Cultural Rights consists of 31 articles, of which the first 15 are of a normative character and the last 16 of a more procedural nature. In its normative articles it sets out many of the fundamentals for the well being and prosperity of an individual. Each state party is under an obligation to undertake steps "to the maximum of its available resources with a view to achieving progressively the full realization of the rights recognized in the present covenant, by all appropriate means, including particularly the adaption of legislative meansures" (Article 27 the Covenant). A core provision is Article 11, which recognizes the rights of everyone to an adequate standard of living, including adequate food, clothing and housing, and to the continuous improvement of living conditions unfortunately, as the committee itself has noted, in many parts of the world there exists a disturbingly large situation. Much debate had been held on the difficulties to enforce and measure to what extent a state party is fulfilling its obligation under the Covenant. However, several fundamental principles apply, e.g. the important principle of non-discrimination. Also, the exercise of particular economic, social or cultural rights presupposed or is linked to the exercise and enjoyment of rights of a civil or political nature. For example, the enjoyment of many cultural rights presupposes the rights to freedom of association, of religion and expression.

The international community has in the last years pointed to the need to give increased attention to economic, social and cultural rights. The denial of these are often the first steps towards alienation and polarization in societies, which in turn lead to increased risks for violent conflict and further oppression. Any focus on measures of a truly preventive character will sooner or later embark on discussions about improved implementation of human rights and not the least in regard to the principle of non-discrimination and economic, social and cultural rights.

The covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights do not make provision for the establishment of a separate treaty body. Instead, the responsibility for the supervision of the Covenant is entrusted to the Economic and Social Council (ECOSOC) originally; the ECOSOC delegated this work to a special group of government experts. However, in 1985, the ECOSOC decided to instead create the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, a body composed of eighteen members, elected by ECOSOC from a list of candidates nominated by states parties for terms of four years. Members serve in their individual capacities, and meet twice a year for sessions of three weeks duration. The main function of the committee, as will all others of the six treaty bodies, is the examination of state report.

D The International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination

In 1969, seven years before the afore discussed two covenants entered into force, the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination (CERD) entered into force after having been adopted in 1965 by the General Assembly. The Convention, which as of January 2001 has 156 states parties, was the first United Nations human rights instrument outside the provisions on Human Rights in the Charter that established an international monitoring system, including a procedure for individual complaints. At the time of the elaboration of its provisions the Commission on Human Rights was occupied with drafting the two covenants. The convention was essentially the work of the General Assembly itself, in consolation with various other bodies. The conclusion of the Convention was a priority objective not the least of the new member states of the UN, which had just gained their independence in the early 1960s.

The Convention contains 25 articles, of which the first seven articles are of a normative character. A broad definition of racial discrimination is found in Article 1, and the Convention sets out a number of detailed prohibitions and obligations to prevent discrimination based on the grounds of race, color, descent, or national or ethnic origin. States are under an obligation to criminalize dissemination of ideas based on racial superiority and hatred and participation in racial organizations or activities. The committee established under the treaty reminded states that its undertaking was not only an obligation to enact certain criminal laws but also to ensure that the laws are effectively enforced.

The international monitoring procedures are dealt with in the second part of the Convention (Articles 8 to 16). A Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination (CERD), consisting of 18 independent experts created by the states parties after being nominated by such states parties, examines and comments on reports submitted by the parties. Such report has to be submitted initially one year after the convention enters in to force for a state and thereafter every two years. The committee was also competent to deal with complaints of a state party about non-fulfillment of the treaty obligations by another state party. The committee is empowered to play a role of inquiry and conciliation, aiming at reaching an amicable solution of the dispute (Articles 11 to 13). So far there have been no inter-state complaints.

E The Convention on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women

Equal rights of women and men are a basic principle of law embodied in the charter of the United Nations and in numerous human rights instruments in the preamble and in the provisions dealing with non-discrimination, eg. Article 1, Para. 3 and Article 55of the Charter. This principle is proclaimed in the Universal Declaration as well as in the two covenants (Articles 1 and 2 of the Universal Declaration and in both covenants, but in different paragraphs). In addition, states parties specifically undertake to ensure the equal right of men and women to the enjoyment of all rights set forth in each covenant (Article 3 of both covenants).

Despite this basic principle of non-discrimination and of integration of all human rights regardless of gender, developments relating to their actual implementation in law and practice have been slow. The United Nations has therefore from the outset tried to promote the necessary changes in regard to the equal enjoyment by women of human rights and their equal status to men. The creation of a special functional commission, the Commission on the Status of Women and a number of legal instruments relating to the enjoyment of women of human rights has been decided upon. Such conventions have also been concluded within the framework of the International Labor Organization (ILO), governing discrimination in employment, equal remuneration, protection from hazardous work and maternity protection.

The commission on the status of women was established in the early days of the United Nations, in 1943. In 1967, the General Assembly adopted the Declaration on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW). This was a reaction based on a growing concern that additional means for promoting and protecting equal enjoyment of human rights by women is necessary.

In 1972 the secretary-General asked the Commission on the Status of Women to request the view of member states as to the form and content of a possible legally binding instrument on the subject. In 1974 the Commission began drafting a convention. The World Conference of the International Women's year, held in Mexico-city in 1975, encouraged the work in its Plan of Action. The Plan of Action called for convention on the elimination of discrimination against women, with effective procedures for its implementation. In 1977 a draft instrument was submitted to the General Assembly, which appointed a special working group to finalize the draft. The Convention was adopted by the General Assembly in 1979, which is entered into force in 1981, and has as of January 2001 165 states parties.

The Convention consists of 30 Articles, of which the first 16 are of a normative character. The definition of discrimination against women, contained in the first article, is more detailed than in many other discrimination clauses. It was inspired by the definition of racial discrimination as contained in the convention on that subject. In both its definition and in other provisions the convention on the elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women (Article 18 of the Convention) reflects the depth of exclusion and restriction practiced against women because of their sex. It identifies many areas where there have been a notorious discrimination against women; for example in regard to political and civil rights, economic rights and employment. It calls for equal rights for women, regardless of their marital status. It calls for national legislation to ban discrimination. It allows for temporary special measures to accelerate the achievement of equality between men and women. The Convention recognizes that, even if women's equality is guaranteed by law and special measures taken in order to promote ade facto equally, there is still a necessity to take measures to remove the social, cultural and traditional patterns which perpetuate gender-role stereotypes and to create an overall framework in society that promotes the equal rights and responsibilities between men and women, including shared responsibilities in the domestic sphere. The Convention provides for equal rights of women in political and public life, equal access to education and employment, equality in access to health facilitates and an

end to discrimination in the field of finance and areas of economic and social rights. The Convention also stresses the need to eliminate discrimination in all matters relating to marriage and family related matters and stresses the social services needed especially childcare facilities for a full participation of women in public life.

The issues of gender-based violence are not specifically addressed in the convention. The committee set up under the convention has also addressed this subject in its General Recommendation of Article 19, in which it formally extends the general prohibition on gender-based discrimination to include genderbased violence. The work of the committee in this area was further reinforced when, in 1993, the General Assembly adopted the Declaration on the Elimination of Violence Against Women. Another area of growing concerns was the search for more effective measures to combat and suppress traffic in women and exploitation of prostitution of women, a subject dealt with in the Convention (Article 6 of the Convention).

The Convention establishes a Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women consisting of 23 members nominated and elected by states parties but serving in their personal capacity.

F The Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment

Although the eradication of torture has long been a goal proclaimed by the international community, torture is still practiced in many states. A number of prominent human rights experts and nongovernmental organizations actively campaign so that governments give priority to this problem. Today representatives of basically all states agree publicly that torture is an example of human rights violation which can never be accepted. Yet, the reports of Amnesty, Human Rights Watch and other human rights organizations bear ample evidence that the factual situation in police stations, prisons and

military establishments in very different from the commitment undertaken by governments in this respect. Much too often, acts of torture are committed with compete impunity for the torturers.

Torture is consistently outlawed in international law. The Universal Declaration states in Article 5 that "no one shall be subjected to torture or cruel, inhumane or degrading treatment or punishment? In 1949, the four General Conventions included a prohibition against "Cruel treatment and torture" as well as "outrages upon personal dignity, in particular humiliating and degrading treatment" in their common article 3. In 1955 the Standard Minimum Rules for Treatment of Prisoners were adopted by the First United Nations Congress on the Prevention of Crime and the Treatment of Prisoners. These congresses, that have conveyed every 5 years since 1955, have contributed in ways to the development of norms aiming at a more human treatment of persons in detention. The standard Rules for prisoners gives in 95 articles guidelines for the treatment of detained persons, and forbids cruel, degrading or in human treatment or punishment as well as corporal punishment. These standards have influenced the legislation of many countries and have, in many instances, helped to provide some measures of protection to incarcerated persons.

In 1966, with the adoption of the Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, the international community unequivocally repeated the prohibition against torture. Efforts continued to reach further through developing specific and detailed measures, of normative, practical and remedial nature, against torture and ill-treatment. In 1975 the General Assembly adopted a Declaration on the Protection of All Persons from being subjected to Torture and other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, which contained in its first article a definition of the term "torture." Another way to proceed was to address the behaviour of the various professional groups that normally were directly exposed to situations where acts of torture or ill-treatment might occur. In 1979, a code of conduct for Law Enforcement Officials was adopted by the General Assembly, which prescribes that "no law enforcement official may inflict, instigate or tolerate any act of torture or other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment, nor --- invoke superior orders or exceptional circumstances such as sate of war or threat of war, a threat to national security internal political instability or any other public emergence as a justification of such acts." (Article 5 of the Code of Conduct for Law Enforcement Officials). In 1982 the General Assembly adopted the principles of Medical Ethics relevant to the role of

health personnel, particularly physicians, in the protection of prisoners and detainees against torture and other cruel, in human or degrading treatment or punishment.

On 10 December, 1984, another major step was taken when the General Assembly adopted the Convention Against Torture on Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, which entered into force in 1987. The Convention has, as of January 2001, 122 states parties. The provisions in this Convention build on elements from the other instruments mentioned above. The Convention provides for a definition of torture in its first article, which includes intentional acts for certain enumerated reasons which causes severe pain or suffering of physical or mental nature for a persons, "When such pain or suffering is inflicted by or at the instigation of or with the consent or acquiescence of a public, official or other person acting in an official capacity" (Article 1 of the Convention Against Torture). During the negotiations a group of countries insisted on adding a clause explicitly precluding pain or suffering arising from lawful sanctions, an exception not found in earlier instruments containing provisions relating to torture (Article 1 of the Convention).

The Convention establishes a committee Against Torture, consisting of ten members, nominated and elected by states parties but serving in their personal capacity (Article 2 of the Convention Against Torture).

G The Convention of the Right of the Child

The welfare and rights of children have been a subject which the United Nations has dealt with since its creation. Already the League of Nations had promoted the idea of granting special protection to the rights of the child through the adoption in 1924 of a Declaration on the Rights of the Child. One of the first decisions of the General Assembly in 1946 was to create the United Nations Fund for Children (UNICEF), an organization which during a first phase dealt primarily with assistance to children affected by emergencies. In 1953 it was made a permanent body and its mandate expanded to cover development issues and the welfare of children in a more general sense. Now a day, UNICEF regards the

promotion and protection of the rights set out in the 1989 Convention on the Rights of the Child as a general framework and mandate for all its activities.

The Universal Declaration of Human Rights, adapted in 1948, recognized in article 25 that "childhood is entitled to special care and assistance" and that "all children, whether born in or out of wedlock, shall enjoy the same social protection." In 1959, the United Nations adopted a Declaration on the Rights of the Child, where the rights from the old 1924 Declaration were reaffirmed and further elaborated. The need to give the force of legally binding obligations to children's rights also became more evident, and in 1979- the International Year of the Child- the Commission on Human Rights Started its work on the drafting of a convention. The drafting process took ten years.

The Convention was adopted by the General Assembly in 1989, and entered into force in 1990. It soon received unprecedented support and achieved unique political commitments, *inter alia*, evidenced at the World Summit for Children in New York in 1990 and the World Conference on Human Rights in Vienna in 1993. The Convention on the Rights of the Child is the first specific Human Rights treaty that has achieved an almost Universal adherence. As of January 2001 it has 190 states parties and only the United States and Somalia have failed to accede to the Convention.

The Convention consists of 54 articles, of which the first 42 are of a normative character. The Convention is all encompassing and sets up a holistic approach where civil, political, economic, social and cultural rights are included, all being of importance for safeguarding the dignity of the child and a harmonious development of his personality. A child is defined as "every human being below the age of eighteen years. Unless, under the law applicable to the child, majority is attained earlier" (Article 1 of the Convention).

Four general principles have guided the authors of the Convention, and later been highlighted by the committee on the Rights in the General Guidelines as the core message of the Convention. Firstly, the principle of the full and equal value of children and that each child shall enjoy the rights set out in the

convention without discrimination (Article 2 and 4 of the Convention.) Secondly, the principle that in all actions concerning children the best interest of the child shall be the primarily consideration (Article 3 of the Convention). Thirdly, the principle of the right to life does not only entail the right to be protected against being killed but a right to survival and development (Article 6 of the Convention). Fourthly, the principle that children, who are capable of forming their own views, shall also have the right to participate and express their views, which shall be duly respected (Article 12 of the Convention).

The Convention establishes a Committee on the Rights of the Child, originally composed of 10 members, but which the states parties in 1995, decided should be enlarged to 18 members. As of January 2001 the amendment had not entered into force and the number of expert members remains ten. The members of the committee are nominated and elected by states, but serve in their personal capacity and those covenants of other international instruments.

2.1.2 Reservations and Declarations

When becoming party to a treaty, a state may, by formulating reservations, declarations and interpretative statements, seek to limit its domestic application beyond what is permissible under the limitations referred to above. Although it is desirable that states become party to a convention unconditionally, this is often not the case.

2.1.2.1 Reservation

In general terms, a reservation is a statement made by a state by which it purports to exclude or alter the legal effect of certain provisions of a treaty in their application to that state. A reservation may enable a state to participate in a multilateral treaty that it would otherwise be unable or unwilling to participate in. The International Court of Justice stated in its Advisory Opinion on the Genocide Convention (1951): 'Object and purpose of the Convention limit both the freedom of making reservations and that of objecting to them.' These words were later codified in Article 19 of Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties which sets out the general rule on reservations:

A state may, when signing, ratifying, accepting, approving or acceding to a treaty, formulate a reservation unless:

(a) The reservation is prohibited by the treaty;

(b) The treaty provides that only specified reservations, which do not include the reservation in question, may be made; or

(c) In cases not falling under subparagraphs (a) and (b), the reservation is incompatible with the object and purpose of the treaty.

Unless expressly permitted by a treaty, the effectiveness of a reservation is dependent on its acceptance by other states parties, and any other state party may object to it. As a rule, a reservation is considered accepted by another state party if that state party has raised no objection within twelve months after it has been notified of the reservation (Article 20(5)VCLT). Regrettably, silence on the part of other states parties seems to be the common response to reservations; and, unfortunately, this silence is rarely the result of conscious deliberation.

The UN Commission on Human Rights has stated that reservations should be formulated 'as precisely and narrowly as possible (Resolution 1998/9). Reservations often reflect an admission (oppossition) that the country in question cannot, or will not, bring its conduct up to international standards. General reservations may, moreover, encourage other states to follow suit, and thereby reduce the ability of the state making the reservation to complain when other states make similar reservations. Furthermore, extensive limitations may contravene established principles of international law contrary, for instance, to Article 27 VCLT that states: 'A party may not invoke the provisions of its domestic law as justification for its failure to perform a treaty.'

Article 57(1) of the ECHR prohibits reservations 'of a general character'. The European Court of Human Rights discussed the issue of general reservations in *Belilos* v. *Switzerland* (1988). In *Loizidou* v. *Turkey* (1995), the Court held that:

[A] State may not make a reservation in relation to an article of the Convention that does not deal directly with substantive rights and freedoms, but instead with procedural or formal matters. If [?] substantive or territorial restrictions were permissible under these provisions, Contracting Parties would be free to subscribe to separate regimes of enforcement of Convention obligations [?]. Such a system [?] would not only seriously weaken the role of the [?] Court [?] but would also diminish the effectiveness of the Convention as a constitutional instrument of European public order (ordre public).'

The Inter-American Court has dealt with the issue of reservations in its Advisory Opinion No. 2 on the 'Effect of Reservations on the Entry into Force of the American Convention on Human Rights' and Advisory Opinion No. 4 on 'Proposed Amendments to the Naturalization Provisions of the Constitution of Costa Rica', stating that reservations may not lead to a result that weakens the system of protection established by the Convention.

Certain instruments, such as the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW), have been subject to many reservations, some of them clearly incompatible with the object and purpose of the treaty. The effect of invalid reservations to human rights treaties, and of objections to reservations, is a continuing debate in international law. In the face of this situation, the independent monitoring bodies, such as the CEDAW Committee and the Human Rights Committee, have taken a view on the validity of reservations, a practice not contemplated by the VCLT. Although the competence of these bodies in this regard has been debated, it seems logical to conclude that their competence derives from their functions. The Human Rights Committee has dealt with this issue in General Comment 24 on issues relating to reservations made upon ratification or accession to the Covenant or the Optional Protocols (CCPR/C/21/Rev.1/Add.6, of 11 November 1994). In this General Comment the Committee stressed that 'reservations must be specific and transparent [?]. Reservations may

thus not be general, but must refer to a particular provision of the covenant and indicate in precise terms its scope in relation thereto.'

2.1.2.2 Declarations

Some conventions allow or even require states parties to make declarations concerning the extent to which they are bound by a certain provision. Such statements may relate to the competence of a supervisory mechanism. For instance, Article 41 ICCPR stipulates that a state party may choose (not) to recognise the competence of the Human Rights Committee to receive state complaints regarding its human rights performance. This type of declaration, as provided by the instruments, does not pose major problems. However, a state party may also make interpretative declarations, otherwise known as understandings, whereby it does not intend to modify or limit the provisions of the treaty, but indicates merely how it interprets a particular article. Such interpretative declarations may raise certain problems in international law as to their differentiation with reservations.

The VCLT is silent on the question of interpretative declarations. However, the International Law Commission has studied the matter at length and several international human rights bodies have dealt with the issue. One of the major differences between a 'reservation' and an 'interpretative declaration' lies in the author's purpose in making that declaration. While a reservation seeks to exclude or modify the legal effect of the treaty's provisions in their application to the state author, the interpretative declaration seeks only to clarify the meaning or scope of the treaty provisions. Therefore, it is the intention of the state rather than the form or the name or title which matters. Thus, if a statement purports to exclude or modify the legal effect of a treaty in its application to the state, it constitutes a reservation. Conversely, if a so-called 'reservation' merely provides a state's understanding of a provision, without excluding or modifying that provision, it is in reality not a reservation.

2.2.3 Restrictions and Derogations

2.2.3.1 Restrictions

Conventions and other instruments may contain a number of restrictions or limitations to the rights they stipulate. It is generally accepted that only few rights and freedoms are 'absolute'. At the same time, such restrictions must be used only to establish the proper limits of the protected right and not as an excuse for undermining the right itself or destroying it altogether. In general, there must be a proportionate relationship between the restriction of the right as such and the reason for the restriction.

Various international instruments contain provisions allowing restrictions (used interchangeably with the term 'limitations') on human rights. Such provisions may take the form of general limitations. Article 4 of ICESCR, for instance, reads:

The states parties to the present Covenant recognise that, in the enjoyment of those rights provided by the state in conformity with the present Covenant, the state may subject such rights only to such limitations as are determined by law only in so far as this may be compatible with the nature of these rights and solely for the purpose of promoting general welfare in a democratic society.

Another illustration is provided by Article 32(2) of the American Convention on Human Rights (ACHR): 'The rights of each person are limited by the rights of others, by the security of all, and by the just demands of the general welfare, in a democratic society'.

The African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights does not contain a specific provision on restrictions but Article 27(2) on 'duties' has come to play the role of a general limitation clause providing: 'The rights and freedoms of each individual shall be exercised with due regard to the rights of others, collective security, morality and common interest.'

In order to prevent abuse, conventions often contain a paragraph prohibiting the abuse of an international instrument to destroy another right. Article 5 of ICCPR, for instance, stipulates: *Nothing in the present Convention may be interpreted as implying for any state, group or person any right to engage in any activity or to perform any act aimed at the destruction of any of the*

rights and freedoms recognised herein or at their limitation to a greater extent than is provided for in the present Covenant.

However, apart from these general provisions most human rights treaties contain specific provisions in various individual articles, which specify the limitations and restrictions that are allowed on the particular right. Such specific limitation clauses include 'prescribed by law', 'in a democratic society', 'public order (*ordre public*)', 'public health', 'public morals', 'national security', 'public safety' and 'rights and freedoms of others'. For a few rights, such as freedom from torture or slavery, no limitations have been formulated.

When a right is subject to a limitation, no other limitations are permitted and any limitation must comply with the following minimum requirements:

- The limitation must not be interpreted so as to jeopardise the essence of the right concerned;
- The limitation must be interpreted strictly in the light and context of the particular right;
- The limitation must be prescribed by law and be compatible with the object and purpose of the instrument;
- The restriction must be based on a law;
- The restriction must be necessary; there must be a pressing social need, assessed on a case-by-case basis. That the law would be useful is in itself not sufficient; it must be consistent with other protected rights. In some treaties, the condition that it be 'necessary' (in a democratic society) is added; and
- The restriction must be justified by the protection of a strictly limited set of well-defined public interests, which usually includes one or more of the following grounds: national security, public safety, public order (*ordre public*), the protection of health or morals, and the protection of the rights and freedoms of others.

Most of these requirements have been developed by academia and the jurisprudence of major human rights bodies. In this regard it is important to bear in mind the Siracusa Principles on the limitation and derogation provision in the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights. The Siracusa Principles were adopted by a group of 31 distinguished experts in international law convened by the International Commission of Jurists, who met in Siracusa, Sicily in 1984.

The Inter-American Court has dealt with limitation and derogation in Advisory Opinion No. 5 on Compulsory Membership in an Association Prescribed by Law for the Practice of Journalism. In sum, any restriction on the enjoyment of the rights enshrined in human rights instruments must be legally established, non-discriminatory, proportional, compatible with the nature of the rights, and designed to further the general welfare. Finally, it is also important to stress that the burden falls upon states parties to prove that a limitation imposed upon the enjoyment of the rights is legitimate. This is, of course, a heavy burden of proof, but it is consistent with the object and purpose of human rights treaties to protect the individual.

2.2.3.2 Derogations

Some human rights instruments allow states to take measures derogating temporarily from some of their obligations. Derogating measures must be of an exceptional and temporary nature. There are derogation clauses in, *inter alia*, Article 15 of ECHR, Article 27 of ACHR and Article 31 of European Social Charter. Some human rights instruments, such as the Convention on the Right of the Child, the ICESCR, and the African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights, do not contemplate any derogation clause.

The rationale for derogation provisions is to strike a balance between the sovereign right of a government to maintain peace and order during public emergencies, and the protection of the rights of the individual from abuse by the state. Thus, the state is allowed to suspend the exercise of some rights when necessary to deal with an emergency situation (*e.g.*, derogation of the right to peaceful assembly), provided it complies with safeguards against any abuse of these derogation provisions.

When derogation measures are allowed, such derogations have to meet several criteria:

- There must be a war or general state of emergency threatening the life of the nation;
- The state of emergency must be officially proclaimed;

- Measures may not go beyond the extent strictly required by the situation;
- Measures may not be inconsistent with other obligations under international law; and
- Measures may not be discriminatory solely on grounds of race, colour, sex, language, religion or social origin.

A state availing itself of the right of derogation must immediately provide justification for its decision to proclaim a state of emergency and also for any specific measure based on such a proclamation.

With regard to derogations and limitations, the Final Document of the 1991 Moscow meeting of the Conference on Security and Co-operation in Europe (CSCE), states:

The participating states reaffirm that a state of public emergency is justified only by the most exceptional and grave circumstances [...]. A state of public emergency may not be used to subvert the democratic constitutional order, nor aim at the destruction of internationally recognised human rights and fundamental freedoms. [...] The participating states confirm that any derogation from obligations relating to human rights and fundamental freedoms during a state of public emergency must remain strictly within the limits provided for by international law, in particular the relevant international instruments by which they are bound, especially with respect to rights from which there can be no derogation.

Limits, in the form of the criteria to be met, have thus been set out on the extent to which states can derogate from their human rights obligations. Moreover, as stipulated in a number of international conventions (*e.g.*, Article 4(2) of ICCPR, Article 15(2) of ECHR and Article 27(2) of ACHR), a number of rights can under no circumstances be limited or derogated from. Such rights are often called *notstandsfest* - a German term - and include the right to life, freedom from slavery, torture and imprisonment for debt, the principle of legality in the field of criminal law, freedom of thought, conscience and religion and the right to juridical personality.

The Human Rights Committee, in its General Comment 29 sets out in detail the conditions that must be met in order to derogate from the rights contained in the ICCPR and refers in length to those rights which are not derogable. The Committee established that the rights contained in Article 4(2) of ICCPR are not the only non-derogable rights; there are elements of other rights not listed in Article 4(2) that cannot be subject to lawful derogation.

2.2.4 Institutions and Procedures

The numerous human rights conventions under the framework of the United Nations and the regional systems in Africa, the Americas and Europe have led to the creation of a wide range of mechanisms for monitoring compliance with the standards agreed upon. Here we will examine the different procedures, which have been instituted at the international and regional levels to monitor compliance with human rights treaties.

There are two distinctive types of supervisory mechanism:

a) Treaty-based mechanism: supervisory mechanisms enshrined in legally binding human rights instruments or conventions. Within the UN framework these mechanisms are often called 'treaty bodies', *e.g.*, the Human Rights Committee and the Committee on the Rights of the Child. The African Commission and future Court on Human and Peoples' Rights, the European Court and commission of Human Rights and the Inter-American Court and Commission of Human Rights are also treaty bodies.

b) Non-treaty- based mechanisms: supervisory mechanisms not based on legally binding human rights treaty obligations. Generally, this type of mechanism is based on the constitution or charter of an intergovernmental human rights forum, or on decisions taken by the assembly or a representative body of the forum in question. Under the UN framework, the non-treaty-based mechanisms are referred to as 'charter-based' mechanisms, which include the 1503 procedure and the country mandates. The European Commission against Racism and Intolerance under the Council of Europe is also an example of a regional non-treaty based mechanism.

2.2.4.1 Treaty Based Mechanisms

The six most well-known human rights treaties are the two Covenants (ICESCR and ICCPR), CERD, CEDAW, CAT and **CRC**. In addition, mention should be made of the CMW, which entered into force in 2003.

Each of these conventions has a supervisory body. These bodies consist of a number of experts of a high moral character and recognised competence in the field of human rights. They act in their personal capacity, which means that although they are normally nationals of a state party to the treaty in question, they are not acting under instructions from respective governments. The treaty-based procedures are the mechanisms established within the context of a specific human rights treaty. The Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination (1965) was the first human rights treaty of universal application to provide for a mechanism of supervision. This mechanism subsequently served as a model for other human rights treaties, notably the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights. The treaty bodies, with the exception of the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, are not organs of the UN, but derive their status from the convention concerned. To implement these conventions, regular meetings of states parties are held to discuss issues regarding the conventions, mainly in connection with the election of members to the treaty bodies.

The various supervisory procedures established in human rights treaties can be divided into four main groups:

- Reporting procedures
- Inter-state complaint procedure
- Individual complaint procedure
- Inquiries and other procedures

i. Reporting procedures

Most human rights treaties include a system of periodic reporting. States parties to them are obliged to report periodically to a supervisory body on the implementation at the domestic level of the treaty in question. As formulated, *e.g.*, in Article 40 of the ICCPR, States Parties shall 'submit reports on the measures they have adopted which give effect to the rights recognised herein and on the progress made in the enjoyment of those rights'. At the UN level, each treaty

body has formulated general guidelines regarding the form and contents of the reports to be submitted by States Parties as envisaged (HRI/GEN/2/Rev.2) and their own rules of procedures (UN HRI/GEN/3/Rev.1).

The report is analysed by the relevant supervisory body, which comments on the report and may request the state concerned to furnish more information. In general, reporting procedures under the different treaty-based mechanisms are meant to facilitate and initiate a 'dialogue' between the supervisory body and the State Party.

The quality of the reports submitted by states varies. Some reports are reliable and reflect serious efforts to comply with the reporting requirements, while others are lacking in credibility. In any case, the reports generally reflect the view of the respective state. In addition to the government report, the treaty bodies receive information on a country's human rights situation from other sources, including non-governmental organisations, UN agencies, other intergovernmental organisations, academic institutions, and the press. The quality of decision making throughout the reporting procedure depends to a great extent on this additional information that the experts may receive from the external sources. Additional information provided by, in particular, NGOs and agencies of the United Nations grant a wider perspective as to the actual situation in the country concerned. In an increasing number of countries, NGOs prepare and submit to the treaty bodies alternative reports aimed at counter balancing the information submitted by the state. In the light of all the information available, the Committees examine the reports together with government representatives. Based on this dialogue, the Committees decide on their concerns and recommendations to the state concerned, referred to as 'concluding observations'.

All UN human rights conventions contain a reporting procedure: Article 16 of ICESCR, Article 40 of ICCPR, Article 9 of CERD, Article 19 CAT, Article 44 of CRC, Article 18 of CEDAW and Article 73 of CMW.

ii. Inter-state-complaint procedure

Some human rights instruments allow states parties to initiate a procedure against another state party, which is considered not to be fulfilling its obligations under the instrument. In most cases, such a complaint may only be submitted if both the claimant and the defendant state have recognised the competence of the supervisory body to receive this type of complaint.

The possibility to lodge complaints against another state party is contemplated in, *inter alia*, Article 41 of ICCPR; Article 21 of CAT; Article 11 of CERD. In practice, inter-state complaint mechanisms are seldom used. Inter-state relationships are delicate and inter-state mechanisms may not be ideal procedures as states bringing complaints may elicit reprisals. In addition, many states have not recognised the competence of the supervisory bodies to receive inter-state complaints.

iii. Individual complaint procedure

It seems reasonable that individuals, on whose behalf human rights were stipulated in the first place, should be enabled to initiate proceedings to protect their rights. Such a procedure, whereby an individual holds a government directly accountable before an international supervisory body aims to afford far-reaching protection to the individual. In order for an individual to bring a case/communication/petition under a human rights convention, the following requirements have to be met: a) the alleged violating state must have ratified the convention invoked by the individual; b) the rights allegedly violated must be covered by the convention concerned; and c) proceedings before the relevant body may only be initiated after all domestic remedies have been exhausted.

At the UN level, individual complaint mechanisms are found under five conventions: in the First Optional Protocol to the ICCPR; Article 22 of CAT; Optional Protocol to the CEDAW; Article 14 of CERD and Article 77 of CMW. Individual complaints under one of the above-mentioned treaties can be brought only against a state that has recognised the competence of the committee established under the relevant treaty or become party to the relevant optional protocols. In the case of the ICCPR and the CEDAW, a state recognises the Committees' competence by becoming a party to an optional protocol, which has being added to the ICCPR and the CEDAW. In the case of the CAT and the CERD, states recognise the Committees' competence by making

an express declaration under Articles 22 and 14 respectively. Anyone under the jurisdiction of a state party can lodge a complaint with a committee against a state that satisfies this condition, claiming that his or her rights under the relevant treaty have been violated. There is no formal time limit after the date of the alleged violation for filing a complaint under the relevant treaties, but the victim should submit a complaint as soon as possible after having exhausted domestic remedies.

While there are some procedural variations between the different UN treaties, their design and operation are very similar. In general terms, the system works as follows: Once a complaint (which should comply with some basic requirements) is submitted, the case is registered and transmitted to the state party concerned to give it an opportunity to comment. The state is requested to submit its observations within a set time frame which varies between procedures. The two major stages in any case are known as the 'admissibility' stage and the 'merits' stage. The 'admissibility' of a case refers to the formal requirements that the complaint must satisfy before the relevant committee can consider its substance. The 'merits' of the case are the substance, on the basis of which the committee decides whether or not the rights under a treaty have been violated.

Once the state replies to the complaint, the alleged victim is offered an opportunity to comment. Again, the time frames vary somewhat between procedures. At this point, the case is ready for a decision by the relevant committee. If the state party fails to respond to the complaint the committee may take a decision on the case on the basis of the original complaint. There is no appeal against committees' decisions. When a committee decides that the state party has violated a right, or rights, enshrined in the treaty, it invites the state party to supply information within a given time limit on the steps it has taken to give effect to the committee's findings.

D. Inquiries and other procedures

The group of supervisory mechanisms now discussed includes all procedures that do not fall under those mentioned above. Most involve inquiries, but others may entail initiatives aimed at preventing violations or promoting compliance with specific human rights. The supervisory bodies discussed above play a rather passive role as they generally cannot initiate proceedings, and are largely dependent on information submitted by governments, or individual plaintiffs or petitioners.

Recently, however, several supervisory mechanisms have been established whereby an independent person or group of persons may raise, on the person's or group's own initiative, issues of non-compliance with human rights. Such a body may, for instance, act upon receipt of complaints or take an initiative itself. It may also initiate a visit *in loco* to gather information, or do so as part of a regular visit-programme. One example of a visit-programme - an enquiry – and *in loco* visits procedure - is that set out in Articles 126 and 132 of the Third Geneva Convention (1949), and the provision in Article 143 of the Fourth Geneva Convention providing for on-site visits to places of internment or detention. Mention should also be made of the International Fact-Finding Commission established under Article 90 of Protocol I to the Geneva Conventions.

2.1.4.2 Non-treaty Based (Charter Based) Mechanisms

A. International Court of Justice (ICJ)

The International Court of Justice is the principal judicial organ of the United Nations. Its statute is an integral part of the charter of the United Nations and, consequently, all member states of the United Nations are ipso facto parties to the statue of the court. Only states may be parties in cases before the courts and the jurisdiction of the court will comprise all cases which the parties refer to it. In addition, states parties to the statute may at any time declare that they recognize as compulsory ipso facto and without special agreement, in relation to any other state accepting the same obligation, the jurisdiction of the court in all legal disputes concerning: (a) the interpretation of a treaty; (b)any fact which, if established, would constitute a breach of an international obligation; and (d) the nature or extent of the reparation to be made for the breach of an international obligation.

The General Assembly or the Security Council may request the court to give an advisory opinion on any legal question – other organs of the United Nations and specialized agencies, which may at any time be so authorized by the General Assembly, may also request advisory opinions of the court on legal

questions arising within the scope of their activities. A number of human rights instruments contain provisions where by any dispute between the contracting states relating to the interpretation, application or fulfillment of the instrument may be submitted to the Court at the request of any of the parties to the dispute. However, neither the ICCPR nor the ICESCR specifically provides for adjudication by the court.

B. Security Council

Under the charter of the United Nations member states have conferred on the Security Council primary responsibility for the maintenance of international peace and security and have agreed that in carrying out its duties under this responsibility the Security Council acts on their behalf. The Security Council may investigate any dispute, or any situation which might leads to international friction or give rise to a dispute, in order to determine whether the continuance of the dispute or situation is likely to endanger the maintenance of international peace and security. Any member of the United Nations may bring such dispute to the attention of the Security Council. When the Security Council determines the existence of any threat to the peace, breach of peace, or act of aggression, it may make recommendations, or decide what measures shall be taken to maintain or restore international peace and security measures which the security council may initially take include complete or partial interruption of economic relations and of rail, sea, air postal, telegraphic, radio, and other means of communication, and the severance of diplomatic relations. If such measures would be, or prove to be, inadequate, it may take such action by air, sea, or land forces as may be necessary to maintain or restore international peace and security.

The Security Council has dealt with several human rights problems, including massive and repeated violations in South Africa, Somalia, Haiti, Yugoslavia, and Rwanda; the situation in the occupied Arab territories; the instances of hostage and abduction.

C. United Nations General Assembly

One of the functions of the United Nations General Assembly is to intiate studies and make recommendations for the purpose of 'assisting in the realization of human rights and fundamental freedoms for all without distinction as to race, languages or religion. Such matters are usually referred by the General Assembly to its Third Committee which deals with social, humanitarian and cultural matters.

The General Assembly has established a number of subsidiary organs which are concerned with human rights. These include;

- (a) The International Law Commission; whose object is the promotion of the progressive development of international law and its codification. Among the international human rights instruments it has prepared are the Genocide Convention, the Refugees Convention, the Conventions Relating to the Status of Stateless Persons and the Reduction of Statelessness, the Declaration on Territorial Asylum, and the Statute of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees.
- (b) The Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, which provides protection and assistance for refugees and other displaced persons.
- (c) The Special Committee on Declaration, or the 'Committee 24', whose principal function is to monitor the implementation of the Declaration on the Granting Independence to Colonial Countries and Peoples.
- (d) Committee on the Exercise of the Inalienable Rights of the Palestinian People, which was required to consider and recommended to the General Assembly a programme of implementation designed to enable the Palestinian People to exercise 'its inalienable rights in Palestine; including the right to self determination and the right to return to their homes and property from which they had been displaced and uprooted.

D. Economic and Social Council

The Economic and Social Council is authorized by the charter of the United Nations to make recommendations for the purpose of promoting respect for, and observance of human rights and fundamental freedoms for all." In connections to this function, it is also authorized to prepare draft conventions for submission to the General Assembly, to call international conferences, and to obtain reports from member states on the steps taken to give effect to its recommendations and to those of the General Assembly, and to communicate its observations on these reports to the General Assembly. ECOSOC may also furnish information to the Security Council. Acting on the authority, of the charter, one of the first decisions of ECOSOC was to establish the Commission on Human Rights and the Commission on the Status of Women ECOSOC is a political body which originally comprised lightens members but now consists of fifty four members of the United Nations elected by the General Assembly. It normally holds an organizational session and two regular sessions each year. Human rights items are usually referred to the first session of the social committee on which all fifty-four members are represented.

E. UN Human Righst Council

The Commission on Human Rights is the principal functional organ of the United Nations concerned with human rights. It consists of fifty-three members-all-states-who are elected from time to time by ECOSOC. These fifty-three states are elected on a geographical basis and represent a cross-section of the world in many respects. The Commission is essentially a political body, and its states members include those whose human rights records range from the good to the dismissal. Yet, it is this body that drafted the UDHR, the ICCPR and ICESR, and all the principal human rights instruments.

In addition to representatives of its states members, sessions of the Commission may be attended by representative of any member state of the United Nations which is not represented on the Commission but in invited to participate in its deliberations, and by observers from states members and non-members of the United Nations not represented on the Commission, and from United Nations bodies, specialized agencies, other inter-governmental organizations concerned with human rights, national liberation movements, and non-governmental organizations in consultative status with ECOSOC.

F. International Lab-our Organizations (ILO)

The ILO has long been concerned with labor rights, first as parallel organization to the League of Nations, then as a specialized agency of the UN system. It has developed several complicated procedures for monitoring state behaviour in the area of labour rights. In general, certain differences aside, its record on helping apply international labor rights is similar to that of the UN Human Rights Commission in two respects it proceeds according to indirect implementation efforts falling short of direct enforcement; and its exact influence is difficult to specify.

It is concerned with economic and social rights, such as the right to work, the right to just and favorable conditions of work, the right to form and join trade unions, the right to social security, and the right to an adequate standard of living. It is also concerned with civil and political rights such as the freedom of expression, the freedom of association, and the freedom of peaceful assembly. The ILO seeks to lay down standards in respect of these rights. Among the human rights conventions adopted by the General Conference of the ILO are the following.

- (a) Convention Concerning Freedom of Association and Protection of the Right to Organize
- (b) Convention Concerning the Application of the Principles of the Right to Organize and to Bargain Collectively
- (c) Convention Concerning Equal Remuneration for Men and Woman Workers for Work of Equal Value
- (d) Convention on the Abolition of Forced Labour
- (e) Convention Concerning Discrimination in Respect of Employment and Occupation
- (f) Convention Concerning Employment Policy
- (g) Convention Concerning Protection and Facilities to be afforded to Workers Representatives in the Undertaking
- (h) Convention Concerning Protection of the Right to Organize and Procedures for Determining Conditions of Employment in the Public Service
- (i) Convention Concerning the Promotion of Collective Bargaining

- (j) Convention Concerning Employment Promotion and Protection Against Unemployment
- (k) Convention .Concerning Indigenous and Tribal Peoples in Independent Countries.

The ILO supervises the application of the standards it has laid down through tripartite-composed or representatives of governments, workers and employers-bodies. Among them is the twentymember committee of Experts on the Application of Conventions and Recommendations which meets annually in March to examine periodic reports submitted by each member state on the measures it has taken to give effect to the conventions it has ratified. The nine-member committee on Freedom of Association of the ILO Governing Board examines complaints against member states of infringement of the right to freedom of association

2.3 Regional Human Rights systems

2.2.1 The European Human Rights System

In May 1948, 800 prominent members of the various sectors of the European Community drawn from nineteen European states including politicians, lawyers and those active in wartime resistance movements, met in The Hague, under the auspices of the International Committee of Movements for European Unity, to demonstrate their support for the cause of Europeans Unity. The immediate consequence of the Hague Congress was the creation, one year later of the Council of Europe Comprising two principal organs, a Committee of Ministers (which meets at least twice a year at ministerial level and throughout the year at the level of their deputies, and provides an opportunity for a continuing dialogue on the development of European co-operation) and a Parliamentary Assembly (which is a consultative body with no legislative powers elected by the parliaments of member states or according to a procedure determined by them). The objectives of the Council, and therefore the obligations incumbent on its members, we described as the consolidation of pluralist democracy, respect for human rights, and the assertion of the rule of law. The statute creating the Council of Europe was signed in London on 5 May 1949. A common history and shared cultural traditions, coupled with what was perceived as a growing threat to their accustomed way life from an alien transplanted ideology, enabled its member states, barely two years after the proclamation of Human Rights and

Fundamental Freedoms, (ECHR). Twelve states signed the EHCR in Rome on 4 November 1950. It entered into force in September 1953, and has now been ratified by all member states.

2.2.2 The Inter-American Human Rights System

The Charter of the Organization of American States (OAS) was singed on 30 April 1948 at the Ninth International Conference of American States convened in Bogota. The Charter enters into force on 13 December 1951. Its preamble stated that 'the historic mission of American is to offer to man a land of liberty, and a favourable environment for the development of his personality and the realization of his just aspirations,' and that 'the true significance of American solidarity and good neighborliness can only mean the consolidation on this continent, within the framework democratic institutions, of a system of individual liberty and social justice based on respect for the essential rights of man.' In its substantive provisions, the charter reaffirmed and proclaimed as a principle of the OAS 'the fundamental rights of the individual without distinction as to race, nationality, creed or sex.' At the same conference, the American Declaration of the Rights and outside of man was adopted in the form of a resolution.

In 1959, in Santiago, the fifth meeting of consultation of ministers of foreign affairs adopted a resolution creating the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, and in the following year the OAS council adopted the statute of the Commission and elected its seven members. The statute described the Commission as an autonomous entity of the Organization of American States, the function of which is to promote respect for 'human rights? It added that for the purpose of the statute, human rights are understood to be those set forth in the American Declaration of the Rights and Duties of Man' (ADRD). The ADRD thus became the basic normative instrument of the Commission. However, the powers of the commission were limited by its statute to gathering information, preparing studies and making recommendations to governments for the adoption of 'Progressive measures in favour of human rights within the framework of their domestic legislation' (the statute of the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, 1960, Article 9). In 1965, the Commission was authorized to examine and report on communication submitted to it, thereby initiating an individual petition system. In 1970, the protocol of

Buenos Aires which amended the Charter changes the status of the commission from an 'autonomous entity' into one of the principal organs of the OAS. Its functions were re-defined to be 'to promote the observance and protection of human rights and to serve as a cumulative organ of the organization in these matters?

The states parties to the ACHR under take 'to respect' and 'to ensure' the 'free and full exercise' of these rights 'to all person subject to their jurisdiction' (Article 1 of the Convention). These obligations are monitored by two bodies, each composed of seven experts the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights established in 1959, and the Inter-American Court of Human Rights.

2.2.3 The African Human Rights System

The other regional human rights instrument is the African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights (ACHPR). The initiative for an African Human Rights Charter was taken at a meeting of African jurists, the African Conference on the Rule of Law, convened by the International Commission of Jurists (ICJ) in Lagos in 1961. The idea was developed at a number of UN seminars and ICJ conferences held in the following years. UN seminars were held in Cairo in 1969 and in Dar-es-Salam in 1973. At the 1978 Dakar symposium organized by the ICJ and the Senegalese Association for Legal Studies and Research, a follow-up group was formed to 'Sell' the idea to African Heads of State. In the following year, on the initiative of president Senghor of Senegal, the Assembly of Heads of State and Government of the Organization of African Unity (OAU) meeting in Monrovia decided to convene a meeting of 'highly qualified experts' to prepare a preliminary draft of a convention that would provide for the promotion and protection of human rights in Africa. A few months later, at a UN seminar in Monrovia which was attended by the representatives of thirty African states, several specific proposals relating to the establishment of a regional commission in Africa were adopted. The draft prepared by African experts was considered at two sessions of the conference of OAU Ministers of Justice held in Gambia in 1980 and 1981. In June 1981, the ACHPR was unanimously adopted at the Nairobi Assembly of Heads of states and Government of the OAU. It became operative in October 1986, and an African Commission began functioning on 2 November 1987.

An eleven member Commission has the task of promoting the rights, ensuring their protection, and interpreting the AFCHPR (Article 45 of the Charter). Its promotional activities include making recommendations to governmental and formulating principles and rules aimed at solving legal problems relating to the enjoyment of the recognized rights upon which governments may base their legislation.

In 1998, the thirty-fourth summit of Head of State and Government of the OAU adopted a protocol to the ACHPR for the establishment of an African Court on Human and People's Rights.

2.2.4 The Arab and Asian Human Rights Systems

The Arab and Asian states have not yet created regional human rights regimes, but some steps have been taken in that direction. In 1968, the Council of the Arab League adopted a resolution relating to the creation of a Permanent Arab Commission on Human Rights. On September 15, 1994, the League of Arab States approved an Arab Charter on human Rights building on earlier texts adopted by regional non-governmental organizations and inter-governmental organizations. The Charter has not yet entered into force. It requires acceptance by seven states before it comes into force. As of January 1, 1998, only Egypt had ratified the Charter. Iraq signed it on February 5, 1996.

In Asia, despite efforts by NGOs and the U.N., governments in the region have been unwilling in general to ratify global human rights instruments, or create a regional human rights system. As of March 1998, for instance, 27 states in the region, including virtually all Pacific Island States, had not signed or ratified either the UN Covenants or the Torture Convention. The vastness of geographical scope of the region, the vast differences in culture, language, political ideology and economic development among nations, the recent economic crisis in Asia, coupled with a lack of a regional organization, constitute serious hurdles to the creation of an Asian- Pacific regional system. However, with ongoing effort by the UN, NGOs and political movements to enhance human rights respect and awareness in the region through

the dismantling of the concept of "Asian values" which states often use to limit human rights, the opportunity to create a regional system may improve in the future.

Please read the following extract to properly appreciate the Asian system

There is yet no regional human rights mechanism in Asia. The idea of drafting an Asian convention has been raised on several occasions at gatherings of nongovernmental organizations and at meetings convened by the United Nations. However, Asian governments remain quite oblivious as to the need to co-operate to better protect the human right, of the people of their region.

One major drawback in Asia is the lacks of an existing regional inter governmental organization, similar to the OAU, the OAS or the Council of Europe that brings together all the countries of the region for political or socio-economic co-operation. There seems to be no such tradition of regional co-operation in Asia. Indeed, there is no discernible common identity among Asian countries. Within the existing subregional alliances such as the League of Arab States, Association of South-East Asian Nations(ASEAN) and South Asian Association for Regional Cooperation (SAARC), a common understanding on human rights does not appear to be even remotely possible, having regard to current human rights records of some of the participating governments.

Another drawback is the fact that Asia encompasses a widely heterogeneous community that extends from Syria and Iraq in the West to the Philippines, Japan and the Islands of the Pacific in the east, from China and Korea in the north to India and Sir Lanka in the south. It is quite unrealistic to think of the regions as a single unit with a common identify. According to Hiroko Yamana in his 'Asia and Human Rights', Asia is a conglomeration of countries with radically different social structures, and diverse religious, philosophical and cultural traditions; their political ideologies, legal systems and degreees of economic development vary greatly; and above all, there is no shared, historical past even from the times of colonialism. On the other hand, there are in Asia threads that can be gathered, foundations of freedom upon which it may be possible to build. The first is a tradition of legalism that stretches from the Indian sub-continents through Sri Lanka and Malaysia, to the Philippines. Long experience with colonial legal systems has given these countries a strong legal profession, a relatively independent judiciary, an ability to utilize the judicial process to assert and vindicate individual freedom. The second is the existing constitutional framework of several countries in the region, such as Hong Kong, India, Kiribati; Nauru, Nepal, Papua New Guinea, Philippines, the Republic of Korea, Solomon Islands, Sri Lanka, Tonga, Tuvalu and Vanuatu. A justifiable Bill of Rights is an integral part of the national constitution in each of these countries. The third is the fact that within Asia there are sub-regional clusters of states that have already ratified both the ICCPR and the ICESCR and thereby demonstrated a willingness to submit to the international human rights regime and its monitoring procedures. The fourth is an abiding spiritual heritage based upon the tenets of the fourth principal religions of the world which sprang forth form the soil of Asia Hinduism, Buddhism, Christianity and Islam.

The purpose of an Asian convention being to better secure to all persons subject to the jurisdiction of the participating states the rights and freedoms recognized in the International Bill of Human Rights, the initiative for the conclusion of such an instrument and for the establishment of an Asian commission and Asian Court of Human Rights ought to be taken by those states that have already accepted the standards contained in the two international covenants. Indeed, as the World Conference on Human Rights declared, regional arrangements are intended to 'reinforce universal human rights standards, as contained in international human right and instruments, and their protection' (Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action). The experience of the other continents ought to convince these states that not only do regional institutions it is possible for each of them to play a relatively more significant role than they possibly could on the world stage.

Chapter three: Systems of Protection for Vulnerable Groups

The aim of human rights instruments is the protection of those vulnerable to violations of their fundamental human rights. There are particular groups who, for various reasons, are weak and vulnerable and consequently require special protection for the equal and effective enjoyment of their human rights. Often human rights instruments set out additional guarantees for persons belonging to these groups; *i.e.*, the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights has repeatedly stressed that the ICESCR is a vehicle for the protection of vulnerable groups within society, requiring states (parties) to extend special protective measures to them and ensure some degree of priority consideration, even where in the face of severe resource constraints.

This part focuses on groups that are especially vulnerable to abuse of human rights; groups that have difficulties defending themselves and are therefore in need of special protection. Twelve groups are discussed: 1) women and girls; 2) children; 3) refugees; 4) internally displaced persons; 5) stateless persons; 6) national minorities; 7) indigenous peoples; 8) migrant workers; 9) disabled persons; 10) elderly persons; 11) HIV positive persons and AIDS victims. Clearly this is not an exhaustive list of persons in need of particular protection, as many other groups not discussed in this part suffer from discrimination and oppression. In the case of women and children special issues of concern are further examined.

3.1 Women's rights

The inferior status of women is entrenched in history, culture and tradition. Through the ages, national and religious institutions have been called upon to justify violations of women's rights to equality and enjoyment of fundamental human rights. Even now, women are subject to discrimination in all stages of life; in income, education, health and participation in society and they are particularly vulnerable to specific violations such as gender-based violence, trafficking and sex discrimination. Various international bodies have been established with the aim of eradicating policies, actions and norms that perpetuate discrimination against women and violate women's human rights.

International Human Rights Standards

After the Second World War, a number of treaties on the protection of women were drafted and both the UN Charter and the International Bill of Human Rights (see *e.g.* Article 3 of ICESCR and Article 3 of ICCPR) proclaim equal rights for men and women and ban discrimination on the grounds of sex. In addition to instruments relating to discrimination in general, a whole series of instruments have been developed specifically for the protection of women, the elimination of discrimination against women and the promotion of equal rights. These serve to create a broad, international framework for future developments and the establishment of general norms for national policy.

One of the most important instruments for the protection of women is the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW), which was adopted by the UNGA on 18 December 1979, following consultations over a five-year period by various working groups, the CSW and the UNGA. It entered into force in 1981. The 30-article Convention sets out internationally accepted principles and measures to achieve equal rights for women everywhere. As of July 2004, 177 states were parties to CEDAW.

The CEDAW reflects the scope of exclusion and restriction suffered by women solely on the basis of their sex. It sets out equal rights for women, regardless of their marital status, in all fields - political, economic, social, cultural and civil and calls for national legislation banning discrimination. It allows for temporary special measures ('affirmative action') to accelerate the

achievement of equality in practice between men and women (Article 4), and actions to modify social and cultural patterns that perpetuate discrimination (Article 5). Other measures aim at equal rights for women in political and public life (Article 7); equal access to education and equal choice of curricula (Article 10); non-discrimination in employment and pay (Article 11); and guarantees of job security in the event of marriage and maternity (Article 11). The Convention underlines equal responsibilities of men with women in the context of family life (Article 16). It also stresses the social services needed - especially childcare facilities - for combining family obligations with work responsibilities and participation in public life (Article 11).

Furthermore, articles of the Convention call for non-discriminatory health services for women, including services related to family planning, and equal legal capacity to that of men. States Parties agree that all contracts and other private instruments that restrict the legal capacity of women'shall be deemed null and void' (Article 15). Special attention is given to the problems of rural women (Article 14).

It should be noted that the effectiveness of the Convention in promoting the rights it contains is significantly undermined by the numerous reservations made by States Parties. Most reservations aim to preserve religious and national institutions that are contrary to the rights guaranteed and many are obviously incompatible with the object and purpose of the Convention.

On 6 October 1999, the General Assembly adopted an Optional Protocol to the CEDAW, which entered into force in 2000. The Protocol establishes a procedure that allows individual women, or groups of women, to submit claims of violations of rights protected under the Convention to the CEDAW Committee. In July 2004, 60 states had ratified the Optional Protocol.

Other universal instruments relating to the rights of women include the UN Convention for the Suppression of the Traffic in Persons and of the Exploitation of the Prostitution of Others (1949), the UN Convention on the Political Rights of Women (1952) and the UN Convention on the Nationality of Married Women (1957). Furthermore, the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court (1998) Article 7 establishes that rape, sexual slavery, enforced prostitution,

forced pregnancy, enforced sterilisation and other forms of sexual violence are each to be considered a crime against humanity.

Supervision

The CEDAW establishes the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women to oversee the implementation of the rights it guarantees (for further analysis of the Convention and Committee see XX). The Committee acts as a monitoring system to oversee the implementation of the Convention. This is done principally by examining reports submitted by states parties, but in 1999, an optional protocol expanded the powers of the Committee to include competence to receive individual complaints. This procedure allows individuals and groups of individuals, alleged victims of violations, to file a complaint against states parties to the protocol. As has been examined, the Optional Protocol also establishes a distinctive feature: an inquiry procedure that allows the Committee to initiate investigations into suspected grave or systematic violations by a state party of the rights contained in the Convention. In this regard the Committee can carry out visits to the country in question.

The Committee has contributed significantly to the interpretation of the obligations imposed by the Convention through its General Recommendations which have dealt with several issues of utmost importance for women such as violence against women (General Recommendation No. 12 - Violence against women); equal remuneration for work of equal value (General Recommendation No. 13 - Equal remuneration for work of equal value); female circumcision (General Recommendation No. 14 - Female circumcision); AIDS (General Recommendation No. 15 - Avoidance of discrimination against women in national strategies for the prevention and control of acquired immunodeficiency syndrome); violence against women (General Recommendation No. 19 - Violence against women); equality in marriage and family relations (General Recommendation No. 21 - Equality in marriage and family relations; women's political rights (General Recommendation No. 23 - Political and Public Life) and women and health (General Recommendation No. 24 - Women and Health).

Although the CEDAW Committee has the competence to receive individual complaints, to date no individual cases have been decided. Individual communications regarding sex-discrimination have, however, been brought to the Human Rights Committee. In the Mauritanian Women Case (*Aumeeruddy Cziffra and 19 other Mauritanian Women v. Mauritius*), the Committee found that an immigration law giving certain status to wives and not husbands made an adverse distinction on the grounds of sex on the right to be free from arbitrary and unlawful interference with the family and was in violation of the ICCPR. Another case brought before the Human Rights Committee dealt with a law that stipulated that married women could not claim continued unemployment benefits unless they proved they were either 'breadwinners' or that they were permanently separated from their husbands. This condition did not apply to married men. The Committee found a violation of Article 26 ICCPR (non-discrimination) on the grounds of sex (*Broeks v. The Netherlands*). Article 26 is 'free-standing', meaning that it can be applied to discriminatory laws, whether or not the subject matter is covered by provisions of the ICCPR. ICCPR (for further analysis see the right to equality and non-discrimination part 3.12).

In addition, mention should be made of the UN Commission on the Status of Women, which has a mandate to consider confidential and public communications on the status of women. During each session, a Working Group of five members, selected with due regard for geographical distribution, gathers in closed meetings to consider communications addressed to the Commission and those pertaining to women received by the Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights, including the replies of governments thereto, with a view to bringing to the attention of the Commission those communications which reveal a consistent pattern of reliably attested injustice and discriminatory practices against women. The Commission may make recommendations to ECOSOC regarding the complaints submitted; what steps are to be taken is decided by ECOSOC.

3.2 The rights of the child

Every child has the right to grow to adulthood in health, peace and dignity. Young children are vulnerable and dependent on adults for their basic needs, such as food, health care and education.

Ensuring the rights of children to health, nutrition, education, and social, emotional and cognitive development is imperative for every country and entails obligations for every government. Ensuring that children enjoy fundamental rights and freedoms not only advances a more equitable society, but fosters a healthier, more literate and, in due course, a more productive population. Clearly, children's rights are closely tied to women's rights; even before being born a child's survival and development is dependent on the mother's health and opportunities. Women are still primary care-givers for children, so ensuring women's rights is positively linked to children's enjoyment of human rights.

Intenational Human Rights Standards

In 1924, the League of Nations adopted a Declaration on the Rights of the Child (Declaration of Geneva), containing five basic principles reflecting the clear consensus that children were in need of special protection. In 1959, the UNGA unanimously adopted another more elaborate Declaration on the Rights of the Child, stating in the preamble that 'the child, by reason of his physical and mental immaturity, needs special safeguards and care, including appropriate legal protection, before as well as after birth'.

Serious work on drafting a convention on the rights of the child began in the final years of the 1970s, resulting in the UNGA adoption of the Convention on the Rights of the Child (CRC) on 20 November 1989. The Convention entered into force on 2 September 1990 and a few years later the majority of the world's states had ratified it. As of July 2004, 192 states had ratified the Convention, making the CRC the most universally accepted human rights treaty ever drafted. The United States and Somalia are the only UN members, which have not ratified the Convention.

The Convention is meant to be all encompassing and sets out civil, political, social, economic and cultural rights for 'every human being below the age of eighteen years, unless under the law

applicable to the child, majority is attained earlier' (Article 1). Four general principles have guided the authors of the Convention:

- The principle of non-discrimination (Article 2);
- \cdot The best interests of the child (Article 3);
- \cdot The right to life, survival and development (Article 6); and
- Respect for the views of the child (Article 12).

Underpinning the CRC are three core concepts; protection, provision and participation: a) protection, against, *e.g.*, violence, abuse, neglect, maltreatment or exploitation (Article 19); b) provision of, *e.g.*, name and nationality (Article 7), social security, adequate standard of living and education (Articles 26 to 28); c) participation through the right of a child to express its views, to freedom of thought and to freedom of association (Articles 12 to 15).

The CRC contains several rights which are also included in other international instruments, but Article 41 provides an explicit 'most favourable conditions clause', stating that nothing in the CRC shall affect any provisions which are more conducive to the realisation of the rights of the child and which may be contained in the law of a state party or international law in force in that state (Article 41). While the Convention sets out many rights already proclaimed in other instruments such as the ICCPR (Articles 23(4) and 24) and ICESCR (Article 10(3)), it is the first instrument to specifically grant child rights and protection as autonomous human beings. The value added by the CRC lies mainly in that:

- The general rights formulated in earlier conventions and the UDHR have been reformulated with a special focus on the rights and needs of the child. Other rights only applicable to children are elaborated, such as the right to adoption, education and contact with parents.
- New elements have been included, such as the provisions regarding parental guidance and regarding international co-operation in the field of handicapped children.
- The CRC covers children in difficult circumstances, such as the separation from parents; abuse and neglect; disabled and refugee children; indigenous children and children

belonging to minorities; sale, trafficking and abduction of children; deprivation of liberty; and children in armed conflict.

Some international instruments contain more protective clauses than the CRC. For instance, Article 32 CRC regarding child labour does not explicitly define a minimum age for admission to employment.ILO 138 stipulates that the minimum age for admission to employment or work shall not be less than 15 years and that developing countries may initially specify a minimum age of 14 years. For employment under specified circumstances (*e.g.*, in the case of health hazards), the minimum age is 18 years in the aforementioned ILO Convention. The CRC generally sets out the minimum age of 18 years (Article 1) so does ILO 128 concerning the Prohibition and Immediate Action for the Elimination of the Worst Forms of Child Labour (1999), which defines persons younger than 18 as children (Article 2).

Similarly, while the CRC forbids recruitment of children below 15 years for the armed forces, Article 77 of Protocol I to the Geneva Conventions of 1949, affords superior protection as regards recruitment of children between 15 and 17 years of age. Here, Article 41 ('most favourable treatment') applies for those states, which have ratified more favourable international instruments. Moreover, states may make declarations when ratifying the CRC, expressing their commitment to apply more protective standards; *e.g.*, by not recruiting children under 18 years of age into the armed forces.

Two optional protocols to the CRC were adopted by the UNGA in 2000. The Optional Protocol to the CRC, on the Involvement of Children in Armed Conflict aims at, *inter alia*, raising the minimum age of individuals taking part in armed conflict to 18 and includes a unique provision regulating the acts of non-state actors, stipulating that non-state forces should not recruit persons under 18. The Second Optional Protocol to the CRC on the Sale of Children, Child Prostitution and Child Pornography stipulates, *inter alia*, that states have to ensure that certain acts against children are criminalised, and that states are obliged to prosecute or extradite offenders under their jurisdiction.

Relevant standards in the regional systems for the protection of children's rights include the Africa Charter on the Rights and Welfare of the Child (1990), setting out in Article 18(3) that 'the State shall [...] ensure protection of the rights of the woman and the child as stipulated in international declarations and conventions'. The American Convention on Human Rights sets out the equal rights of children born in and out of wedlock (Article 17(5)) and that 'every minor child has the right to measures of protection [...] on the part of his family, society, and the state.' Other relevant documents within the American context are, for instance, the Inter-American Convention on the International Return of Children (1989); the Inter-American Convention on Conflict of Laws Concerning the Adoytion of Minors (1984); and the Inter-American Social Charter sets out special protection for children with regard to employment (Article 7) and the right of children and young persons to social, legal and economic protection (Article 17). Other important European conventions on the Adoption of Children (1967); the European Convention on the Legal Status of Children born out of Wedlock (1975); and the European Convention on the Exercise of Children's Rights (1996).

Supervision

The CRC establishes the Committee on the Rights of the Child to supervise the progress made by the states parties in achieving the realisation of their obligations contained in the Convention. The Committee is composed of ten multidisciplinary experts from fields such as international law, medicine, education and sociology, whose main task is to review reports submitted by states on actions they have taken to implement the Convention, as it has no competence to receive individual complaints. The Committee may convene informal regional meetings with the collaboration of UNICEF, to get familiar with the different issues facing children in different regions, as well as establishing dialogues with NGOs and governments. Like other supervisory mechanisms, the Committee adopts General Comments for the interpretation of the rights contained in the CRC. The Committee has recently (2003) adopted General Comment 5 on general measures of implementation of the CRC, outlining the obligations of states in regard to the Convention.

In addition, mention should be made of the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), one of the key organisations concerned with children's rights. UNICEF was created in 1946 in the aftermath of WWII to provide European children facing famine and disease with food, clothing and health care. Today, UNICEF aims to overcome the obstacles that poverty, violence, disease and discrimination place in a child's path. UNICEF's role is specifically mentioned in Article 45 of the CRC. The organisation focuses on improving the child's environment, the improvement of primary health care, water supply, nutrition, education and community development. In recent years, it has invested heavily in programmes for, among other things, immunisation, water supply systems and literacy. UNICEF is a global leader in vaccine supply, reaching 40 percent of the world's children and is paramount in the implementation of the targets set at the 1990 World Summit for Children and the Millennium Development Goals.

3.11 Minority protection regime

3.12 The rights of indigenous people

Indigenous peoples have only after World War II become the subject of international human rights debate. There have been numerous attempts to formulate a definition of the term 'indigenous peoples', but a generally accepted definition has not emerged. Similar to the case of minorities, the diversity of indigenous peoples impedes a definition. The indigenous differ enormously in cultures, religions, and patterns of social and economic organisation, such as the Mayas in Guatemala, the Inuit in Canada, the Masai in Tanzania, and the Naga in India. Some estimated 5,000 indigenous peoples comprising around 300 million persons live in more than 70 countries from the Arctic to the Amazon.

In his Study of the Problem of Discrimination Against Indigenous Populations, the rapporteur of the Sub-Commission, Mr Martinez Cobo, has formulated a definition, which features the most important characteristics:

Indigenous communities, peoples and nations are those which, having a historical continuity with pre-invasion and pre-colonial societies that developed on their territories, consider themselves distinct from other sectors of the societies now prevailing in those territories, or parts of them. They form at present non-dominant sectors of society and are determined to preserve, develop and transmit to future generations their ancestral territories, and their ethnic identity, as basis of their continued existence as peoples, in accordance with their own cultural patterns, social institutions and legal system. (E/CN.4/Sub.2/1986/7/Add.3 (Geneva, 1987).

Looking at Mr Martinez Cobo's definition and the ILO Conventions mentioned below, a number of characteristics can be distinguished:

- Indigenous peoples have a strong affinity with the land they live on. Their environment is essential for their survival as a cultural entity; it is decisive for their social and cultural conditions;
- They are not dominant in their present national society, usually they have little if any influence on state policy;
- They generally speak their own language and have common cultural qualities; and
- Their political/organisational structure is generally of a decentralised nature.

International Human Rights Standards

The first international standard on indigenous populations was ILO 107 (1957), revised and reformulated in 1989 and amended in ILO 169. In this Convention, a definition of indigenous peoples is given in Article 1(1):

a) Tribal peoples in independent countries whose social, cultural and economic conditions distinguish them from other sections of the national community, and whose status is regulated wholly or partially by their own customs or traditions or by special laws or regulations.

b) Peoples in independent countries who are regarded as indigenous on account of their descent from the populations which inhabited the country, or a geographical region to which the country belongs, at the time of conquest or colonisation or the establishment of present state boundaries and who, irrespective of their legal status, retain some or all their own social, economic, cultural and political institutions. Article 1(2) complements Article 1(1) with the following text: 'self-identification as indigenous or tribal shall be regarded as a fundamental criterion for determining the groups to which the provisions of this Convention apply.'

Since the 1970s, the United Nations has been involved in initiatives, frequently in co-operation with the ILO and the OAS, concerning the development of specific standards for the protection of indigenous peoples. In 1982, the UN Working Group on Indigenous Populations was created as a body of the Sub-Commission for the Prevention of Discrimination and Protection of Minorities (now Sub-Commission on the Protection and Promotion of Human Rights). One of its commitments was the drafting of a Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Populations, which was adopted by the Sub-Commission in August 1994. The draft Declaration consists of 45 articles, related to issues such as:

- The right of indigenous populations to self-determination (Article 3);
- The right not to be 'forcibly removed from their lands or territories' (Article 10);
- The right 'to practice and revitalise their cultural traditions and customs' (Article 12);
- The right 'to establish their own media in their own languages' (Article 18); and
- The right 'to determine and develop priorities and strategies for the development or use of their lands, territories and other resources [...]' (Article 30).

The Working Group on the Draft Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, which was established by the UN Commission on Human Rights, has been debating the draft Declaration on an article-by-article basis, with the participation of a number of organisations of indigenous peoples. The Declaration was to be adopted by the UN General Assembly in December 2004 at the end of the decade of the rights of indigenous peoples. However, as of July 2004, there was still no consensus on a draft text; indigenous peoples and governments differ on issues related to the right to self-determination, collective rights and the exclusive right to use natural resources.

Although some instruments, such as the Draft Declaration on Indigenous Rights, ILO 169 and the Convention on the Rights of the Child (Article 30) address indigenous people as a separate group from minorities in general, in General Comment 23, the Human Rights Committee states that indigenous peoples are minorities for the purposes of Article 27 (see above 'National

Minorities'). Other treaty bodies also deal with minorities; for example, the Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination (CERD) has issued a General Recommendation on Indigenous Rights under the CERD (General Recommendation No. 23 - Rights of indigenous peoples).

Supervision

At the UN treaty-based level, the Human Rights Committee has been called upon several times by indigenous persons to decide on possible infringements of their human rights. A number of cases have involved complaints relating to the preservation of culture of indigenous groups, language rights and access to effective remedies. Issues include dispossession by the state of the ancestral land of indigenous groups; legality of rules stipulating loss of membership in an indigenous minority following marriage to a non-indigenous person; forced use of language other than the indigenous language during official court proceedings; indigenous rights to natural resources; and state interference with traditionally indigenous lands.

Three charter-based bodies have been established to deal with issues relating to indigenous peoples at the UN: a) the Special Rapporteur on the Situation of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms of Indigenous People, b) the Working Group on Indigenous Populations, and c) the Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues.

In 2001, the UN Commission on Human Rights appointed a Special Rapporteur on the Situation of the Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms of Indigenous People, Rodolfo Stavenhagen, from Mexico, in response to the growing international concern regarding the marginalization and discrimination against indigenous people worldwide (Resolution 2001/57). The Special Rapporteur has under his mandate addressed a wide range of human rights issues. He has, for instance, formulated a proposal for a definition of indigenous peoples, and addressed the role of intergovernmental and non-governmental organisations, the elimination of discrimination, and basic human rights principles, as well as special areas of action in fields such as health, housing, education, language, culture, social and legal institutions, employment, land, political rights, religious rights and practices, and equality in the administration of justice. His conclusions, proposals and recommendations mark important progress in United Nations consideration of the

human rights problems facing indigenous peoples; many are still under consideration and others have been incorporated into resolutions of the Sub-Commission.

Apart from facilitating and encouraging dialogue between governments and indigenous peoples, the Working Group on Indigenous Populations has a two-fold mandate: a) to review developments pertaining to the promotion and protection of human rights and fundamental freedoms of indigenous peoples; and b) to give attention to the evolution of international standards concerning indigenous rights.

The Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues serves as an advisory body to the Economic and Social Council, with a mandate to discuss indigenous issues relating to economic and social development, culture, the environment, education, health and human rights. The Forum focuses on the following issues: a) to provide advice and recommendations on indigenous issues to the Council, as well as to programmes, funds and agencies of the UN through the Council; b) to raise awareness and promote the integration and co-ordination of activities relating to the indigenous issues within the UN system; and c) to prepare and disseminate information on indigenous issues.

3.13 Protection of disabled persons,

Discrimination against persons with disabilities has a long history and persons with disabilities are regularly excluded from participation in society and denied their human rights. Discrimination against the disabled can take many forms, ranging from limited educational opportunities to more subtle forms, such as segregation and isolation because of physical and social barriers. The effects of discrimination are most clearly felt in the sphere of economic, social and cultural rights, in the fields of, for instance, housing, employment, transport, cultural life and access to public services. The obstacles the disabled face in enjoying their human rights are often the result of exclusion, restriction, or preference, and, for instance, when the disabled do not have access to reasonable accommodation on the basis of their limitations, their enjoyment or exercise of human rights may be severely restricted. In order for disabled persons

to freely enjoy their fundamental human rights, numerous cultural and social barriers have to be overcome; changes in values and increased understanding at all levels of society has to be promoted, and those social and cultural norms that perpetuate myths about disability have to be put to rest.

International Human Rights Standards

In general, international human rights instruments protect the rights of persons with disabilities through the principles of equality and non-discrimination. The UDHR refers expressly to disabled persons, stipulating in Article 25 that 'everyone has the right to security in the event of [...] disability', but its derivatives, the ICCPR and ICESCR, do not contain any explicit reference to persons with disabilities. Many provisions of the Covenants are, however, of direct relevance for ensuring equal opportunities and the full participation of persons with disabilities in society; for example, Article 6 (respecting the right to life) and Article 7 (respecting the right to freedom from torture and other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment and punishment) under the ICCPR and Article 2 (the general non-discrimination norm) under the ICESCR. Article 23 of the Convention on the Rights of the Child specifically discusses the rights of handicapped and disabled children.

The Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights has adopted a General Comment on persons with disabilities.General Comment No. 5 - Persons with disabilities is particularly important as it establishes that disability falls under the heading, 'other status' in Article 2 ICESCR and is therefore regarded by the Committee as a prohibited ground for discrimination. Similarly, the Committee on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women has adopted General Recommendation No. 18 - Disabled women .

Several international and regional human rights instruments contain specific provisions concerning persons with disabilities.

Under the auspices of the AU, the African Charter of Human and Peoples' Rights stipulates in Article 18(4) that the disabled shall be entitled to special measures of protection and the African

Charter on the Rights and Welfare of the Child discusses the rights of handicapped children in Article 13.

The European Social Charter (revised) stipulates that disabled persons have the right to independence, social integration and participation in the life of the community' (Part I No. 15) and sets out steps that states shall undertake to this end, such as promoting access to employment and education (Article 15).

Article 6 of the Protocol of San Salvador stipulates: 'States Parties undertake to adopt measures to make the right to work fully effective [...] in particular, those directed to the disabled' and Article 9 sets out the right to social security in case of disability. Moreover, provisions in human rights instruments protecting members of vulnerable groups are applicable to disabled persons. Two international conventions dealing directly with the rights of disabled persons have been drafted. One is the Inter-American Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Persons with Disabilities 1999) (see 2.3), the only regional convention of its kind in the world. States parties undertake, *inter alia*, to adopt necessary measures to eliminate discrimination against persons with disabilities; to ensure access to facilities and services; to provide services to ensure optimal level of independence and quality of life for persons with disabilities; and to implement educational campaigns to increase public awareness so that discrimination can be eliminated, promoting respect for and co-existence with persons with disabilities (Article 3). Furthermore, states parties undertake to collaborate and co-operate to eliminate discrimination (Article 4) and to promote participation of organisations of persons with disabilities in the measures and policies adopted to implement the Convention (Article 5). The other Convention is ILO 159 concerning Vocational Rehabilitation and Employment (Disabled Persons) (1983). It sets out, inter alia, principles of vocational rehabilitation and employment policies aimed at equal opportunity and measures for action at the national level to be taken for the development of rehabilitation and employment services for disabled persons.

Specific non-binding instruments have also been adopted at the international level addressing the rights of disabled persons. These instruments include the Declaration of the Rights of Mentally Retarded Persons (UNGA Resolution 26/2856 (XXVI), 1971); the Declaration on the Rights of

Disabled Persons _ (UNGA Resolution 30/3447 (XXX), 1975); the World Programme of Action concerning Disabled Persons (UNGA Resolution 37/52, 1982); the Tallinn Guidelines for Action on Human Resources Development in the Field of Disability (UNGA Resolution 44/70, 1990); the Principles for the Protection of Persons with Mental Illness and the Improvement of Mental Health Care (UNGA Resolution 46/119, 1991); ILO Recommendations concerning Vocational Rehabilitation of the Disabled (1955) and concerning Vocational Rehabilitation and Employment (Disabled Persons) (1983); the Sundberg Declaration on Actions and Strategies for Education, Prevention and Integration (1981); the Salamanca Statement on Principles, Policy and Practice in Special Needs Education (1994); and the Standard Rules on the Equalisation of Opportunities for Persons with Disabilities (UNGA Resolution 48/96, 1993).

A World NGO Summit on Disability was held in Beijing in March 2000, resulting in the Beijing Declaration on the Rights of People with Disabilities in the New Century. Through this Declaration, the NGOs in the field of disability lent their moral authority to the idea of a disability-specific human rights treaty.

In 2001, in the wake of the Beijing Summit, the General Assembly established an Ad Hoc Committee to consider proposals for a convention on disability. The aim is a comprehensive and integral international convention to promote and protect the rights and dignity of persons with disabilities, based on the work done in the fields of social development, human rights and non-discrimination (UNGA Resolution 56/168, 2001). The Committee is at the first stages of work and held its second session in June 2003, assisted by the participation of several prominent global NGOs in the field of disability such as: Disabled Persons International (DPI); Inclusion International; Rehabilitation International (RI); World Blind Union (WBU); World Federation of the Deaf (WFD); World Network of Users and Survivors of Psychiatry (WNUSP); and World Federation of the Deaf-Blind (WFDB).

Towards a Human Rights Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities

In December 2001, the Mexican government put forward Resolution 56/168 in the United Nations General Assembly. The resolution called for consideration of a Convention on the human rights of persons with disabilities and further sought the immediate formation of an Ad-

Hoc Committee. This Committee would 'consider proposals for a comprehensive and integral international convention to protect and promote the rights and dignity of persons with disabilities'. Resolution 56/168 passed without any vote. The Committee held its first session at UN Headquarters in New York from 29 July to 9 August 2002. In its initial report to the General Assembly, the Committee recommended the adoption of a resolution that would invite 'regional commissions and inter-governmental organisations, as well as non governmental organisations to make available to the Ad Hoc Committee suggestions and possible elements, to be considered in proposals for a Convention'. The General Assembly subsequently passed Resolution 56/510, respecting the accreditation and participation of NGOs in the Committee, and Decision 56/474, which 'requests the Secretary-General to make, as needed and within existing resources, reasonable efforts to facilitate the participation by persons with disabilities in the meetings and deliberations of the Ad Hoc Committee [...]'

Supervision

In 1994, the position of Special Rapporteur on Disability of the United Nations Commission for Social Development was established. The task of the Special Rapporteur is to monitor implementation of the Standard Rules on the Equalisation of Opportunities for Persons with Disabilities and to advance the status of people with disabilities throughout the world. Furthermore, under the auspices of the UN, the Division for Social Policy and Development of the United Nations Secretariat is the focal point on matters relating to disability. The Division deals, *inter alia*, with the promotion, monitoring and evaluation of the implementation of the World Programme of Action and the Standard Rules; it prepares publications, promotes national and international programmes and works closely with and supports governments and NGOs in the field of disability. The Division also publishes the UN Enable, the United Nations Persons with Disabilities website.

One of the major development goals of the United Nations is promoting the quality of life of the disadvantaged, including people with disabilities. The year 1982 was the UN International Year of Disabled Persons and towards its end the World Programme of Action concerning Disabled Persons (WPA) was adopted by the General Assembly. The WPA is a global strategy to enhance disability prevention, rehabilitation and equalisation of opportunities with the aim of full

participation of persons with disabilities in social life and national development. The WPA emphasises the need to approach disability from a human rights perspective and that persons with disabilities should not be treated in isolation, but within the context of normal community services. The WPA provided analysis of principles, concepts and definitions relating to disabilities and an overview of the world situation regarding persons with disabilities, setting out recommendations for action at the national, regional and international levels.

In order to provide a time frame for the implementation of the World Programme of Action, the General Assembly proclaimed 1983-1992 the United Nations Decade of Disabled Persons. One of the major results of the Decade was the adoption of the Standard Rules on the Equalisation of Opportunities for Persons with Disabilities . Although not legally binding, the rules summarise the message of the WPA, cover all aspects of the life of disabled persons and set out the moral and political commitment of states to take action to attain equal opportunities for the disabled; the rules serve as policy instrument and as a foundation for economic and technical co-operation. The International Day of Disabled Persons is 3 December each year. The aim is to promote an understanding of disability issues and mobilise support for the dignity, rights and well-being of persons with disabilities. Similarly, the United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Western Asia (ESCWA) has launched the Arab Decade for People with Disabilities from 2003-2012.

3.14 Elderly Persons

Many regions have in recent years witnessed a drastic improvement in life expectancy, resulting in an increasing number of persons surviving into the advanced stages of life. One out of every ten persons is now 60 years or older. By 2050, it is estimated that one out of five will be 60 years or older and by 2150 one out of three persons. The majority of older persons are women and striking differences exist between regions; for instance, one out of five Europeans is 60 years or older, but only one in twenty Africans. It is only recently that the attention of the world community has been drawn to the social, economic and political issues related to this phenomenon of ageing on a massive scale. As the world's population ages and the traditional role of the family as the main support of older people weakens, the elderly are increasingly vulnerable to abuse and various forms of negative stereotyping and discrimination. They often have limited access to health care and face specific age related restrictions in many fields, such as job discrimination in hiring, promotion and dismissal. Furthermore, as many industrialised countries struggle with the task of adapting their social and economic policies to the ageing of their populations, even in affluent societies many older persons live in conditions of poverty. In developing countries with limited social security systems, the emigration of the younger members has left the elderly, traditionally cared for by members of their families, to fend for themselves. This is especially true in the case of older women who live longer than men do and more commonly face poverty and isolation.

International Human Rights Standards

In general, the rights stipulated for the elderly in international instruments stem from the principles of dignity and non-discrimination. Neither the UDHR nor its derivatives, the ICCPR and ICESCR, contain any explicit reference to older persons, but many provisions of these instruments are of direct relevance to ensuring equal opportunities and the full participation of the elderly. Although the rights of older persons are not referred to in the Bill of Rights, the ICESCR Committee expressly addresses the economic, social and cultural rights of older persons in General Comment No. 6 - The economic, social and cultural rights of older persons . In the General Comment, the Committee calls on states parties, *inter alia*: to pay particular attention to older women as they have often not engaged in a remunerated activity entitling them to an oldage pension; to institute measures to establish general regimes of compulsory old-age insurance; and to establish social services to support the whole family when there are elderly people at home and assist elderly persons living alone or elderly couples wishing to remain at home. The General Comment also sets out that, even though not specified as a prohibited ground for discrimination in the Convention, 'other status' could be interpreted as applying to age. It is

beyond doubt that the principle of non-discrimination enshrined in the ICESCR, ICCPR, CERD and CEDAW prohibits discrimination on the grounds of age.

Three regional human rights instruments expressly mention older persons as a group in need of special protection. In Article 18(4), the African Charter stipulates that the aged shall have the right to measures of special protection in keeping with their physical or moral needs. The Protocol to the African Charter on the Rights of Women in Africa sets out special protection for elderly women. Article 17 Protocol San Salvador stipulates that everyone has the right to special protection in old age and calls upon states to progressively provide suitable facilities, food and medical care for elderly persons that lack them; to undertake work programmes to enable the elderly to take part in productive activity; and to foster establishment of social organisations aimed at improving the quality of life of the elderly. The Revised European Social Charter sets out the right to social protection for the elderly in Article 23. According to this provision states parties undertake to adopt measures: a) to enable the elderly to remain full members of society for as long as possible by providing adequate resources and information about available services; b) to enable the elderly to choose their life-style freely and live independently for as long as possible by providing adequate housing and services; and c) to guarantee support for older persons living in institutions. In addition, the Charter on Fundamental Rights of the European Union (2000) sets out the rights of the elderly 'to lead a life of dignity and independence and to participate in social and cultural life' (Article 25).

Although no convention expressly dealing with the rights of the elderly has been adopted - as in the case of women and children - a number of steps towards the improvement of the lives of older persons have been taken under the auspices of the United Nations.

In 1982, the World Assembly on Ageing, held in Austria, adopted the Vienna International Plan of Action on Ageing, the first international instrument on ageing. It was endorsed by UNGA Resolution 37/51. The Plan promotes international co-operation to strengthen the capacities of states to contend with the ageing of populations and to address the developmental potential and dependency needs of older persons. It addresses research, training and education and makes recommendations in the following areas: a) education; b) health and nutrition; c) family; d)

protection of elderly consumers; e) income security and employment; f) housing and environment; and g) social welfare. The Plan is to be implemented within the framework of other international standards and human rights instruments.

In 1991 in pursuance of the Plan of Action, the General Assembly adopted the United Nations Principles for Older Persons (UNGA Resolution 46/91) encouraging states to adopt certain principles relating to the status of the elderly, promoting independence, participation, care, selffulfilment and dignity of elderly persons. *Independence*: includes access to adequate food, water, shelter, clothing and health care, as well as the opportunity for remunerated work and access to education and training. Participation: aims for older persons to actively participate in the formulation and implementation of policies that affect their well-being, to share their knowledge with younger generations. Furthermore, the elderly should have the right to form movements and associations. Care: entails that the elderly should benefit from family and health care and that when residing in care or treatment facilities their human rights and fundamental freedoms shall be respected. Self-fulfilment: entails that educational, cultural, spiritual and recreational resources should be available for older persons to be able to pursue opportunities for the full development of their potential. Dignity: aims for the elderly to live in dignity and security and be free of exploitation and physical or mental abuse; to be treated fairly, regardless of age, gender, racial or ethnic background, disability, financial situation or any other status; and be valued independently of their economic contribution.

In 1992, the General Assembly adopted the Proclamation on Ageing. The Proclamation, *inter alia*, urges support for older women and that they be recognised for their contributions to society; older men are encouraged to develop capacities, which they may have been prevented from developing during breadwinning years; families should be supported in providing care and all family members encouraged to co-operate in care-giving.

In 2002, the Second World Assembly on Ageing adopted a Second International Plan of Action on Ageing . This plan includes a number of central themes setting out goals, objectives and commitments. These include: a) the full realisation of all human rights and fundamental freedoms of all older persons; b) the achievement of secure ageing; c) empowerment of older persons; d) provision of opportunities for individual development; e) ensuring the full enjoyment of all human rights, and the elimination of all forms of violence and discrimination against older persons; f) gender equality among older persons; g) recognition of the importance of families; h) provision of health care, support and social protection for older persons; and k) recognition of the situation of ageing indigenous persons.

Supervision

The protection of elderly persons is a topic that is increasingly being addressed by different treaty bodies. Several supervisory bodies are progressively developing the application of their respective instruments to afford protection to this group and now concluding observations frequently offer recommendations on the protection of elderly persons (see, for example, the Concluding Observations of the CESCR on Jamaica E/2002/22 (2001); CEDAW Committee on Iceland A/57/38 (2002) and CERD Committee on Iraq CERD/C/304/Add. 28 (1997)).

The UN Commission for Social Development is responsible for follow-up and appraisal of the implementation of the 2002 International Plan of Action on Ageing. The Commission is to integrate the different dimensions of population ageing as contained in the International Plan of Action in its work. The United Nations conferences and special sessions of the General Assembly provide the context in which the specific contributions and concerns of older persons shall be expressed.

To follow up on the International Plan of Action and the Principles for Older Persons the UNGA proclaimed 1999 the International Year of Older Persons. The theme was 'A society for all ages', containing four dimensions: individual lifelong development, multigenerational relationships, the inter-relationship between population ageing and development, and the situation of older persons. The International Year raised awareness, and fostered research and policy action worldwide, including efforts to integrate the issue of ageing into all sectors of public life.

3.15 Refugees

The problem of the world's refugees and internally displaced persons is one of the most complex issues facing the world community today. Much discussion is taking place, both at the United Nations and in other fora, to improve protection for these particularly vulnerable groups.

Throughout history, people have fled their homes to escape persecution. In the aftermath of World War II, the international community included the right to seek and enjoy asylum in the 1948 Universal Declaration of Human Rights. In 1950, the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) was created to protect and assist refugees, and, in 1951, the United Nations adopted the Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees (1951 Convention), which is the cornerstone document of refugee protection. In addition, the Protocol relating to the Status of Refugees (the 1967 Protocol) helped to widen the definition of a refugee, as it lifted the time and geographic limits found in the 1951 Convention.

While the international community has generally responded swiftly and generously to refugee crises in the past 50 years, some worrying trends are emerging. Countries that once generously opened their doors to refugees have largely regressed in their commitment to protect refugees by adopting adversarial and restrictive policies. Real and perceived abuses of asylum systems, as well as irregular movements, have led to the refusal of entry to refugees and expulsion from asylum countries. Those who reach a potential country of asylum are often turned away or sent back without having been able to apply for asylum.

The majority of today's refugees are from Africa and Asia. Current refugee movements frequently take the form of mass exoduses rather than individual flights. Eighty percent of today's refugees are women and children and the causes of flight now includse natural or ecological disasters and extreme poverty. As a result, many of today's refugees do not fit the definition contained in the 1951 Convention. In 2001, there were an estimated 14.9 million refugees in the world people who had crossed an international border to seek safety and at least 22 million internally displaced persons (IDPs) who had been uprooted within their own countries.

Who is a refugee?

According to the 1951 Convention relating to the Status of Refugees, a refugee is someone who:

- Has a well-founded fear of persecution because of his/her
 - o Race
 - o Religion
 - o Nationality
 - Membership in a particular group, or
 - Political opinion;
- Is outside his/her country of origins; and
- Is unable or unwilling to avail him/herself of the protection of that country, or to return there, for fear of persecution.

The African Union Convention Governing the Specific Aspects of Refugee Problems in Africa, a regional treaty adopted in 1969, added to the definition found in the 1951 Convention to include a more objectively based consideration, namely:

 Any person compelled to leave his/her country owing to external aggression, occupation, foreign domination or event seriously disturbing public order in either part or whole of his/her country of origin or nationality. (Article 1(2)).

In 1984, a colloquium of Latin American Government representatives and jurists adopted the Cartagena Declaration. Like the AU Convention, the declaration adds a more objectively based consideration to the 1951 Convention refugee definition to include:

• Persons who flee their countries 'because their lives, safety or freedom have been threatened by generalised violence, foreign aggression, internal conflicts, massive violation of human rights or other circumstances which have seriously disturbed public order'. (Conclusion 3).

International Human Rights Standards

The 1951 Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees, as amended by the 1967 Protocol Relating to the Status of Refugees, is the most important international instrument protecting the rights of refugees. According to Article 1(a) of the Convention, a refugee is:

[A]ny person who owing to well-founded fear of being persecuted for reasons of race, religion, nationality, membership of a particular social group or political opinion, is outside the country

of his nationality and is unable or, owing to such fear, is unwilling to avail himself of the protection of that country; or who, not having a nationality and being outside the country of his former habitual residence, is unable or, owing to such fear, is unwilling to return to it.

The 1951 Convention specifies who is a refugee (see textbox), and what rights a refugee has, once she/he has been recognised as such. In Article 33, the principle of *non-refoulement* is established. This principle forbids states to expel or return a refugee, in any manner whatsoever, to the frontiers of territories where his/her life or freedom would be threatened on account of race, religion, nationality, membership of a particular social group or political opinion (the *non-refoulement* principle also encompasses non-rejection at the border and can oblige a state to accept a person on its territory). It does not oblige a state to grant the person asylum. The refugee may be expelled to another state where his life and freedom will not be in danger, provided that state is prepared to admit him. Granting of asylum may, however, be the result of *non-refoulement*, if no other state is prepared to admit the refugee.

The 1951 Convention also includes 'exclusion clauses', which stem from the understanding that the commission of some types of crimes justifies the exclusion of the perpetrators from the benefits of refugee status. Under Article 1(f), refugee status under the 1951 Convention does not apply to persons with regard to whom there are 'serious reasons' for considering they have committed the following crimes: a) Crimes against peace, war crimes and crimes against humanity; b) Serious non-political acts; and c) Acts contrary to the purposes and principles of the United Nations. Thus, if one of the exclusion clauses applies, the claimant cannot be a Convention refugee, whatever the other merits of his or her claim.

Often the recognition as refugee on the basis of Article 1(A) of the 1951 Convention will coincide with the granting of asylum, according to national law. In general, asylum will not be granted if the person concerned can enjoy protection elsewhere, or if there are compelling reasons of public order not to admit her/him. Although the definition of refugee in Article 1(A) of the 1951 Convention is formulated in a general way and can therefore be applied broadly, it is limited by the fact that the well-founded fear of persecution must be based on the five grounds mentioned in Article 1(A). However, there can be situations in which it would be inhumane to

return someone who does not fulfil the criteria for refugee status under the Refugee Convention. This can be the result of general circumstances in the country of origin such as, for example, war and hunger. It can also be related to individual circumstances such as the risk of torture or cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment upon return. Granting of asylum may therefore imply both admission as refugee on the basis of the 1951 Convention and permission to stay on humanitarian grounds.

In addition to the 1951 Convention and the 1967 Protocol, two regional instruments have been adopted expanding the definition found in the 1951 Convention, the OAU Convention Governing the Specific Aspects of Refugee Problems in Africa (1969) and the Cartagena Declaration on Refugees (1984) (see textbox above).

In addition to international and regional refugee conventions, international human rights law and international humanitarian law play a significant role in guaranteeing international protection of refugees.

Article 7 <u>ICCPR</u> has been interpreted to prohibit return to situations where the person might suffer torture or other cruel, inhuman and degrading treatment or punishment. Moreover, nearly all of ICCPR's provisions apply to non-citizens.

Article 3 of CAT provides for protection from *refoulement* in situations where there is a substantial risk of torture. The *non-refoulement* provision under CAT is absolute. Unlike the *non-refoulement* provision of the 1951 Convention it is not linked to cases where a person fears harm on account of race, religion, nationality, membership of a particular social group, or political opinion and it does not provide for exceptions based on national security. This means that the prohibition of return applies to all persons regardless of their past criminal conduct.

<u>CRC</u> applies to all children without discrimination, including child refugees and asylum seekers. CRC specifically stipulates that every child seeking refugee status has a right to protection and humanitarian assistance in the enjoyment of the rights set forth in the Convention, as well as other conventions to which the state is party.

Regional human rights conventions also establish important safeguards for refugees. For example, Article 3 of European Convention has been interpreted by the European Court as prohibiting return of persons where there is a risk of torture while Article 22(7) of the American Convention recognises the right to seek and be granted asylum and Article 22(8) prohibits *refoulement*.

In humanitarian law, Article 44 of the Fourth Genena Convention Relative to the Protection of Civilian Persons in Time of War deals specifically with refugees and displaced persons. Moreover, the 1977 Additional Protocol which one provides that refugees and stateless persons are to be protected under the provisions of Parts I and III of the Fourth Geneva Convention.

Supervision

UNHCR was created to provide international protection to refugees and to find durable solutions to refugee problems. These functions include securing legal and practical protection to refugees with and through governments, overseeing the mobilisation and co-ordination of resources for the well-being and survival of refugees and encouraging conditions in conflict zones that will allow refugees to return voluntarily to their countries of origin. Both the 1951 Convention (Article 35) and its 1967 Protocol (Article II) bestow upon UNHCR responsibility for supervising implementation by states. The Convention and Protocol specifically establish the obligation of states to provide UNHCR with information on the condition of refugees, implementation of the Convention and Protocol and relevant national law. They do not, however, provide for individual complaints or a state reporting procedure. In addition to providing protection to refugees, UNHCR's mandate has been expanded to include persons in refugee-like situations, internally displaced persons, stateless persons, and returnees (refugees who have returned to their own countries).

At the international level, UNHCR promotes accession by states to international agreements relating to refugees and monitors government compliance with international refugee law. To this end, the Global Consultations on International Protection were launched in 2001. The

Consultations were aimed at promoting improved understanding of the 1951 Convention, its strengths, limitations and potential. The process was designed along three tracks: a) Ministerial Meetings of states parties to the Convention; b) Roundtable meetings with experts; and c) Policy formulation in the framework of the Executive Committee (ExCom). These consultations resulted in the establishment of the Agenda for Protection, a series of guidelines for UNHCR, governments and humanitarian organisations to strengthen worldwide refugee protection.

In the field, UNHCR staff work to protect refugees through a wide range of activities, including emergency response; relocating refugee camps away from border areas to improve safety; ensuring that refugee women have access to food distribution and social services; reuniting separated families; providing information to refugees on conditions in their home country so that they can make decisions about return; documenting a refugee's need for resettlement to a third country of asylum; visiting detention centres; and giving advice to governments on draft refugee laws, policies and practices.

UNHCR seeks long-term and durable solutions to refugee problems by helping refugees return voluntarily to their home countries if the situation allows it; monitoring the treatment and promoting the reintegration of returnees after repatriation has taken place; helping refugees integrate in their countries of asylum and resettling refugees to third countries when needed.

Given the general nature of UNHCR's supervisory role, international human rights supervisory mechanisms have also played a key role in protecting the rights of refugees and asylum seekers. Both the Committee Against Torture and the Human Rights Committee constitute crucial safeguards for refugees and asylum seekers in danger of being returned to face torture or cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment. Under its individual complaint procedure, the Committee Against Torture has developed a broad jurisprudence concerning the principle of *non-refoulement* under Article 3 of CAT and has provided important protection to refugees and asylum seekers who risked being deported to countries where they would be exposed to torture. The Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights and the CEDAW, CRC and <u>CERD</u> Committees have all played an important role in refugee protection by raising issues relating to refugees when examining state reports.

3.16 Stateless person

Nationality and citizenship are fundamental elements of human security because they provide people with a sense of belonging and identity. They provide a legal basis for the exercise of many human rights. Persons without a nationality are in many countries denied numerous human rights that citizens take for granted, like access to schools and medical care, ownership of property, marriage and foundation of a family and enjoyment of legal protection.

Nationality is not granted indiscriminately, but is normally based on factors such as the place of birth of a person, parentage or the relationship a person has established with a state through, for example, marriage to a national or long-term residence there.

A stateless person is the person who is not considered a national of any state under operation of its law. Statelessness occurs for many different reasons. A person may loose her/his nationality and is not able to acquire a new one because of extended stay abroad or because of marriage or dissolution of marriage to a person of a different nationality (women are particularly vulnerable). In the case of children, if they are born to stateless persons or refugees, or in some cases out of wedlock, they may be denied citizenship. Some individuals may find themselves stateless because of faulty administrative practices, such as excessive fees or the failure to be notified of registration or other obligations. Children who are not properly registered at birth can easily become stateless, as they are not able to show where or to whom they were born.

Situations of statelessness involving a large number of persons in a particular society may arise in a number of different circumstances. Governments may change their nationality laws and deny certain groups nationality under the new laws in order to marginalise them or to facilitate their expulsion from the state's territory. The transfer of territory or sovereignty or the disintegration and formation of new states may leave thousands of people stateless or with disputed claims of citizenship. Historically, refugees and stateless persons have been linked and both have received protection and assistance from international refugee organisations. After World War II, however, the needs of refugees became dominant and when the 1951 Refugee Convention was drafted, a protocol relating the status of stateless persons, attached to the draft convention, was postponed for consideration at a later date. International conventions on statelessness were adopted in 1954 and 1961, but because the international community did not pay much attention to statelessness at that time, few countries acceded to these treaties. UNHCR was entrusted with certain responsibilities with regard to stateless persons, but for many years the organisation devoted little time, resources, and efforts to statelessness.

With increasing numbers of stateless people around the world and the implications this may have for national and regional security, the international community is revisiting international instruments that deal with issues relating to nationality and citizenship. The end of the Cold War led to a profound change in international relations and forced the issue of statelessness onto the agenda of the international community. These changes included the disintegration of several states, the rise of ethnic consciousness in many parts of the world and the fear of large-scale population movements involving stateless persons. This prompted UNHCR and other humanitarian organisations to address the issue of statelessness in a more urgent and systematic manner, by trying to avert situations that can lead to statelessness, protecting stateless persons and trying to find adequate solutions to their problems. Ultimately, however, the problems of statelessness and disputed nationality can only be effectively addressed by states themselves.

Internaional Human Rights Standards

The two primary international conventions on statelessness are the Convention relating to the Status of Stateless Persons (1954) and the Convention on the Reduction of Statelessness (1961). Article 1 Convention relating to the Status of Stateless Persons defines a stateless person as a person not considered a national (or citizen) under the law of any state. In addition to providing a definition to statelessness, the Convention seeks to improve the status of stateless persons and helps ensure that stateless persons enjoy fundamental rights and freedoms without discrimination. It regulates, *inter alia*, the legal rights of stateless persons, their access to work and welfare and urges states to facilitate their assimilation and naturalisation.

The Convention on the Reduction of Statelessness defines ways in which persons who would otherwise be stateless can acquire or retain nationality through an established link with a state through birth or descent. It deals with cases of statelessness resulting from, *inter alia*, a change of civil status, residence abroad, or the voluntary renunciation of nationality. It also stipulates that children should be granted the nationality of the state party in which a parent had citizenship. The Convention prohibits states parties from depriving people of their nationalities on racial, ethnic, religious, or political grounds. The Convention does not, however, oblige states to grant nationality to stateless persons who enter their territory, unless those persons already have strong connections with the state and do not have any chance of acquiring a nationality elsewhere.

Other international instruments dealing with the right to nationality include, *inter alia*, Article 15 Universal Declaration on Human Rights, which stipulates the right to a nationality and the right not to be arbitrarily deprived of nationality and Article 5 of CERD, which seeks, with respect to the right to nationality: 'To prohibit and to eliminate racial discrimination in all its forms and to guarantee the right to everyone, without distinction as to race, colour, or nationality or ethnic origin, to equality before the law.'

Other international instruments deal specifically with the right to a nationality with regard to women and children. These include the Convention on the Nationality of Married Women (1957), CEDAW (Article 9) and CRC (Articles 7 and 8). The instruments concerning women seek to ensure that they enjoy equal rights to acquire, change or retain nationality, while those covering children deal mainly with the right of children to be registered and to acquire a nationality from birth.

At the regional level, the American Convention on Human Rights (1969) and the European Convention on Nationality (1997) underline the need of every person to have a nationality, and seek to clarify the rights and responsibilities of states in ensuring individual access to a nationality.

Supervision

Similar to the situation of IDPs, there is today no specific body that deals with the problem of statelessness, or that supervises the 1954 and 1961 statelessness conventions. In order to fill this vacuum, upon the entry into force of the Convention on the Reduction of Statelessness in 1975, UNHCR was provisionally asked to assume the responsibilities foreseen in Article 11 Convention on the Reduction of Statelessness 'of a body to which a person claiming benefit of this convention may apply for the examination of his claim and for assistance in presenting it to the appropriate authority'. However, no mention was made of UNHCR's competence with regard to the Convention relating to the Status of Stateless Persons and UNHCR was not asked to assume any wider responsibilities regarding statelessness issues.

In recent years, the international community has faced an increased number of stateless persons and the security issues arising with them. This led the High Commissioner's Executive Committee and the UN General Assembly to adopt and endorse the Conclusion on the Prevention and Reduction of Statelessness and the Protection of Stateless Persons (Resolution 50/152). In addition, UNHCR was requested to 'actively promote accession' to the 1954 and 1961 Conventions on statelessness, 'as well as to provide relevant technical and advisory services pertaining to the preparation and implementation of national legislation'.

To this end, UNHCR has taken a number of practical steps to strengthen its efforts with regard to stateless persons. It has appointed a legal expert on the problem of statelessness, and has actively assisted governments in the preparation and implementation of nationality legislation while encouraging them to accede to the 1954 and 1961 statelessness conventions. In addition, UNHCR has strengthened its working relationship with a number of organisations involved in this issue such as the UNHCHR, the Council of Europe and the OSCE.

3.17 Migrant workers

Throughout the ages, people have been leaving their homelands in search of work elsewhere. Mobility of labour has been the foundation for economic development in many societies and has contributed to growth and prosperity in both host and source countries. Migrant workers play a vital role in the global economy, and today, one human being out of 35 is an international migrant. Unfortunately, the growing number of migrants due to the increased mobility of people from poorer areas to those better off is a cause of rising tension, particularly in the receiving countries. One problem is the perception of migrant workers as temporary guests, who will eventually go back 'home', when in reality they settle and become permanent members of society, entitled to rights as other citizens.

Traditionally, poverty and the inability to earn a decent living are major reasons behind migration from one country to another, as well as war, civil strife, insecurity and persecution arising from discrimination. But migrant workers and their families frequently find themselves in situations of vulnerability in their host countries, in part due to their living and working outside of their state of origin. They are aliens and may, because of that status alone, be targets of suspicion and hostility and, as they are frequently poor, they share the economic, social and cultural handicaps of marginalised groups in the host country. Migrant workers often face discrimination in terms of employment: exclusion from certain jobs, difficulty in access to vocational training and contracts that are inferior to those of nationals. Migrant workers are also known to have been subject to inferior working conditions, they have been denied the right to participate in trade unions and they are often assigned jobs that nationals do not want. Migrant workers are exceptionally vulnerable when they are recruited and employed illegally, often with criminal elements involved. Illegal immigrants are more often than not targets of exploitation.

They are at the mercy of their employers, forced to accept abhorrent conditions, in the worst cases amounting to modern day slavery or forced labour, incapable of seeking justice for fear of expulsion from the host country. Furthermore, children of migrants often need special measures to help them adapt to a foreign language and customs, especially when it comes to education in a new language.

Many receiving countries are conflicted as regards migration; on the one hand considerations for the protection of human rights and humanitarian issues come into play, while, on the other, influences of increasing nationalism, racism and xenophobia weigh heavily. Unfortunately, the trend in policy of many receiving countries is gradually veering away from human rights protection towards the protection of borders.

Interantional Human Rights Standards

Historically, the rights of migrant workers have fallen under general diplomatic protection, based on the international law governing the treatment of non-nationals. This system has gradually given way to specific standards and norms, articulated in international and national instruments, and today there is a large body of instruments that deal directly or indirectly with the rights of migrant workers.

In 1990, the UNGA adopted the International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families . The main thrust of the Convention is that persons who qualify as migrant workers under its provisions are entitled to enjoy their human rights regardless of their legal status. The Convention does not create new rights for migrants, but aims at guaranteeing equality of treatment and the same working conditions for migrants and nationals, as well as guaranteeing the rights of migrants to maintain ties to their countries of origin. The Convention aims at:

- Preventing inhumane living and working conditions, physical and sexual abuse and degrading treatment (Articles 10, 11, 25, 54).
- Guaranteeing migrants' rights to freedom of thought, expression and religion (Articles 12, 13).
- Guaranteeing migrants' access to information on their rights (Articles 33, 37).
- Ensuring their right to legal equality. This implies that migrant workers are subject to correct procedures, have access to interpreting services and are not sentenced to disproportionate penalties such as expulsion (Articles 16-20, 22).
- Guaranteeing migrants' equal access to educational and social services (Articles 27-28, 30, 43-45, 54).
- Ensuring that migrants have the right to participate in trade unions (Articles 26, 40).

- Ensuring that migrants can return to their country of origin if they wish to, that they are allowed to pay occasional visits, and that they are encouraged to maintain cultural links (Articles 8, 31, 38).
- Guaranteeing migrants' political participation in the country of origin (Articles 41, 42).
- Ensuring migrants' right to transfer their earnings to their home country (Articles 32, 46-48).

Furthermore, the Convention establishes rules for recruitment of migrant workers, and for their return to their states of origin, it details the steps to be taken to combat illegal or clandestine migration and it imposes a series of obligations on parties in the interest of promoting 'sound, equitable, humane and lawful conditions' for the international migration of workers and members of their families. Although the Convention has entered into force, only a few countries (26 as of July 2004) have become party to it, most of which primarily send migrants abroad. For the time being, it looks as though several migrant-receiving countries are not willing to be bound by the Convention as many find the formulation of the rights unacceptable.

Supervision

At the World Summit for Social Development in 1995, states committed themselves to ensure that migrant workers benefit from the protection provided by relevant national and international instruments. They pledged to take concrete and effective measures against the exploitation of migrant workers, and to encourage all states to consider ratifying and fully implementing international instruments relating to migrant workers.

The International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families provides for the establishment of a Committee on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families. A state party can make a declaration that it recognises the competence of the Committee to receive and consider individual communications on behalf of persons who claim that their rights under the Convention have been violated. The effectiveness of this mechanism remains to be seen as its power depends on whether states will accept the Committee's optional complaints procedure. Of the existing mechanisms that deal with violations of the rights of migrant workers, the ILO procedures are currently considered to be the most effective.

In 1997, the UN Commission on Human Rights established the Working Group of Intergovernmental Experts on the Human Rights of Migrants with a mandate to gather all relevant information on the obstacles existing to the effective and full protection of the human rights of migrants, and to elaborate recommendations to strengthen the promotion, protection and implementation of the human rights of migrants. Furthermore, in 1999 the Commission appointed a Special Rapporteur on the human rights of migrants, to examine ways and means to overcome the obstacles existing to the full and effective protection of the human rights of migrants, including obstacles and difficulties for the return of migrants who are non-documented or in an irregular situation. The Rapporteur's mandate is to receive information on violations and make recommendations and promote effective application of human rights standards and norms. The Rapporteur has expressed concern that measures aimed at stopping irregular migration frequently undermine migrants' basic rights, including the right to seek asylum and minimum guarantees against arbitrary deprivation of liberty.

3.18 HIV Positive Persons and AIDS Victims

Increasingly, human rights supervisory bodies have begun to focus on the vulnerability of people infected or affected by HIV/AIDS. HIV positive persons and AIDS victims are often subject to violations of many rights; some economic and social such as work-related rights and access to health care facilities, but also in relation to the enjoyment of civil rights, such as the right to privacy and freedom of movement. It is often difficult to separate violations of economic, social and cultural rights from violations of civil and political rights and states therefore need to adopt an integrated approach. HIV/AIDS demonstrates the indivisibility of human rights since the realisation of economic, social and cultural rights, as well as civil and political rights, is essential to an effective response to the epidemic.

The incidence of HIV/AIDS is disproportionately high in groups who already suffer from lack of protection and discrimination; such as women, children, those living in poverty, minorities,

refugees and internally displaced people. In this regard, for example, the CEDAW Committee has stressed the link between women's reproductive role, their subordinate social position and their increased vulnerability to HIV infection.

International Human Rights Standards

The key human rights principles essential for effective protection of people with HIV/AIDS are to be found in existing international instruments, such as the ICESCR; ICCPR; CEDAW; CAT; CERD; and the CRC. At the regional level, the American Convention on Human Rights, the European Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms and the African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights also enshrine general state obligations, which are applicable to persons affected by HIV/AIDS. There are, however, to date (July 2004), no binding international human rights standards dealing specifically with HIV/AIDS.

The UN General Assembly has emphasised the need to counter discrimination and to respect human rights of people with HIV/AIDS in several resolutions (*e.g.* Resolutions 45/1990 and 46/20 1991) and has held a Special Session on the topics (*e.g.* in 2001). The UN Commission on Human Rights has also adopted numerous resolutions on human rights and HIV/AIDS (see, *e.g.*, Resolution 1989/1). Another international instrument worth mentioning is the Paris Declaration on Women, Children and AIDS (1989).

The Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR) and the joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS) have developed guidelines to assist states in translating international human rights norms into practical observance in the context of HIV/AIDS: The International Guidelines on HIV/AIDS and Human Rights (1998) and its Revised Guideline 6: Access to prevention, treatment, care and support (2002).

Supervision

Since the epidemic began in the early 1980s, the international community has become increasingly concerned with the human rights protection of HIV/AIDS infected people. This is a crosscutting theme that UN treaty bodies have dealt with from their different perspectives, progressively developing the application of their respective instruments to respond to the pandemic and its consequences, setting out that states parties should include in their reports

information on the effects of AIDS on the enjoyment of human rights of those infected and the measures taken to prevent discrimination against them.

The treaty bodies have dealt with HIV/AIDS in several General Comments and Recommendations. In this regard, CEDAW General Recommendation No. 15 - Avoidance of discrimination against women in national strategies for the prevention and control of acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) adopted in 1990 and 24 on Women and Health adopted in 1994 are important. In the same vein, General Comment No. 3 - HIV/AIDS and the right of the child was adopted by the Committee on the Rights of the Child in 2003.

Chapter Four: Culture, Globalization and Human Rights

Introduction

This chapter deals with the challenges of culture and globalization to the implementation of human rights norms. Culture may form part of human rights as everyone has the right to culture. Nevertheless some cultural practices pose greater danger to the implementation of universal human rights standards. Thus, it is necessary to understand the relationship between culture and human rights which will be

discussed under the first section. Section two deals with the issue how globalization facilitates and hinders the implementation of human rights standards.

Section One: Culture and Human Rights

The end of the cold war has created a series of tentative attempts to define "a new world order". So far, the only certainty is that the international community has entered a period of tremendous global transition that, at least for the time being, has created more social problems than solutions. The end of super-power rivalry, and the growing North/South disparity in wealth and access to resources, coincide with an alarming increase in violence, poverty and unemployment, homelessness, displaced persons and the erosion of environmental stability. The world has also witnessed one of the most severe global economic recessions since the Great Depression of the 1930s.

At the same time, previously isolated peoples are being brought together voluntarily and involuntarily by the increasing integration of markets, the emergence of new regional political alliances, and remarkable advances in telecommunications, biotechnology and transportation that have prompted unprecedented demographic shifts.

The resulting confluence of peoples and cultures is an increasingly global, multicultural world brimming with tension, confusion and conflict in the process of its adjustment to pluralism. There is an understandable urge to return to old conventions, traditional cultures, fundamental values, and the familiar, seemingly secure, sense of one's identity. Without a secure sense of identity amidst the turmoil of transition, people may resort to isolationism, ethnocentricism and intolerance.

This climate of change and acute vulnerability raises new challenges to our ongoing pursuit of universal human rights. How can human rights be reconciled with the clash of cultures that has come to characterize our time? Cultural background is one of the primary sources of identity. It is the source for a great deal of self-definition, expression, and sense of group belonging. As cultures interact and intermix, cultural identities change. This process can be enriching, but disorienting. The current insecurity of cultural identity reflects fundamental changes in how we define and express who we are today.

Universal Human Rights and Cultural Relativism

This situation sharpens a long-standing dilemma: How can universal human rights exist in a culturally diverse world? As the international community becomes increasingly integrated, how can cultural diversity and integrity be respected? Is a global culture inevitable? If so, is the world ready for it? How could a global culture emerge based on and guided by human dignity and tolerance? These are some of the issues, concerns and questions underlying the debate over universal human rights and cultural relativism.

Cultural relativism is the assertion that human values, far from being universal, vary a great deal according to different cultural perspectives. Some would apply this relativism to the promotion, protection, interpretation and application of human rights which could be interpreted differently within different cultural, ethnic and religious traditions. In other words, according to this view, human rights are culturally relative rather than universal.

Taken to its extreme, this relativism would pose a dangerous threat to the effectiveness of international law and the international system of human rights that has been painstakingly constructed over the decades. If cultural tradition alone governs State's compliance with international standards, then widespread disregard, abuse and violation of human rights would be given legitimacy.

Accordingly, the promotion and protection of human rights perceived as culturally relative would only be subject to State discretion, rather than international legal imperative. By rejecting or disregarding their legal obligation to promote and protect universal human rights, States advocating cultural relativism could raise their own cultural norms and particularities above international law and standards.

Universal Human Rights and International Law

Largely through the ongoing work of the United Nations, the universality of human rights has been clearly established and recognized in international law. Human rights are emphasized among the purposes of the United Nations as proclaimed in its Charter, which states that human rights are "for all without distinction". Human rights are the natural-born rights for every human being, universally. They are not privileges.

The Charter further commits the United Nations and all Member States to action promoting "universal respect for, and observance of, human rights and fundamental freedoms". As the cornerstone of the International Bill of Rights, the Universal Declaration of Human Rights affirms consensus on a universal standard of human rights. In the recent issue of *A Global Agenda*, Charles Norchi points out that the Universal Declaration "represents a broader consensus on human dignity than does any single culture or tradition".

Universal human rights are further established by the two international covenants on human rights (International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, and International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights), and the other international standard-setting instruments which address numerous concerns, including genocide, slavery, torture, racial discrimination, discrimination against women, rights of the child, minorities and religious tolerance.

These achievements in human rights standard-setting span nearly five decades of work by the United Nations General Assembly and other parts of the United Nations system. As an assembly of nearly every State in the international community, the General Assembly is a uniquely representative body authorized to address and advance the protection and promotion of human rights. As such, it serves as an excellent indicator of international consensus on human rights.

This consensus is embodied in the language of the Universal Declaration itself. The universal nature of human rights is literally written into the title of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights. Its Preamble proclaims the Declaration as a "common standard of achievement for all peoples and all nations".

This statement is echoed most recently in the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action, which repeats the same language to reaffirm the status of the Universal Declaration as a "common standard" for everyone. Adopted in June 1993 by the United Nations World Conference on Human Rights in Austria, the Vienna Declaration continues to reinforce the universality of human rights, stating, "All human rights are universal, indivisible and interdependent and interrelated". This means that political, civil, cultural, economic and social human rights are to be seen in their entirety. One cannot pick and choose which rights to promote and protect. They are all of equal value and apply to everyone.

As if to settle the matter once and for all, the Vienna Declaration states in its first paragraph that "the universal nature" of all human rights and fundamental freedoms is "beyond question". The unquestionable universality of human rights is presented in the context of the reaffirmation of the obligation of States to promote and protect human rights.

The legal obligation is reaffirmed for all states to promote "universal respect for, and observance and protection of, all human rights and fundamental freedoms for all". It is clearly stated that the obligation of States is to promote universal respect for, and observance of, human rights. Not selective, not relative, but universal respect, observance and protection.

Furthermore, the obligation is established for all States, in accordance with the Charter of the United Nations and other instruments of human rights and international law. No State is exempt from this obligation. All Member States of the United Nations have a legal obligation to promote and protect human rights, regardless of particular cultural perspectives. Universal human rights protection and promotion are asserted in the Vienna Declaration as the "first responsibility" of all Governments.

Everyone is entitled to human rights without discrimination of any kind. The non-discrimination principle is a fundamental rule of international law. This means that human rights are for all human beings, regardless of "race, colour, sex, language, religion, political or other opinion, national or social origin, property, birth or other status". Non-discrimination protects individuals

and groups against the denial and violation of their human rights. To deny human rights on the grounds of cultural distinction is discriminatory. Human rights are intended for everyone, in every culture.

Human rights are the birthright of every person. If a State dismisses universal human rights on the basis of cultural relativism, then rights would be denied to the persons living under that State's authority. The denial or abuse of human rights is wrong, regardless of the violator's culture.

Human Rights, Cultural Integrity and Diversity

Universal human rights do not impose one cultural standard, rather one legal standard of minimum protection necessary for human dignity. As a legal standard adopted through the United Nations, universal human rights represent the hard-won consensus of the international community, not the cultural imperialism of any particular region or set of traditions.

Like most areas of international law, universal human rights are a modern achievement, new to all cultures. Human rights are neither representative of, nor oriented towards, one culture to the exclusion of others. Universal human rights reflect the dynamic, coordinated efforts of the international community to achieve and advance a common standard and international system of law to protect human dignity.

Inherent Flexibility

Out of this process, universal human rights emerge with sufficient flexibility to respect and protect cultural diversity and integrity. The flexibility of human rights to be relevant to diverse cultures is facilitated by the establishment of minimum standards and the incorporation of cultural rights.

The instruments establish minimum standards for economic, social, cultural, civil and political rights. Within this framework, States have maximum room for cultural variation without diluting or compromising the minimum standards of human rights established by law. These minimum

standards are in fact quite high, requiring from the State a very high level of performance in the field of human rights.

The Vienna Declaration provides explicit consideration for culture in human rights promotion and protection, stating that "the significance of national and regional particularities and various historical, cultural and religious backgrounds must be borne in mind". This is deliberately acknowledged in the context of the duty of States to promote and protect human rights regardless of their cultural systems. While its importance is recognized, cultural consideration in no way diminishes States' human rights obligations.

Most directly, human rights facilitate respect for and protection of cultural diversity and integrity, through the establishment of cultural rights embodied in instruments of human rights law. These include: the International Bill of Rights; the Convention on the Rights of the Child; the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination; the Declaration on Race and Racial Prejudice; the Declaration on the Elimination of All Forms of Intolerance and of Discrimination Based on Religion or Belief; the Declaration on the Principles of International Cultural Cooperation; the Declaration on the Rights of Persons Belonging to National or Ethnic, Religious and Linguistic Minorities; the Declaration on the Right to Development; the International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families; and the ILO Convention No. 169 on the Rights of Indigenous and Tribal Peoples.

Human rights which relate to cultural diversity and integrity encompass a wide range of protections, including: the right to cultural participation; the right to enjoy the arts; conservation, development and diffusion of culture; protection of cultural heritage; freedom for creative activity; protection of persons belonging to ethnic, religious or linguistic minorities; freedom of assembly and association; the right to education; freedom of thought, conscience or religion; freedom of opinion and expression; and the principle of non-discrimination.

Cultural Rights

Every human being has the right to culture, including the right to enjoy and develop cultural life and identity. Cultural rights, however, are not unlimited. The right to culture is limited at the point at which

it infringes another human right. No right can be used at the expense or destruction of another, in accordance with international law.

This means that cultural rights cannot be invoked or interpreted in such a way as to justify any act leading to the denial or violation of other human rights and fundamental freedoms. As such, claiming cultural relativism as an excuse to violate or deny human rights is an abuse of the right to culture.

There are legitimate, substantive limitations on cultural practices, even on well-entrenched traditions. For example, no culture today can legitimately claim a right to practise slavery. Despite its practice in many cultures throughout history, slavery today cannot be considered legitimate, legal, or part of a cultural legacy entitled to protection in any way. To the contrary, all forms of slavery, including contemporary slavery-like practices, are a gross violation of human rights under international law.

Similarly, cultural rights do not justify torture, murder, genocide, discrimination on grounds of sex, race, language or religion, or violation of any of the other universal human rights and fundamental freedoms established in international law. Any attempts to justify such violations on the basis of culture have no validity under international law.

A Cultural Context

The argument of cultural relativism frequently includes or leads to the assertion that traditional culture is sufficient to protect human dignity, and therefore universal human rights are unnecessary. Furthermore, the argument continues, universal human rights can be intrusive and disruptive to traditional protection of human life, liberty and security.

When traditional culture does effectively provide such protection, then human rights by definition would be compatible, posing no threat to the traditional culture. As such, the traditional culture can absorb and apply human rights, and the governing State should be in a

better position not only to ratify, but to effectively and fully implement, the international standards.

Traditional culture is not a substitute for human rights; it is a cultural context in which human rights must be established, integrated, promoted and protected. Human rights must be approached in a way that is meaningful and relevant in diverse cultural contexts.

Rather than limit human rights to suit a given culture, why not draw on traditional cultural values to reinforce the application and relevance of universal human rights? There is an increased need to emphasize the common, core values shared by all cultures: the value of life, social order and protection from arbitrary rule. These basic values are embodied in human rights.

Traditional cultures should be approached and recognized as partners to promote greater respect for and observance of human rights. Drawing on compatible practices and common values from traditional cultures would enhance and advance human rights promotion and protection. This approach is not only encourages greater tolerance, mutual respect and understanding, but also fosters more effective international cooperation for human rights.

Greater understanding of the ways in which traditional cultures protect the well-being of their people would illuminate the common foundation of human dignity on which human rights promotion and protection stand. This insight would enable human rights advocacy to assert the cultural relevance, as well as the legal obligation, of universal human rights in diverse cultural contexts. Recognition and appreciation of particular cultural contexts would serve to facilitate, rather than reduce, human rights respect and observance.

Working in this way with particular cultures inherently recognizes cultural integrity and diversity, without compromising or diluting the unquestionably universal standard of human rights. Such an approach is essential to ensure that the future will be guided above all by human rights, non-discrimination, tolerance and cultural pluralism.

Section two: Globalization and Human Rights

The word 'globalization' is now used widely to sum up today's world order. It means they increasingly integrate the world into one capitalist political economy operating under a neo-liberal free market ideology. Economic globalization as witnessed in the world today is not a new phenomenon. It has been evolving for the past several years and gaining momentum day by day. The trend, at present, is a shift from a world economy based on national market economies to a borderless global market economic liberalization, developing a global financial system and a transnational production system which is based on a homogenized worldwide law of value. The demise of the Cold War helped the emergence of a new aggressive competitive global economic order. This was possible mainly due to the integration of the newly industrialized countries and much of the developing nations. Although globalization and market liberalization have made some progress in terms of economic growth in certain countries, it has also had many negative impacts in developing societies.

Richard Barnet of the Institute of Policy Studies describes globalization in terms of four increasing webs of global commercial activity: global cultural bazaar, the global shopping mall; the global financial network; the global workplace. The global cultural bazaar promotes the notion of uniform cultural values and products across the world. This idea influenced billions of people, shaping their goals and homogenizing their tastes and attitudes towards a desired fantasy lifestyle. The unprecedented increase in global trade the buying and selling of goods and services among countries has created a planetary supermarket. The cultural bazaar and shopping mall intersect through the vehicle of advertising. Media has become a powerful player in the globalization process. In fact, globalization of economies has also led to the globalization of media. Media is used to impose the culture and power of the wealthy nations from the global North. The global financial market has created a new atmosphere to search for quick profits. The foreign exchange market is mainly dealing with currency speculation, bet for or against foreign currencies. The increasing mobility of jobs has created global workplaces and this has boosted international labor migration. In other words, the globalization and market-oriented economic reforms helped transnational companies shift their manufacturing units to developing countries. Because of this more people are crossing borders in search of jobs and in most conditions people are forced to work in inhuman conditions for lower wages. All these proved the fact that globalization is not a simple but a very complex set of process that operates at multiple levels -- political, economic and cultural.

Nicaraguan scholar Xabier Gorostiaga argues that in this era of globalization humanity is perceived as fundamentally one, with a common destiny that is the result of a technological revolution in information and communication and the awareness of the unsustainability of the current way of life.

In an article titled "The Human Rights Debate in an Era of Globalization: Hegemony of Discourse", Nikhil Aziz describes two kinds of globalization based on Richard Falks theory on the making of Global Citizenship. He argues that we can see globalization in different perspectives: Globalization from Above (GA) and Globalization from Below (GB). At the political level, GA manifests itself in its action of the Western countries, particularly the United States of America, and global financial institutions in pressuring countries of the South to democratize. This translates as the adoption of a Western-style liberal democratic system of governance. They closely tie economic Globalization from Above to the political aspect in that (1) the source of pressure for change is the same, and (2) close links are alleged between the ideologies of free markets and free societies. Economic Globalization from Above entails countries of the South to accept - within the parameters of the dominant World capitalist system - the imposition of structural adjustment programs neo-liberal economic policies, including the wholesale liberalization of domestic economies, to allow unrestricted entry to transnational capital. On a cultural level, GA arises from the control of the global information and communication networks by Western media corporations; and the spread of modern technologies of a consumerist culture, and western cultural expressions as the global culture.

The transnational companies are the spearheads of globalization and have become the dominant economic and political force in the world economy. Increasing competition and pressure on transnational companies to increase profits leads to a relentless search for cheap labor markets. Many of the companies from the developed and the Newly Industrialized Countries (NIC) have shifted their manufacturing and service industries to developing countries. For example, several major airlines now have their global accounting done in India. A large number of computer software companies from the United States are developing software in Bangalore, India, at less than one-fifth of the price in other countries. The German car manufacturing company BMW and Lorean car manufacturers like Daewoo and Hyundai have already established their manufacturing units in Vietnam. The Export Processing Zones of many developing countries are catering to the needs of the transnational companies by way of

providing cheap labor. The International Labor Resource and Information Group based at the University of Cape Town has described these phenomena a race downhill in which countries underbid each other. Because they cannot see an alternative, workers also end up underbidding one another. The main arguments are competitiveness and the need to survive. But for workers it is a race to the bottom, and the bottom means slave like conditions. When work moves to less developed countries, the shift does not automatically bring Western levels of employment and prosperity to the host countries. What it does bring are very profitable high-tech islands and Export processing Zones where they protect transnational capital, with the help of the state, from social responsibility.

There may be short-term advances in the living standards of a small group of workers. Nevertheless, when some workers elsewhere lead the race to the bottom, those jobs may disappear. A report by UNCTAD notes that transnational companies encroach on areas over which sovereign responsibilities have traditionally been reserved for national governments. A situation has arisen where many governments of developing countries no longer control the flow of financial capital; so they can no longer control their own economies.

Globalization has substantially contributed to the intensification of debt, poverty and economic crisis in the developing world. The Structural Adjustment Programs (SAP) designed and imposed by the global creditor institutions is a typical instrument to create a favorable atmosphere for globalization, which ultimately affects developing countries. In order to meet the mandates set by the SAP, a country spends less by cutting back government expenditures, social services, and economic investments so that resources can be placed elsewhere. More money is being spent on export orientation, which results in local economies becoming dependent on the integration with the world economy. The international lenders demand poor economies to divert substantial resources away from sectors serving domestic needs: withdraw all subsidies for poor people, privatize the state sector, deregulate the market, and decrease wages. In effect, this process opens up countries to globalization. Thus structural adjustment programs and import-export-led strategies of industralization. were part of a political and economic restructuring process, a prelude to globalization. The advocates of globalization give philosophical justifications to accept export-led growth, lower wages and living standards for workers, shrinking government budgets, and extremely high interest rates. They say "There Is No Alternative" - TINA, the phrase coined by British Prime Minister Margaret Thatcher in 1980s. Powerful institutions like the International Monetary Fund, the World Bank and the World Trade Organization raise the TINA, argument to persuade the developing nations to qualify themselves to borrow money. The developing countries are left into no option but to accept the liberalization and market-oriented reforms. Under this liberalization policy production tends to be export-oriented. Meeting the basic needs of the people becomes less important. State-run factories or enterprises are often privatized to suit the needs of foreign investors. Free trade and liberalization lead to competition and local producers, like farmers, have to suffer the consequences.

Globalization has created a situation where the role and importance of nation-state is becoming irrelevant. Kenichi Ohmae, widely recognized as one of today's top business gurus, asks, in a world where economic borders are disappearing and money flows around the globe beyond the reach of governments, 'who, indeed needs the nation-state?" He argues that 4 Is-Investment (sic), Industry, Information technology and Individual consumers - make the traditional middleman function of nation-states, and of their governments, largely unnecessary. Because, the global markets for all the Is work just fine on their own, nation-states no longer have to play a market-making role. In this situation multinational corporations are becoming the actors even in international politics. A growing trend to promote the idea of recapturing the capitalist frontier and its lost values is more visible through the globalization and market liberalization in the developing countries. It is true that a few rich or middle class people have emerged in societies where transition to market system has been introduced. China and Vietnam are typical examples. In these countries a newly rich class has emerged as a result of globalization and market reforms.

Several other Asian countries are also witnessing the emergence of a few - rich and middle class people at the expenses of many poor. These new-rich and middle class are really the products of globalization and they provide the market for imported products and further strengthening the economy of the developed countries. While analyzing the economic development, social status and political consciousness of the new-rich in Asia, Richard Robinson and David S. G. Goodman observe that it is as consumers that the new-rich of Asia have attracted an interest of almost cargo-cult proportions in the West. They constitute the new markets for Western products: processed foods, computer software, educational services and films and television soaps. They are the new tourists, bringing foreign exchange in hard times. What has helped such an enthusiastic embrace of the Asian new-rich is that they are emerging at a time when prolonged recession and low growth rates have depressed home markets in the West. The emergence of the new middle class and their wealth manifest themselves in the society in several ways. This is more visible through a new emerging culture which Robinson and Goodman describe as Mobile phones, McDonalds and middle-class revolution. It is estimated that 55,000 people a day regularly pass through the McDonalds restaurant in central Beijing (China's first, opened in 1992) to pay for a hamburger much more than the most Chinese will earn in a fortnight. It was reported that in 1993 a mobile telephone number 58888 containing four lucky eights - was auctioned for 1,30,000 RMB. An ordinary mobile phone itself costs about 25,000 RMB in China to buy, install and register, and there are monthly service and user fees to pay. This McDonald and Mobile phone culture has already spread among the new-rich in many developing countries because of the globalization of markets. Even Cambodia and Bangladesh the world's most poverty stricken countries, are affected. A globalization of taste has occurred in every field of the developing world. Consumer goods like Levis Jeans, Nike athletic shoes, and Hermes scarves are visible all over the world now. A decade ago Kenichi Ohmae described this process, driven by global exposure to the same information, the same cultural icons, and the same advertisements, as the "Californiazation" of taste. He now argues that, today, however, the process of convergence goes faster and deeper. It reaches well beyond taste to much more fundamental dimensions of world-view, mind-set. There are now, for example, tens of millions of teenagers around the world who, having been raised in a multimedia-rich environment, have a lot more in common with each other than they do with members of older generations in their own cultures.

Well, one group is considering this an achievement of globalization. On the other hand, the reality is that, "globalization requires the humiliation of hundreds of millions of people keeping them in constant insecurity, pitting them against one another in a competitive struggle for survival". The Human Development Report of 1997 says; Globalization can also shift patterns of consumption. Luxury cars and soft drinks can rapidly become a part of daily life, heightening relative deprivation. The pattern can increase absolute poverty by undermining the production of goods on which poor people rely. A flood of imported wheat can shift consumption away from sorghum or cassava, making them scarcer in loyal markets.

Roberto Verzola, a social activist of the Philippines, comments that in the same way that colonization was the trend one hundred years ago, globalization is, today. Today global corporations have replaced the colonial powers. In developing countries, global corporations are allowed to feast on natural resources, human resources, and national wealth. They displace farmers from their land, workers from their jobs, and communities from their roots. They are responsible for the breaking up of communities and the destruction of the environment to serve the human and raw material requirements of global production for the global market. The consequence is the collapse of food security and the emergence of global environmental crises, which in the end may turn out to be even worse than colonization. Even the peoples of developed countries suffer from the profit-hungry rules of global corporations today, which virtually rule the world. Globalization and market-oriented economic reforms have been designed for the benefit of these groups. In reality, globalization means the rule of global corporations. It means decision about lives are being made in corporate boardrooms in the USA, Europe and Japan, instead of in local community councils or at the national level. National governments are becoming the implementers of orders received from the international actors. This has created a situation of powerlessness and suffering for many in developing countries which results in violation of rights of millions of people.

Globalization, Development and Human Rights

The relation between globalization, development and human rights raises policy and legal questions. One such question is whether globalization of market-oriented economic system is essential for development and protection of human rights? While searching for an answer to this question we should analyze how we perceive the concept of development and human rights, especially in the context of developing countries. Human rights have become an integral part of the process of globalization in many ways. The Western countries are increasingly using their view of human rights concept as a yardstick to judge developing countries and to deal with economic and trade relations to extend development assistance. At the same time globalization intensifies impoverishment by increasing the poverty, insecurity, fragmentation of society and thus violates human rights and human dignity of millions of people.

Development or economic development is widely perceived as a historical process that takes place in

almost all societies characterized by economic growth and increased production and consumption of goods and services. Development is also often used in a normative sense as a multi-valued social goal covering such diverse spheres as better material well-being, living standards, education, health care, wider opportunities for work and leisure, and in essence the whole gamut of desirable social and material welfare. But, in today's globalization, the concept of development itself is interpreted differently and the concept of right to development is not taken seriously.

The Preamble of the Declaration of the Right to Development, adopted by the UN General Assembly in 1986, describes "development as a comprehensive economic, social, cultural and political process that aims at the constant improvement of the well-being of the entire population and of all individuals on the basis of their active, free and meaningful participation in development and in the fair distribution of resulting benefits". The 1990 UN Global Consultation on the Right to Development as a Human Right, stated that the right to development is an inalienable human right with the human being as the central subject to the right and that all the aspects of the right to development set forth in the Declaration of the Right to Development are indivisible and interdependent, and these include civil, political, economic, social, and cultural rights. It was further maintained that the right to development is the right of individuals, groups and peoples to participate in, contribute to, and enjoy continuous economic, social, cultural and political development, in which all human rights and fundamental freedoms can be fully realized. A development strategy that disregards or interferes with human rights is the very negation of development.

The aims and objectives of the so-called development models promoted by different governments or international development agencies are not compatible with human rights standards. A new model of development ideology is being promoted that is based on the market and its logic. Several decades of discussion on alternative development model is withering away and a dominant model of market-oriented development taking roots in that place. As a result of the globalization process, more negative effects are visible now. Global integration of the structures, processes, and ideologies produce injustice, oppression, exploitation and mal-development in society. The systematic integration of the forces that are dominant in the globalization process intensifies human rights violations.

Development Aid and Human Rights

It has long been accepted by the United Nations and in most international forums that "developed" countries should provide aid in the form of grants and loans to the developing countries. The General Assembly has, by consensus resolutions, called for such development aid to reach 0.7 per cent of the GNP of developed countries. Actually less than half of that target has been attained. For example, the United States gives only less than 0.2 per cent, instead of 0.7 per cent.

Overseas Development Aid (ODA) presents debatable issues from the perspective of human rights. For example, it raises the question whether aid should be directed mainly to reducing poverty and providing social services to the needy or whether priority should be given to economic growth and strengthening infrastructure. Another key question of a legal political characteristic is whether the recipient government or the donor state should have a decisive voice. The developing states emphasize their primary responsibility for development of the country and their right to self-determination in respect of the economy and resources. Donor countries tend to emphasize their narrow concepts of human rights as a prerequisite to sanction development assistance. They also emphasize the pragmatic political fact that aid is not likely to be provided if the beneficiary states violated basic human rights. According to Mikhail Assize, human rights have become another arsenal of Western countries in their bid to bring recalcitrant Third World nations to heel in their New World Order.

The question whether aid should be given to countries where human rights are substantially or systematically violated has been analyzed by Katherine Tomasevski in the following statement.

Donor governments and agencies are continuously making decisions which country to assist, how much and what for, because aid needs are much larger than available aid. Human rights have entered the already numerous criteria for allocating aid fairly recently. this entry has been neither easy nor smooth because no general criteria have been developed by donors and consequently decisions have been made on case-to-case basis. Moreover, these decisions have been limited to some human rights violations in some aid-receiving countries. Thereby human rights terminology has often been used to justify decisions to provide aid or to terminate it; while human rights criteria - to the extent that there is such a thing in the aid policy of any donor - have been confined to the search for those human rights violations which could justify cutting off aid.

Trade and Human Rights

Global trade is being liberalized and opened up in this era of globalization. A set of new rules and regulations have been promoted through international firms like WTO and new initiatives have been taken through the formation of regional economic trading blocs.

At the same time several developed countries in the world have been trying to inter-relate trade policy with human rights policy. Under mounting pressure from the business lobby in the irrespective countries, several Western governments have altered their policies depending up on their business interests. Under the Generalized System of Preferences (GSP) which provides for trade benefits for developing countries, the USA has withdrawn or threatened to withdraw preferences from some countries that violate human rights. The case of China has been controversial, with opinion in the United States sharply divided on the desirability of conditioning trade preferences on compliance with specified human rights. There has been strong pressure from US business lobby against use of the Jackson-Vanik Trade Act of 1974 for denying MFN status to China. It held that talking about "political freedom is not a sound argument for attempting to use the blunt instrument of trade sanctions to win democratic rule for China. Keeping millions of Chinese in poverty by restricting their right to trade, in the hope of promoting human rights, is neither logical nor moral. Likewise, depriving Americans of the freedom to trade and invest in China violates their rights to liberty and property". This is a case of shift in policy based on convenience rather than on ideological convictions or moral principles. On the other hand, some developed countries are pressing for trade sanctions against states found to violate human rights, especially human rights standards that are generally based on the Conventions and Recommendations of the International Labor Organization. They have tended on the whole to oppose trade liberalization treaties such as NAFTA and currently WTO. The developing countries have generally objected to such measures since they would reduce their comparative advantage through cheap labor and constitute a major barrier to their industrialization. From their point of view, workers rights enforced by trade barriers would contribute to greater poverty in their countries.

Drawing on the experience of the "Sullivan Principles" applied by foreign companies operating in South Africa, some activists and scholars have proposed imposing international human rights standards, particularly labor standards, directly on private companies engaged in transnational activity. Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises adopted by the Organization of Economically Developed Countries in 1976 provided for observance of standards of labor relations by transnational companies. A UN Commission on Transnational Corporations devoted about 15 years of study and negotiation on a draft Code of Conduct for Transnational Corporations that included a general provision requiring transnational corporations to respect human rights and fundamental freedoms in the countries where they operate and more detailed provisions on observance of laws on labor relations and involvement of trade unions. Objections of the USA and a few other countries have prevented its adoption. These are some of the examples of the double standards adopted by the developed countries that profess concern for human rights. The fad is that the economically developed countries are in a better position than others to take the advantage of globalization and at the same time dictate policies and guidelines to increase their bargaining power.

The TNCs which have gained strength in the post-globalization era is the main actor in several developed countries in formulating new foreign policies to shape a new global order. This trend has been highlighted in a recent study that the emerging global order is spearheaded by a few hundred corporate giants, many of them bigger than most sovereign nations. By acquiring earth-spanning technologies, by developing products that can be produced anywhere and sold everywhere, by spreading credit around the world, and by connecting global channels of communication that can penetrate any village or neighborhood, these institutions we normally think of as economic rather than political. private rather than public, are becoming the world empires of the twenty-first century.

The impact of these global giant's operations have negative impact on human rights. Virtually all developing countries at the present time seek private foreign investment for development. Such investment now greatly exceeds loans or grants from official sources. The growth of Transnational Corporations - now numbering about 35,000 with 1, 50,000 foreign affiliates - is evidence of the increased role of the private sector and of market economies in developing countries. New technologies have transformed the nature of production and facilitated re-location of firms. Nationalization, once the

centre of debate, has now virtually disappeared from the agenda of developing countries.

The human rights implications of these trends are outlined by an economist, David Korten in the following terms:

Today the most intense competition in the globally integrated market is not between the gigantic Transnational Corporations, but it is between governments that find themselves competing with one another for investors by offering the cheapest and most compliant labor; the weakest environmental, health, and safety standards, the lowest taxes; and the most fully developed infrastructure. Often governments must borrow to finance the social and physical infrastructure needed to attract private investors. Having pushed almost the entire social and environmental costs of production onto the community, many firms are able to turn a handsome profit. Having bargained away their tax base and accepted low wages for their labor, many communities reap relatively few benefits from the foreign investment, however, and are left with no evident way to repay the loans contracted on the .firms behalf

Impact of Globalization on Human Rights

Globalization has its winners and losers. With the expansion of trade, market, foreign investment, developing countries have seen the gaps among themselves widen. The imperative to liberalize has demanded a shrinking of state involvement in national life, producing a wave of privatization, cutting jobs, slashing health, education and food subsidies, etc. affecting the poor people in society. In many cases, liberalization has been accompanied by greater inequality and people are left trapped in utter poverty. Meanwhile, in many industrialized countries unemployment has soared to levels not seen for many years and income disparity to levels not recorded since last century. The collapse of the economies of the Asian Tigers are examples of this. The Human Development Report of 1997 revealed that poor countries and poor people too often find their interests neglected as a result of globalization. Although globalization of the economy has been characterized as a locomotive for productivity, opportunity, technological progress, and uniting the world, it ultimately causes increased

impoverishment, social disparities and violations of human rights. That is what we see today.

CHAPTER Five: RESPONSES TO GRAVE VIOLATION OF HUMAN RIGHTS

Introduction

It is clear that human rights are to be respected and protected by States through all appropriate measures. States shall also make remedies available at domestic level to any one claiming his/her rights were violated. We have also considered that in some cases, alleged victims of violation may also seek remedy from regional or international institutions. However, sometimes violations may be committed grossly & systematically that the normal procedures become not enough to address them. Thus, under this chapter we will deal with existing mechanisms for responding to grave violations of human rights. The focus is not on individual & isolated violations. Throughout history, many people were victims of violations of their rights due to the systematic acts of States (& even non-State actors). However, it is

rarely that the perpetrators were held accountable for their acts. Therefore, the main concern is how to deal with such systematic & serious violation of human rights, and impunity.

Mostly, the systematic & serious violations were/are committed by State officials as an instrument of achieving some policy, e.g., crushing opposition & sustaining their power, maintaining territorial integrity & the like. The serious & systematic violations in Chile during the Pinochet regime, Uganda during the Id Amine regime, South Africa during the Appartied regime, in Ethiopia during the Dergue regime were all committed as part of State policy to achieve some result. Millions of people in these countries were victims of State-sponsored systematic violations. It is also important to remember the systematic & gross violations committed during international and internal wars. Millions have suffered because of the horrific acts committed during WWII, the civil war in Former Yugoslavia, & Rwanda. The horrors being committed in Darfur, Sudan, are an example of an ongoing systematic violation of human rights. Some sources have presented Statistical data showing that millions of people across the world have been victims of State violence. Michael Freeman has summarized some of these data in his book entitled " Human Rights, an interdisciplinary approach" (pp.1-2). Here is an excerpt taken from the book.

"...Government forces massacred more than half a million civilians in Indonesia in the mid-1960s in an attempt to suppress communism. Estimates of people killed by the Khmer Rouge regime of Pol Pot in Cambodia vary between 300,000 and 2,000,000. More than 9000 people 'disappeared' under the military regime in Argentina in 1970s. During the rule of Id Amin in Uganda from 1972-1978, more than 250,000 people were killed. Hundreds of thousands of civilians were murdered by security forces in Iraq during the 1980s. Almost 2 per cent of the population of El Salvador is estimated to have died as a result of 'disappearances' and political killings during the civil war between 1980 & 1992. In 1994 between 500,000 & 1,000,000 people were killed in the government-directed genocide in Rwanda. This list is far from complete. It does not include Bosnia, Chechnya, Kosovo, East Timor, and many others."

Amnesty International has commented that 'the twentieth century was perhaps the bloodiest in history. Millions of people were victims of genocide, crimes against humanity, war crimes, torture, extra judicial executions and "disappearances." These crimes were committed throughout the world during international and civil wars and in conditions of "peace". The 21st century is also witnessing similar cruelties and injustices

It is clear that human rights cannot be realized without having an effective mechanism of dealing with such systematic & gross violations. This chapter therefore discusses the available international & domestic responses to such violations, and evaluates their effectiveness. To do that the chapter is divided in two sections; the international responses & national responses.

Section One: National responses -Transitional Justice

It is an accepted principle that violations of rights shall first be addressed at national level. This holds true even in case of systematic & gross violations. Thus, the perpetrators of such violations/crimes shall be brought to justice at national level. The international system of addressing such violations becomes relevant if the domestic system is unable/unwilling to provide remedies.

The above documented stories suggest that systematic & gross violations are often committed by State institutions and officials, and with their tolerance. However, non-state actors like rebel groups in case of civil war, may also be involved in such violations. Usually, the question of addressing such violation at national level doesn't arise if the rights violating regime holds power. This is simply because the perpetrators are State officials, or members of armed forces or security forces, or the police, and the like. Thus, the system can't be expected to hold the perpetrators accountable. It rather protects them, and even allows them to continue to carry out their crimes, and the perpetrators are likely to continue to do so in the knowledge that it is extremely unlikely that they would be brought to justice. Thus, a regime change has to happen first.

Regime change is a prerequisite for putting the national mechanism of responding to such violations. This regime change may result in many ways, for e.g., armed struggle, negotiation & others. Thus, it is a requirement that the rights violating regime be substituted by a regime that is committed to the values of human rights & democratisation, and thus bringing a transition within the society. At this period of transition, the need to address past violations would arise. This need is addressed through what is usually referred to as transitional justice.

The term transitional justice has two meanings. In one sense, it means justice at the time of transition. It may also be understood as justice in transition it self, i.e., referring to the idea that our conception of justice is not static but dynamic. We use the first meaning for the purpose of this teaching material. We use the term transitional justice broadly to signify the mechanisms by which societies in transition deal with past violations. It thus represents the various modalities of addressing past violations.

Transitional justice has to address the needs of societies in transition. Societies in transition may have variety of needs/concerns related to past violations. The three main needs that arise in societies in transition are the following:

- (1) The need for justice. Victims of violations or their relatives and the society at large need to see the perpetrators of the violations are brought to justice. It is thus necessary that transitional justice should provide a mechanism by which this need may be satisfied. One of the questions in this respect is: What does justice mean? Does it mean the same thing for victims/relatives and the society in general? Do the different groups have similar conception of justice? Does it refer to restorative justice or retributive justice? How is it satisfied? Do the apprehension, prosecution & punishment of perpetrators satisfy the need for justice of society? Do these satisfy victims/relatives? It is generally suggested that justice shall be rendered in order for a society to break with the past & move forward.
- (2) The need to know the truth. The society in general, and victims or relatives in particular, wants to know who among its members did participate in the violations. As the past violations were

committed systematically & grossly, the society, even victims/relatives, may not know all that happened & all the perpetrators & the degree of their participation. Above all society needs to know why the violations happened. Thus, the need to know *who did what & why* is one of the basic issues that may arise at the time of transition. It is claimed that knowing the truth about the past is crucial to build a viable, rights-respecting & democratic society as well as to ensure that violations wouldn't happen again. Some commentators, however, argue that knowing the truth about is not desirable as it may lead to further suspicion & animosity between those that claim to be victims & their relatives on the one hand and alleged perpetrators, who are usually former officials, & their relatives (& even supporters) on the other hand, and thereby motivating revenge & leading to further conflict. They thus suggest it is better to forget the past & move forward. Others criticize this by arguing society cannot move forward without knowing the past. Some rather propose 'you shall never forget but forgive'.

(3) The need for conciliation. Society may also need to create conciliation among its members. As indicated in the statistical data above, the perpetrators & victims of violations or their relatives are huge in number. There may be a general understanding that one groups of the society are victims while others are perpetrators or vice versa. This and other factors are likely to cultivate among members of the society a mentality of suspicion, mistrust & even animosity. A society desirous of moving forward should therefore address this mentality. Society should have a mechanism of reconciling its divided members & building trust, confidence & mutual respect among its members. It is commented that it is difficult, if not impossible, for a divided society to break with the past, establish a stable system & move forward.

Thus, the main needs of societies in transition regarding past violations are the need for justice, the need to know the truth, & the need for conciliation. However, we have to make two remarks here. First, these needs are not exclusive of each other. In other words, they may overlap. Secondly, these needs are not exhaustive, i.e., there may be other needs for example, the need for compensation. These other needs may, however, be subsumed under any of the above main needs. For example, the need of victims/relatives for compensation may be considered as the need for justice. To conclude, societies should have a mechanism of addressing these different needs.

The modalities of transitional Justice

As already stated, a society that had undergone systematic & gross violation has to address past violations. In particular, it has to satisfy the need for justice, truth & conciliation. Thus, the basic question is: how does a society do so? There is no one mechanism, which all societies shall employ. Each society may use a mechanism/ combination of mechanisms that it deems appropriate to satisfy its needs.

There are, however, certain modalities of transitional justice that are well known & well utilized by different socialites. Three of them are worth discussing because of their usual application.

(1) Prosecution. This is one of the modalities of transitional justice often employed by societies to address past violations. This process involves the apprehension, investigation & prosecution of alleged perpetrators, and imposition of penalty if found guilty. Thus, it involves the apprehension of perpetrators, the gathering of evidence, and the filing of criminal charges, judicial hearing and decision according to the law. The main concern here is to maintain the rule of law, which is considered as the cornerstone of democracy. The rule of law thus requires that no person is exempt from the law. Thus it is a mechanism of fighting impunity. It is important to remember that international human rights law requires States Parties to provide effective remedy to victims of violation. Though what constitutes effective remedy is not defined, prosecution is at least one of the available remedies. It is of course held that, in some cases, prosecution is not merely an alternative available to the State but it is a duty of states under international law. States have the duty to suppress all acts contrary to the provisions of the four Geneva Conventions (For example see arts. 49 (3), 50 (3), 129 (3) and 146 (3) respectively of the four Geneva Conventions). The duty to prosecute, particularly, exists in relation to grave breaches of the international humanitarian law. Examples of grave breaches are War crimes, the crime of genocide, crimes against humanity. In these respects, States have the duty to prosecute or extradite violators for crimes committed anywhere. This obligation of States to prosecute or extradite on the basis of universal jurisdiction is stipulated in the Four Geneva Conventions.

Customary international law also requires states to investigate war crimes & prosecute suspects. Thus, states have the duty to apprehend & prosecute suspects that commit such crimes anywhere. It has also been commented that 'like the IHL, certain international human rights treaties oblige a state party to prosecute or extradite persons accused of acts prescribed in the treaty'. If states have the duty to prosecute or extradite persons suspected of having committed grave crimes anywhere, they have for stronger reason the duty to prosecute or extradite suspects committing these crimes within their territory. We will consider the principle of universal jurisdiction in the next section. The central point here is, in certain cases, States have not only a right but also a duty to prosecute violations/crimes

Some people hold that criminal prosecution is an obstacle to reconciliation & achievement of peace & successful transition. However, others insist that prosecution is 'the most effective insurance against future repression' and stress the relationship between accountability, reconciliation, peace & democracy. These different views are the result of disagreement on a number of questions that remain unsettled. Does it satisfy the needs outlined above? Does it satisfy the need for justice? Does it satisfy the need for the truth? Does it satisfy the need for reconciliation? Is it possible, for example economically & technically to investigate & prosecute all past violations? Should society employ selective prosecution? If so, what should be the basis for the selection? Doesn't selective prosecution partly ignore the needs outlined earlier? How would victims react to selective prosecution particularly if the perpetrators of their rights remain unpunished? How do alleged perpetrators /relatives/supporters view prosecution? Does it amount to retributive justice?

(2) Truth & reconciliation. This modality is the mechanism by which a society may identify truth about the past & create conciliation among its members. For this purpose, societies may establish truth commissions or truth and reconciliation commissions. The main priority of this modality is to reveal truths about the past, create conciliation, and achieve a successful transition. However, there are variations among these commission on their mandate & emphasis. Usually, the commission/authorized organ seeks & documents the truth about the past by this procedure. Members of the society are encouraged to come forward and speak their stories. Thus, both victims/relatives & perpetrators give their statements and such other information relating to the past. How do we ensure that perpetrators would come forward &

confess? How do we ensure the told stories are the truth? Does it heal the society /victims of the trauma of the past? Does it satisfy the need for the truth? What do victims/relatives feel about the procedure? Can it ensure that the past will never happen again? Can it serve as a warning? Can it lead to social reconciliation & healing? History traces the beginning of the application of this modality to the 1980s, where some states moving forward to democracy after civil war or the end of repressive regime had adopted truth commissions with a hope of achieving successful transition. These include the commissions established in Chile and Argentina whose purpose was '...reveal truths about the past & especially to determine the fate of the thousands disappeared'. Following that we have the South African Truth & Reconciliation Commission in the 1990s. It is commented that this Commission 'more than any other truth commission before, sought reconciliation as the basis of nation building'. However, what constitutes reconciliation & how it is achieved remains controversial. But the term reconciliation has become an integral part of discussions in search of solutions during transition. Many people associate 'reconciliation' with pardoning and forgetting; others hold the opposite. It remains indisputable, however, that there is no single universal model for reconciliation, owing not only to the varying contexts but also to the diverse understandings of the term. For example, is the goal to reach individual reconciliation, or national or political reconciliation? How is reconciliation achieved, whether individual or national/political? Is it achievable? Should truth telling & reconciliation have priority over justice? May not truth be a step in the direction of accountability, not an alternative to it? Were the truth commissions or truth & reconciliation commissions before successful in achieving the desired result?

(3) Amnesty. The third modality of transitional justice is amnesty. The term amnesty refers to an official act, usually through law, prospectively barring prosecutions of a class of persons for a particular set of actions or events. Amnesty is often contrasted with pardons, which usually refer to the exemption of criminals from serving all or part of their sentences but do not expunge the conviction. It is stated that amnesties shield from prosecution and are not pardons. However, it is commented that 'these distinctions are inexact; pardons, like amenities, can be used to foreclose prosecutions, and amnesties sometimes cover persons serving prison terms'. The difference between the two remains unclear. Amnesties can be blanket or partial; they may be official, with, for example, the passing of a law, or de facto, where a state simply does not

prosecute. We also have the notion of 'self-amnesty' whereby the former regime grant itself amnesty hoping that the future regime will not examine/prosecute them.

Do you think that amnesties satisfy societies needs discussed earlier? Is it not a violation of the rule of law? Couldn't it breed the culture of impunity? Do you think partial amnesty is more appropriate than blanket one? What criteria should decision makers use to evaluate to whom & for which crimes amnesties will be granted? How do you see de facto amnesty?

Support for amnesties rests on a resistance to prosecution based upon the fear that prosecution would destabilize the new government or simply prolong vengefulness exhibited by the former regime. Many believe and have made a call that 'to leave the past alone is the best way to avoid upsetting a delicate process of transition or to avoid a return to past dictatorship and reopening the victims' old wound. However, others contend that neither a society nor a country can move forward & heal through impunity; thus, crimes must be prosecuted. These two viewpoints, nevertheless, do appear to coincide on the issue of serious violations of human rights law/humanitarian law. Such serious crimes must always be prosecuted, and a failure to prosecute them perpetuates a culture of impunity. However, it is also conceded that amnesty should not be ruled out completely as a means of promoting reconciliation or ending conflict or as a means of preventing the destabilization of the fragile new government. Therefore, a distinction has to be made between legitimate amnesties & others.

In general, we can say that amnesty is one of the modalities of transitional justice. However, certain forms/types of amnesties are seen with suspicion and even unacceptable in view of the obligation of States under international human rights law /humanitarian law.

These are the three main modalities of transitional justice. It is important to keep two points in mind. First, these mechanisms are not exhaustive. Other mechanisms may include offering reparations to victims of State-sponsored violence, reforming institutions like the police & the courts, & removing perpetrators from positions of power (lustration). Secondly, they are not

exclusive of each other. States may use a combination of these mechanisms to attain the desired goal. Generally, the decision to determine which of the mechanisms/combination thereof shall be used remains with each society/the state. It may even decide to forget. But what accounts for the different approaches adopted by different States. A number of factors may influence society's choice including the availability of resources, the relative strength & weakness of the outgoing regime & the incumbent regime, political willingness, & many others. However, the existence of international law & monitoring institutions is increasingly restricting the discretionary power of states at least with respect to certain violations/crimes.

Section Two: International Responses

The international response is available with respect to certain violations that constitute grave breaches of international law. The international response is premised on the conviction that such violations constitutes crimes against the whole nations/international community, and results from the inadequacy/ non-existence of national responses. Thus, certain crimes do constitute international crimes for which the perpetrators are held individually responsible. The criminal responsibility of individuals under international law contributes to fight impunity, however, limited it is. The underlying idea is that the perpetrators of such crime shall not go free. The mechanism by which international law ensures that has taken different forms. These include: (1) the recognition & application of the principle of universal jurisdiction, (2) prosecution and trial by *ad hoc* international tribunal, and (3) prosecution & trial by a permanent international tribunal called the International Criminal Court. We therefore deal with these mechanisms of enforcement of individual criminal responsibility.

(1) Application of the principle of Universal Jurisdiction.

The principle of universal jurisdiction is classically defined as 'a legal principle allowing or requiring a State to bring criminal proceedings in respect of certain crimes irrespective of the location of the crime and the nationality of the perpetrator or the victim'. This principle is said to derogate from the ordinary rules of criminal jurisdiction requiring a territorial or personal link with the crime, the perpetrator or the victim. The rationale behind it is broader: ' it is based on the notion that certain crimes are so harmful to international interests that states are entitled-and even obliged to bring proceedings against the

perpetrator, regardless of the crime and the nationality of the perpetrator or the victim'. Universal jurisdiction allows for the trial of international crimes committed by anybody, anywhere in the world. There are offences recognized by international law as punishable by any country. Traditionally, piracy on the high seas is regarded as one of the first international crimes, grounded on the violation of international customary law. After the Second World War, the London Agreement of 8 August 1945 establishing the International Military Tribunal at Nuremberg set out international crimes issuing from both treaty law & customary law (crimes against peace, war crimes & crimes against humanity). Later treaties & international conventions specified various forms of prohibited behaviour recognized as international crimes. Principle 2 of the Princeton Principles on Universal Jurisdiction reads: (1) for purpose of these principles, serious crimes under international law include (i) piracy, (ii) slavery, (iii) war crimes, (iv), crimes against peace, (v) crimes against humanity, (vi) genocide, and (vii) torture. Paragraph 2 provides the application of universal jurisdiction the crimes listed in paragraph 1 is without prejudice to the application of universal jurisdiction to other crimes under international law.

The derogation from the ordinary rules of criminal jurisdiction is traditionally justified by two main ideas. First, some crimes are so grave that they harm the entire international community. Secondly, no safe havens must be available for those who committed them. Even though these justifications may appear unrealistic, they clearly explain why the international community, through all its components-states or international organizations-must intervene by prosecuting and punishing the perpetrators of such crimes. Universal jurisdiction is a matter of concern for everybody.

Historically, universal jurisdiction can be traced back to the writings of early scholars such as Grotius, and to the prosecution and punishment of the crime of piracy. However, after the Second World War the idea gained ground through the establishment of the International Military Tribunal (by the London Agreement) and the adoption of new conventions containing explicit or implicit clauses on universal jurisdiction. The Geneva Conventions of 1949 are paramount in this regard, providing in unmistakable terms for universal jurisdiction over grave breaches of those conventions (for list of such grave breaches see articles 49, 50, 129 & 146 respectively of the Geneva Conventions, and Art. 85 of Additional Protocol I to the Geneva Convention to the listed crimes). International crimes were no longer to remain unpunished. The idea that in certain circumstances sovereignty could be limited for such heinous crimes

was accepted as a general principle. Later on, other international conventions and, to some extent, rules of customary law enlarged the principle's scope of application. This was confirmed by a number of cases, starting with the *Eichmann Case* in 1961, the *Demanjuk Case* in 1985, and more recently the *Pinochet Case* in 1999 and the *Butare Four* Case in 2001, emphasizing that universal jurisdiction could lead to the trial of perpetrators of international crimes. International law empowered and in certain cases mandated states to prosecute crimes that were regarded as harming the whole international community. Nevertheless, implementation of the general principle remained difficult... and ...the principle is not applied uniformly everywhere.

The recognition of universal jurisdiction by the state as a principle is not sufficient to make it an operative legal norm. There are basically three necessary steps to get the principle of universal jurisdiction working: the existence of a specific ground for universal jurisdiction, a sufficiently clear definition of the offence & its constitutive elements, and national means of enforcement allowing the national judiciary to exercise their jurisdiction over these crimes. If one of these steps is lacking, then the principle will most probably just remain a pious wish. In practical terms, the gap between the existence of the principle and its implementation remains quite wide.

From a comparative law perspective, States implement the principle in either a narrow or an extensive manner. The narrow concept enables a person accused of international crimes to be prosecuted only if he or she is available for trial, whereas the broader concept includes the possibility of initiating proceedings in the absence of the person sought or accused (trial in *abstentia*). This deeply affects the way in which the principle is implemented in fact. International law sources refer to the narrow concept, but the decision to refer to the broader concept is quite often a national choice. However, even though some states such as Belgium or Spain have made some efforts to give concrete effect to the principle of universal jurisdiction by amending their penal code, it has in most cases remained unimplemented.

Irrespective of its limited application, the principle of universal jurisdiction provides a mechanism by which the international community responds to some systematic violations of rights that constitute international crimes. What types/degree of violations of rights constitutes international crimes within

the meaning of international law is something debatable-for example, whether the recent atrocities committed in Darfur constitute genocide has been a point of controversy. The role of the principle of universal jurisdiction, if applied, in the fight against impunity is undeniable.

(2) Prosecution and trial by Ad hoc tribunal

Another mechanism by which the international community has been responding to gross violations is through prosecution of perpetrators before an international tribunal. Until recently, international prosecution has primarily been conducted before ad hoc tribunal. These tribunals have specific/limited jurisdiction over crimes listed under the instrument creating the tribunal. The first among these tribunals is the International Military Tribunal at Nuremberg established by the London Agreement of August 1945. The London Agreement has defined the jurisdiction of the tribunal. Many Nazi officials were prosecuted before this tribunal. Other ad hoc tribunal includes the International Criminal Tribunal for the former Yugoslavia & for Rwanda (ICTY & ICTR respectively). These tribunals are established pursuant to the Decision of the UN Security Council. The Statutes establishing these tribunals set out the crimes that fall with in the jurisdiction of each tribunal. These are ad hoc tribunal established to address certain crimes committed in certain geographic location or during specific period. However, we can understand that this is employed as a means of ending impunity.

(3) The procedure under the ICC

One of the most significant developments made in the direction of dealing with grave violations & fighting impunity is the establishment of the International Criminal Court. It is established pursuant to the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court, which was adopted at a diplomatic conference in Rome, on 17 July 1998. The Statute entered in to force on 1 July 2002 and the Court is now fully functional at its seat in The Hague. Governments, legal experts and civil society all hailed the treaty as the most significant development in international law since the adoption of the United Nations Charter.

The Rome Statute provides for the creation of a permanent international criminal court to prosecute people accused of genocide, crimes against humanity and war crimes. The Court will be of particular importance because:

- it will serve as a permanent deterrent to people considering these crimes. In most cases in the last fifty years international mechanisms to prosecute people accused of these crimes have only been set up after the crimes have occurred;
- it will have a much wider jurisdiction than existing ad hoc tribunals. For example, the work of the International Criminal Tribunals for the former Yugoslavia and Rwanda have been limited to crimes committed in a particular territory while crimes committed in other territories have not been addressed; and
- the Statute contains advanced provisions for the protection of victims from retraumatization as well as provision that the Court may order a convicted person to provide reparation, in the form of compensation, restitution, rehabilitation, satisfaction, guarantees of non-repetition, and any other type of reparation the Court deems appropriate.

As specified under Article 5 of the Rome Statute, the Court has jurisdiction over the most serious crimes to the international community. These crimes are genocide, crimes against humanity, war crimes & war of aggression. However, the court functions as complementary organ. Thus, the Rome Statute embodies the principle of complementarity. The principle of complementarity can be defined as a functional principle aimed at granting jurisdiction to a subsidiary body when the main body fails to exercise its primary function. The principle of complementarity in international criminal law requires the existence of both national and international criminal justice systems functioning in a subsidiary manner for curbing crimes of international law: when the former fails to do so, the latter intervenes and ensures that the perpetrators do not go unpunished.

Thus, the ICC has jurisdiction over the stated international crimes when States are unable or unwilling to prosecute these crimes at national level. By so doing it makes sure those that committed grave crimes are brought to justice & contributes to the fight against impunity.

Generally, international community has provided mechanisms of responding to serious violations of human rights that constitute grave breaches of international law. The mechanisms of universal jurisdiction, prosecution before ad hoc courts, & prosecution before the ICC are all intended to render international justice. However, application of them has been more controversial, not uniform, resisted, and even objected to by States-for example the US has been opposing the ICC since the adoption of the

Statute in 1998. Despite these challenges, the three mechanisms are positive international response to some serious violation of human rights.

Reference Materials

Books, Journals, Articles

- 1. Gudmundur Alfredsson & Asbjorn Eide, the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, A common Standard of Achievement, kluwer Law International, the Hague, Netherlands,
- Henry J. Steiner & Philip Alston, International Human Rights in Context, Law, Politics & Morals, Oxford University Press, 2000
- 3. A.H.Robertson & J.G. Merrilis, Human Rights in the World, an Introduction to the study of international protection of human rights, Manchester University Press, 1992 1993
- 4. Jack Donnelly, International Human Rights, Dilemmas in World Politics, Westview Press,
- Bhagabati prosad Banerjee & Dr. Ashish Kuman Massey, Human Rights in Constitutional Law, Second Edition, 2003
- 6. Mashood A.Baderin, International Human Rights & Islamic Law, Oxford, 2003
- 7. Steve Foster, Human Rights and Civil Liberties, Pearson Education Limited, Edinburgh, 2003

- Mahmood Monshipouri et al, Constructing Human Rights in the Age of Globalization, prentice-Hall of India private Limited, New Delhi, India, 2004
- 9. Michael Freeman, Human Rights: an Interdisciplinary Approach
- 10. International Humanitarian Law, African Year Book, 2006
- 11. Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, Selected Decisions of the Human Rights Committee Under the Optional Protocol, Volume 4, New York & Geneva, 2004
- 12. International Review of the Red Cross, Vol.18 Number 862, June 2006
- 13. Makau Mutua, THE AFRICAN HUMAN RIGHTS SYSTEM A Critical Evaluation'
- 14. He Zhipeng, The Derogation of Human Rights: Reasons, Purposes and Limits
- 15. Ian Brownlie and Guy S. Goodwin-Gill, Basic documents on human rights,4th ed. Oxford : Oxford University Press, 2002.
- 16. P.R. Ghandhi, Blackstone's international human rights documents,3rd ed. Oxford : Oxford University Press, 2002.
- Asbjørn Eide, Catarina Krause and Allan Rosas, Economic, social and cultural rights, Dordrecht : M. Nijhoff, 1995.
- 18. Forsythe, David P. David P. Forsythe, Human rights in international relations, New York, Cambridge University Press, 2000.
- 19. René Provost, International human rights and humanitarian law, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 2002.

Laws

- 1. The Charter of the United Nations, 1945
- 2. The Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR), 1948
- 3. The International Convention on Civil & Political Rights (ICCPR), 1966
- 4. The International Covenant on Economic, Social & Cultural Rights (ICESCR), 1966
- 5. The Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW), 1979
- 6. The Convention on the Rights of the Child (CRC), 1989
- 7. The European Convention on the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms, 1950
- 8. The European Social Charter, 1961
- 9. African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights, 1981
- 10. African Charter on the Rights and Welfare of the Child, 1990
- 11. The Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court, 1998

12. The Constitution of the Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia, 1994

Websites

- Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights Website: <u>http://www.unhchr.org/</u>
- 2. Website of the European Court of Human Rights:
- University of Minnesota Human Rights Library Website: <u>http://www1.umn.edu/humanrts/</u>
- 4. Website of the African Commission on Human and peoples Rights
- 5. Amnesty International Website: http://www.amnesty.org/
- 6. United Nations Homepage: <u>http://www.un.org/</u>
- US State Department Human Rights Practices Reports: <u>http://www.state.gov/www/global/human_rights/hrp_reports</u>